

Towards sustainable TB control in Ethiopia – profiling high-risk geographical areas using spatial modelling

Yalemzewod Assefa Gelaw BSc (Environmental Health), MPH (Epidemiology and Biostatistics)

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at The University of Queensland in 2020 Faculty of Medicine School of Public Health

Abstract

Tuberculosis (TB) is responsible for a substantial public health burden worldwide, with a heterogeneous geographical distribution. Sub-Saharan Africa accounts for almost one-quarter of the global burden of TB. This is associated with high HIV-prevalence, low socio-demographic development, and poor living and working conditions. Identification of high-risk populations and locations within countries with a high burden of TB has the potential to improve the cost-effectiveness of TB control strategies.

Two groups of 30 countries account for almost 90 per cent of the global burden of TB disease and TB and HIV co-infection. Ethiopia is in both groups, with both high-TB and TB and HIV co-infection. However, information is limited to the geographical distribution of high-risk areas which could inform targeted intervention. The overall aim of the researches in this Thesis is to enhance the TB control program in Ethiopia by providing more detailed knowledge of the distribution of TB, and the contributory role of HIV, low sociodemographic development and poor living and working conditions. This will provide sustained TB control in Ethiopia and enable enhanced strategic implementation of the "End TB strategy."

The first part (Chapters 1-3) of this Thesis highlights the available evidence on the geographical variation of TB and the burden of TB and HIV co-infection. Chapter 4 presents a systematic review of published studies on the effects of altitude and temperature on TB notification. This review indicated that studies examining the correlations between altitude and temperature on TB notification are limited in number. Despite low study power, the report demonstrated that living in low-altitude and high-temperature settings may increase TB risk.

Chapter 5 presents evidence from a systematic review and meta-analysis conducted to estimate the prevalence of HIV in patients diagnosed with TB in sub-Saharan Africa. The prevalence of HIV in diagnosed TB patients (HIV/TB) showed substantial heterogeneity with an overall prevalence estimate of HIV/TB of 31.8 per cent. Heterogeneity in HIV/TB between studies was mainly attributable to geographic region and HIV prevalence. The Eastern and Southern sub-Saharan African region had a higher prevalence of HIV/TB (34.4 per cent) compared to Western and Central sub-Saharan Africa (27.3 per cent). However, the prevalence decreased more in the Eastern and Southern sub-Saharan African region than Western and Central sub-Saharan African between 2000 and 2010. This study suggests that collaborative TB and HIV activities need to be strengthened and sustained to achieve an end to the TB epidemic.

Based on evidence from previous chapters, Chapters 6 and 7 present the spatial distributions of TB and HIV, profiling the sociodemographic and environmental determinants in the Amhara region of Ethiopia, using separate TB and HIV cluster detection methods. These studies demonstrated the spatial heterogeneity of both diseases. Both district-level TB notifications, reported between 2014 and 2017, and HIV infection rates, between 2015 and 2017, were spatially clustered in the border areas of the Amhara region of Ethiopia. Regression analyses demonstrated that the most important factor associated with both TB and HIV clustering was the proportion of seasonal migrant populations in the district. Additional factors associated with high notifications of TB were the proportion of people living in urban areas, crowding, the percentage of males, people living with HIV (PLHIV) /1000 population, access to health care, and the use of charcoal for cooking. Living at low altitude was also associated with TB clustering, which was consistent with the review findings in Chapter 4. Low educational status was also associated with HIV high-risk areas.

Chapter 8 presents the epidemiology of TB and HIV co-infection in Ethiopia. This chapter elucidates the progress of the implementation of collaborative TB and HIV activities and the consequent impact on the national TB control program. Findings from sentinel surveillance of TB and HIV co-infection data, from 76 health facilities in Ethiopia, suggest that collaborative TB and HIV services were either not uniform or not consistently implemented between 2010 and 2015. However, encouragingly, intensified TB case finding in PLHIV and the screening of HIV patients for TB diagnosis increased.

This Thesis provides more detailed evidence on the distribution of TB and associated HIV infection in Ethiopia, using geo-spatial tools and modelling. It shows that TB and HIV infection are geographically heterogeneous and co-clustered in the Northwest border areas of Ethiopia, likely influenced by the proportion of seasonal migrants in common. This information provides the basis to enhance the strategic implementation of TB control program in Ethiopia. It also highlights the need to strengthen integrated TB and HIV management, to address social determinants of TB, and to deal with issues of population movement to control and prevent HIV and TB in Ethiopia, and thus achieve the "End-TB" goal.

Declaration by author

This thesis is composed of my original work, and contains no material previously published or written by another person except where due reference has been made in the text. I have clearly stated the contribution by others to jointly-authored works that I have included in my thesis.

I have clearly stated the contribution of others to my thesis as a whole, including statistical assistance, survey design, data analysis, significant technical procedures, professional editorial advice, financial support and any other original research work used or reported in my thesis. The content of my thesis is the result of work I have carried out since the commencement of my higher degree by research candidature and does not include a substantial part of work that has been submitted to qualify for the award of any other degree or diploma in any university or other tertiary institution. I have clearly stated which parts of my thesis, if any, have been submitted to qualify for another award.

I acknowledge that an electronic copy of my thesis must be lodged with the University Library and, subject to the policy and procedures of The University of Queensland, the thesis be made available for research and study in accordance with the Copyright Act 1968 unless a period of embargo has been approved by the Dean of the Graduate School.

I acknowledge that copyright of all material contained in my thesis resides with the copyright holder(s) of that material. Where appropriate I have obtained copyright permission from the copyright holder to reproduce material in this thesis and have sought permission from co-authors for any jointly authored works included in the thesis.

Publications included in this thesis

Four published and one under-review research articles included in this thesis.

Paper 1: Gelaw YA, Yu W, Magalhães RJ, Assefa Y, Williams G. Effect of temperature and altitude difference on tuberculosis notification: A systematic review. Journal of Global Infectious Diseases. 2019 Apr; 11(2):63 – incorporated as Chapter 4.

Paper 2: Gelaw YA, Williams G, Magalhães RJ, Gilks CF, Assefa Y. HIV Prevalence Among Tuberculosis Patients in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. AIDS and Behavior. 2019 Jun 15; 23(6):1561-75 – incorporated as Chapter 5.

Paper 3: Gelaw YA, Williams G, Assefa Y, Asressie M, Soares RM. Sociodemographic profiling of tuberculosis hotspots in Ethiopia, 2014-2017. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene. 2019 Apr – incorporated as Chapter 6.

Paper 4: Gelaw YA, Magalhães RJ, Assefa Y, Williams G. Spatial clustering and socio-demographic determinants of HIV infection in Ethiopia, 2015–2017. International Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2019 May 1; 82:33-9 – incorporated as Chapter 7.

Submitted manuscript included in this thesis

Gelaw YA, Assefa Y, Magalhaes RJS, Demssie M, Tadele W, Dhewantara PW, Williams G. Epidemiology of Tuberculosis and HIV Coinfection and its Collaborative Services towards Ending the TB Epidemic in Ethiopia. Under review in International Health Journal – incorporated as Chapter 8.

Other publications during candidature

Peer-reviewed paper

Assefa Y, Woldeyohannes S, **Gelaw YA**, Hamada Y, Getahun H. Screening tools to exclude active pulmonary TB in high TB burden countries: systematic review and meta-analysis. The international journal of TB and lung disease: the official journal of the International Union against TB and Lung Disease. 2019 Jun; 23(6):728-34.

Assefa Y, Assefa Y, Woldeyohannes S, Hamada Y, Getahun H. 3-month daily rifampicin and isoniazid compared to 6-or 9-month isoniazid for treating latent TB infection in children and adolescents less than 15 years of age: an updated systematic review. European Respiratory Journal. 2018 Jul 1; 52(1):1800395.

Agonafir M, **Assefa Y**, Girmachew F, Jerene D. Factors affecting the utilization of Xpert MTB/RIF assay among TB clinic health workers in Addis Ababa. Journal of Clinical TB and Other Mycobacterial Diseases. 2018 Aug 1; 12:48-53.

Mishra GD, Chung HF, **Gelaw YA**, Loxton D. The role of smoking in the relationship between intimate partner violence and age at natural menopause: a mediation analysis. Women's midlife health. 2018 Dec;4(1):1.

Assefa Y, **Gelaw YA**, Hill PS, Taye BW, Van Damme W. Community health extension program of Ethiopia, 2003–2018: successes and challenges toward universal coverage for primary healthcare services. Globalization and health. 2019 Dec; 15(1):24.

Guideline

Latent TB Infection: Updated and consolidated guidelines for programmatic management. World Health Organization; 2018.

https://www.who.int/tb/publications/2018/latent-tuberculosis-infection/en/

Conference abstracts

Gelaw Y, Yu W, Magalhães RJS, Assefa Y, Williams G. The Effect of Climate and Altitude Variability on Tuberculosis: A Systematic Review. ISEE Conference Abstracts. 2018; 2017(1):313.

Gelaw YA, Magalhães R.JS, Assefa Y, Williams G. Districts of HIV clustering in Ethiopia, 2015-2017.Transactions of The Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene. 2019; 113 (Supplement_1): S246-S302, doi: 10.1093/trstmh/trz097.

Conference presentation

Yalemzewod Gelaw, Weiwei Yu, Ricardo J. Soares Magalhães, Yibeltal Assefa, Gail Williams. The Effect of Climate and Altitude Variability on Tuberculosis: A Systematic Review. Oral presentation: 29th Annual Scientific Conference of the International Society of Environmental Epidemiology 2017 (ISEE17), September 24-28, 2017, Sydney, NSW, Australia.

Yalemzewod Gelaw, Ricardo J. Soares Magalhães, Yibeltal Assefa, Gail Williams. The Epidemiology of TB and HIV Co-infection and its Collaborative Services towards Ending the TB Epidemic in Ethiopia. Poster presentation: 68th ASTMH annual meeting November 20 -24, 2019, National Harbor, MD, USA.

Yalemzewod Gelaw, Ricardo J. Soares Magalhães, Yibeltal Assefa, Gail Williams. Cross-border settings determine the spatial overlaps of TB and HIV infection in Ethiopia. Poster presentation: 68th ASTMH annual meeting November 20 -24, 2019, National Harbor, MD, USA.

Contributions by others to the thesis

This thesis consists of nine chapters.

The first part (Chapters 1-3) of this Thesis was written by me, with advice and editorial input from my PhD supervisor Professor Gail Williams, Associate Professor Ricardo J Soares Magalhães and Dr Yibeltal Assefa Alemu.

Chapter 4

This chapter published in Global Infectious Diseases Journal. Professor Gail Williams and Dr Weiwei Yu provided advice in the conception and design of the project. Professor Gail Williams, Associate Professor Ricardo J Soares Magalhães, Dr Weiwei Yu and Dr Yibeltal Assefa Alemu read and provided editorial feedback to the drafted manuscript.

Chapter 5

This chapter published in Aids and Behavior Journal. Dr Yibeltal Assefa had contributed to the conception and design of the research project. Professor Gail Williams, Associate Professor Ricardo J Soares Magalhães, Professor Charles Gilks and Dr Yibeltal Assefa Alemu read and provided editorial input to the drafted manuscript.

Chapter 6

This chapter published in the Trans. R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg. Professor Gail Williams and Associate Professor Ricardo J Soares Magalhães provided input in the study design and analysis conducted. Professor Gail Williams, Associate Professor Ricardo J Soares Magalhães and Dr Yibeltal Assefa Alemu had read and provided editorial input to the drafted manuscript.

Chapter 7

This Chapter published in the journal of infectious disease. Professor Gail Williams provided input in the study design and analysis conducted. Professor Gail Williams, Associate Professor Ricardo J Soares Magalhães and Dr Yibeltal Assefa Alemu had read and provided editorial input to the drafted manuscript.

Chapter 8

This Chapter is under review in International Health. Dr Yibeltal Assefa and Professor Gail Williams provided input in the research ideas conception. Professor Gail Williams, Associate Professor Ricardo

J Soares Magalhães and Dr Yibeltal Assefa Alemu had read and provided editorial input to the drafted manuscript.

Chapter 9

This Chapter summarize the key findings and discusses the public health significance of those findings. Professor Gail Williams, Associate Professor Ricardo J Soares Magalhães and Dr Yibeltal Assefa Alemu read and provided editorial input.

Statement of parts of the thesis submitted to quality of the award of another degrees

No works submitted towards another degree have been included in this Thesis.

Research Involving Human or Animal Subjects

No animal or human subjects were involved in this research.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank the Almighty God for his blessing and the gift of strength to achieve my dream.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my primary supervisor, Professor Gail Williams, for the persistent guidance, encouragement and advice throughout my PhD candidature. I am extremely grateful for her words of encouragement and support on the social side of my life. Her guidance and technical support were terrific, and she was always available at my convenience.

I would like to express sincere gratitude to my co-supervisors, Associate Professor Ricardo J. Soares Magalhães and Dr Yibeltal Assefa Alemu, who assisted me in completing this Thesis.

Ricardo, thank you for always making time for me and the opportunity of working with Pandji and Angela. I am most grateful to the Spatial Epidemiology lab team for the support to enhance my spatial analysis skill. Thank you for all.

Yibeltal, this Thesis would not have been completed without your encouragement and pushing me to do my best work. I am glad to have you in my PhD supervisory team.

I thank the University of Queensland for offering the University of Queensland (International) Scholarship award. I would like to show my gratitude to the University of Gondar for providing me with study leave. I am also grateful to the Faculty of Medicine for providing me with the Thomas McIntyre travel award scholarship, which allowed me to travel to Ethiopia and verify the quality of my data sources.

I am also hugely appreciative to Amhara Regional Health Bureau (ARHB), Ethiopian Central Statistics Authority (CSA) and Ethiopian Health and Research Institute (EPHI) for providing me with access to data to achieve the objectives of the thesis.

I am very thankful to my wife Mekdes Yitabrek Mengistu, for her patience, understanding and encouraging me to persevere. My daughter Betselot Yalemzewod, I would like to thank you for the love and joy that you brought into my life. My little girl Loza Yalemzewod, glad to have you. You are part of this PhD journey.

Waza Guadie (Emeye), Yezawa, Helena (Mitaye) and Minasie thank you for caring my daughter Betselot and for encouraging me.

Finally, My grateful; thanks to my father Assefa Gelaw and my sisters (Endalu, Marye and Kasu). Assefa, I could not be here without your determination. Thank you so much Assefawa. My mother Yitaysh Ayianlem, as a single son of you, your prayer preserves me. My late mother Ambel Berihun, my success tied with your scarify. **This thesis dedicated to Ambel Berihun**.

Financial support

A University of Queensland International Scholarship supported this research. Travel scholarships were obtained from the University of Queensland, Thomas McIntyre Scholarship and the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation.

Keywords

Amhara, Ethiopia, sub-Saharan Africa, Tuberculosis (TB), HIV, Co-infection, Notification, Epidemiology, Spatial clustering, Hotspots, Sociodemographic, Environmental, Altitude, Temperature

Australian and New Zealand Standard Research Classifications (ANZSRC)

ANZSRC code: 111706, Epidemiology, 60% ANZSRC code: 010402, Biostatistics, 30% ANZSRC code: 111799, Public Health and Health Services, 10%

Fields of Research (FoR) Classification

FoR code: 1117, Public Health and Health Services, 70% FoR code: 0104, Statistics, 30%

Table of Contents

Abstract	i
Declaration by author	iii
Publications included in this thesis	iv
Submitted manuscript included in this thesis	V
Other publications during candidature	vi
Contributions by others to the thesis	viii
Statement of parts of the thesis submitted to quality of the award	of another
degrees	X
Research Involving Human or Animal Subjects	xi
Acknowledgements	xii
Financial support	xiii
Keywords	xiv
Australian and New Zealand Standard Research Classifications (ANZSRC) xv
Fields of Research (FoR) Classification	xvi
List of Figures	iv
List of Tables	vi
List of Abbreviations	vii
Chapter 1 Introduction	8
1.1. Background	8
1.1.1. Causation and infection	8
1.1.2. Risk of infection and clinical progression	8
1.1.3. Symptoms, identification and diagnosis	9
1.1.4. Prevention and treatment	9
1.2. Thesis outline	

Chapter 2 Literature review11
2.1. Epidemiology11
2.1.1. Global Epidemiology of Tuberculosis
2.1.2. Tuberculosis in Ethiopia12
2.2. Determinants of tuberculosis notification and distribution
2.2.1. HIV
2.2.2. Socio-demographic factors14
2.2.3. Environmental factors
2.3. Conceptual framework of the thesis
2.4. Thesis problem statement and rationale
2.5. Goal and Aims of the Thesis
Chapter 3 Overview of study setting, data source and statistical approaches 22
3.1. Overview of study designs and settings
3.2. Service delivery, data sources and quality
3.3. Statistical approach25
Chapter 4 Effect of Temperature and Altitude Difference on Tuberculosis
Notification: A Systematic Review27
Chapter 5 HIV Prevalence among Tuberculosis Patients in sub-Saharan Africa:
A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis42
Chapter 6 Socio-demographic Profiling of Tuberculosis Hotspots in Ethiopia:
2014 - 2017
Chapter 7 Spatial clustering and socio-demographic determinants of HIV
infection in Ethiopia, 2015 - 201796
Chapter 8 Epidemiology of Tuberculosis and HIV Coinfection and its
Collaborative Services towards Ending the TB Epidemic in Ethiopia111
Chapter 9: Discussion
Reference

APPENDICES	
Appendix A: Supplementary information for Chapter 4	
Appendix B: Supplementary information for Chapter 5	
Appendix C: Supplementary material for Chapter 6	
Appendix D: Supplementary material for Chapter 7	
Appendix E: Supplementary material for Chapter 8	

List of Figures

Figure 1.Conceptual framework demonstrating determinates associated with the natural history of TB
adapted from literature (93, 94)16
Figure 2: Conceptual framework of the Thesis in relation to the research objectives illustrating the
implications of the research towards "Ending TB Strategy" in Ethiopia18
Figure 3. Map of the study area (Amhara region), Northwest Ethiopia
Figure 4. Flow diagram of the literature search strategy for the effect of temperature and altitude
difference on tuberculosis notification
Figure 5.Forest plot of correlation between altitude and tuberculosis
Figure 6. Flow chart of selection of eligible studies for inclusion in systematic review and meta-
analysis of the prevalence of HIV in TB patients in sub-Saharan Africa, 2017
Figure 7. Forest plots for the prevalence of HIV in TB patients from studies by regions in sub-Saharan
Africa region
Figure 8. Forest plots for the prevalence of HIV in TB patients from studies by study periods in the
sub-Saharan Africa region
Figure 9. Forest plots for the prevalence of HIV in TB patients from studies Eastern and Southern
regions in sub-Saharan Africa57
Figure 10. Forest plots for the prevalence of HIV in TB patients from studies Western and central
regions in sub-Saharan Africa
Figure 11. Funnel plots for prevalence of HIV in TB patients in sub-Saharan Africa60
Figure 12. Annual log (TB notification rate per 100 000 population) in the Amhara region, Ethiopia,
2014-2017
Figure 13. Geographical distributions of TB notification per 100 000 population in the Amhara
Region, 2014-2017
Figure 14. A cluster and outlier analysis of TB notification in the Amhara region, Ethiopia, 2014-
2017
Figure 15.Tuberculosis notification rate per 100 000 population in the Amhara region by a quarter
over the period 2014 – 2017
Figure 16. Annual HIV infection rates per 1000 HIV tested population in Amhara region, Ethiopia,
2015–2017
Figure 17. A local cluster and outlier analysis of HIV infection in Amhara region, Ethiopia: 2015-
2017

Figure 18. Unstructured and structured posterior mean distributions of HIV infection in Amhara
region, Ethiopia: 2015–2017
Figure 19. Sentinel TB and HIV co-infection surveillance sites between 2010 and 2015 in Ethiopia
Figure 20.Collaborative TB and HIV co-infection management flowchart in Ethiopia115
Figure 21.Collaborative TB and HIV services in Ethiopia, 2010–2015
Figure 22. Percentage of active TB in PLHIV and provision of IPT for TB negative PLHIV in
Ethiopia, 2010–2015
Figure 23. Percentage of HIV-positive TB patients enrolled on co-trimoxazole preventive therapy
(CPT) and antiretroviral therapy (ART) in Ethiopia, 2010–2015

List of Tables

Table 1. Simple, affordable and effective HIV/TB programmes14
Table 2. Data source and description 23
Table 3. Summary of studies included in the systematic review and meta-analysis of the effect of
climatic factors and altitude on tuberculosis
Table 4. Characteristics of studies included in the systematic review and meta-analysis of the
prevalence of HIV in TB patients in Sub-Saharan Africa, 1990-2017
Table 5. Univariate and multivariate meta-regression for the prevalence of HIV in TB patients 59
Table 6. District level ecological socio-demographic and economic factors 77
Table 7.District level comorbidities and health service factors 78
Table 8. Moran's I of TB notification per 100 000 population in Amhara Region, Ethiopia, 2014-
2017
Table 9. Descriptive sociodemographic characteristics of districts by LISA groups in Amhara Region,
Ethiopia, 2014-2017 (n=128)
Table 10. The mean difference and Cohen's d effect size estimates of the social demographic variables
of TB notification in the Amhara region, Ethiopia, 2014-2017 (n=128)86
Table 11. Multiple comparison test for sociodemographic census and HMIS variables of TB hotspots
in Amhara Region, Ethiopia, 2014-2017 (n=128)
Table 12. The attributable population fraction of TB case notification by spatial clusters in Amhara
region, Ethiopia, 2014-2017(n=128)
Table 13. Spatial autocorrelation analysis for annual HIV infection in Amhara Regional State,
Ethiopia from 2015 to 2017
Table 14.Socio-demographic factors associated with HIV in the 15-49 years age group in Amhara
Region, Ethiopia in the period 2015–2017
Table 15. Tuberculosis and HIV collaborative activities by region in Ethiopia, 2010–2015

List of Abbreviations

AIDS	Acquired immune deficiency syndrome
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
ART	Antiretroviral treatment
BCG	Bacille Calmette-Guèrin
CI	Confidence Interval
CPT	Cotrimoxazole Prophylaxis Treatment
CO	Carbon monoxide
BoFED	Bureau of Finance and Economics Development
DIC	Deviance information criterion
DOTS	Directly Observed Treatment, Short Course
DR-TB	Drug-resistant tuberculosis
EPHI	Ethiopian Public Health Institute
HBCs	High Burden Countries
HEWs	Health Extension Workers
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
HMIS	Health Management and Information System
OpenBUGS	Open access Bayesian inference Using Gibbs Sampling
IPT	Isoniazid Preventive Therapy
LISA	Local Indicators of Spatial Association
LTBI	Latent Tuberculosis Infection
MDR-TB	Multi- drug-resistant tuberculosis
M.TB	Mycobacterium Tuberculosis
PLHIV	People Living with Human Immunodeficiency Virus
PM _{2.5}	atmospheric particulate matter that have a diameter of less than 2.5 micrometres
TB	Tuberculosis
TB/HIV	Tuberculosis and HIV co-infection
GIS	Geographic Information Systems
REML	Restricted maximum likelihood
TST	Tuberculosis Skin Test
WHO	World Health Organization
XDR-TB	Extensive drug-resistant tuberculosis

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1.Background

1.1.1. Causation and infection

Tuberculosis (TB) is an ancient disease caused by a bacterium species called *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (*M. tuberculosis*), discovered in 1882 (1, 2). It spread through the respiratory transmission. *M. tuberculosis* is carried in airborne particles, called droplet nuclei, and can remain suspended in the air for several hours. The proximity, frequency and duration of exposure when in contact with an infectious person determines the probability of transmission (3).

TB infections can progress to either latent TB infection (LTBI), in which an infected person does not have TB disease and cannot spread the infection to other people or active TB disease, in which an infected person has TB disease and may spread the bacteria to others (4). Approximately 30 per cent of persons exposed to *M. tuberculosis* will develop LTBI and, depending on the environment and susceptibility, 5 to 10 per cent of untreated infected individuals could progress to active TB disease at some points in their lives (5).

Active TB classified according to the anatomical site of the disease. The pulmonary tract is the most common site for TB to develop; TB can be transmitted from person to person via inhalation of infectious droplets. Extra-pulmonary TB involves organs other than the lungs (6-8). Rate of progression from LTBI to active TB disease depends on the immune status of an individual and other risk factors (9).

1.1.2. Risk of infection and clinical progression

Following infection with the *M. tuberculosis*, the risk of developing active TB is highest in the first year, but the active disease occurs many years later in most patients (10). Several risk factors and comorbidities contributed to the progression to active TB, and the most important are HIV, sociodemographic and environmental factors. Other behavioural and biological factors such as smoking cigarettes, consuming alcohol, diabetes, and nutritional problem influence the progression rates (11-14). The risk of developing active TB is highest in immune-suppressed individuals (7, 15). People living with HIV are 20 to 30 times more likely to develop active TB disease compared to people without HIV (16, 17). One in eight (12 per cent) of all new TB disease and one in four (25 per cent) of all TB-related deaths occurs in individuals who are infected with HIV (18).

1.1.3. Symptoms, identification and diagnosis

Patients with active TB experience general symptoms, such as fever, fatigue, night sweats, lack of appetite and weight loss, and those with pulmonary TB disease can have chest pain, persistent cough, and haemoptysis (coughing up blood) (8, 19, 20).

The choice of diagnostic tools for TB depends on existing conditions and the purpose of testing. The most common tools are the tuberculin skin test (TST) to diagnose TB infection and microscopy to detect active TB disease (7). Health-care providers presumptively diagnose and define active TB, either clinically or bacteriologically (7, 21). Despite its limited sensitivity, sputum smear microscopy is the most common TB diagnostic method in resource-limited settings. A considerable proportion (57 per cent) of TB cases reported to WHO rely on clinical diagnosis (22).

1.1.4. Prevention and treatment

Bacille Calmette-Guèrin (BCG) is the available vaccine for TB. It can be given at birth or after birth and is used within many countries with a high prevalence of TB to help prevent childhood TB (23). However, the protective efficacy of the vaccine varies in different parts of the world, and its impact on the TB burden remains unclear and arguable (23). Patients with HIV infection are advised to take prophylaxis drugs (isoniazid preventive therapy) for at least 36 months irrespective of TB status to help prevent new TB infection and/or the risk of rapid progression (21, 24).

The TB control program has been highly expanded under the Directly Observed Treatment-Short course (DOTS) strategy since 1991 (25). The standard treatment for TB comprises four first-line antimicrobials: isoniazid, rifampicin, pyrazinamide and ethambutol. This is of 6 to 12 months duration within two phases: the initial phase (2 months) and a continuation phase (isoniazid and rifampicin for 4 months). Treatment options and doses vary for adults and children based on age and weights of the patient (26). DOTS is a common adherence monitoring approach, in which health care workers follow and record every dose of treatment (25, 27). The treatment outcome is assessed as cured, treatment completed, treatment failed, died, lost to follow-up or not evaluated (26). Inadequate treatment (i.e. not following the recommended course of treatment) can lead to treatment failure, relapse, ongoing transmission, and development of drug-resistant (28).

The pandemic of antibiotic-resistant is among the most worrisome elements for TB control (29). Resistant to at least two of the most common first-line anti-TB drugs, isoniazid (H) and rifampicin(R), is defined as multi-drug resistant TB (MDR-TB). Some forms of TB are also resistant to second-line drugs, which is referred to as extensive drug-resistant TB (XDR-TB) (30).

1.2.Thesis outline

This PhD thesis consists of nine chapters: five chapters consists of manuscripts that have been published and submitted for publication together with a general introduction, literature, methods summary and discussion.

Chapter 1 discusses the natural history of TB, with a focus on the risk factors, mode of transmission, diagnosis and prevention and treatment of TB. Chapter 2 presents the available knowledge in the epidemiology of TB; particularly with a focus on the global burden of TB and its determinants particularly, sociodemographic, HIV, environmental determinants and evolutions of TB control strategies and subsequent update. This chapter also describes the conceptual framework, rationale and aims of the thesis. Chapter 3 describes the methods applied throughout the research. This chapter briefly outlines the study design and settings, data type and sources, and summary statistical approaches used to address the research aims in the thesis.

Chapter 4 to 8 presents the findings of two systematic review and three research articles. Chapter 4 presents the systematic review of the effects of the physical environment (altitude and TB) for the TB geographical heterogeneity. Chapter 5 describes the prevalence of HIV in TB patients, with emphasis on the implementations of collaborative TB and HIV services for effective TB prevention and control strategies in high-HIV risk countries.

Chapter 6 highlights the spatial heterogeneity of TB. It also profiles the sociodemographic, HIV, environmental, as well as, health system and disease response features across the identified spatial groups. Chapter 7 presents the spatial distributions of HIV in order to detect the spatial overlap of TB and HIV. The last chapter, Chapter 9 describes the key findings and discusses the public health significance of those findings. It also presents future research priorities and programmatic implication for TB control strategies and implementation. Finally, the strength and limitations of the thesis are described, followed by overall conclusions.

Chapter 2 Literature review

This chapter reviews literature on the epidemiology of TB with an emphasis on its burden, geographic distribution, and associated factors. The conceptual framework, rationale and also aims of the Thesis are presented in this chapter.

2.1. Epidemiology

2.1.1. Global Epidemiology of Tuberculosis

Since the 1980s, TB has been resurging as a major global public health concern (31). Despite the success of effective chemotherapy over the past seven decades, in 2017, TB is the underlying cause of 1.3 million deaths in HIV-negative people and the leading infectious killer exceeding HIV/AIDS, with three people dying of TB every minute (32). In 2017, an estimated 10 million people developed the disease globally, one-third of these new cases (3 million) documented unknown to the health system, and many are not receiving appropriate treatment (32).

High TB incidence is observed in countries with rapid urbanization, densely populated and high population mobility (33, 34), with the highest incidence rate reported from the South-East Asia region (62 per cent of new cases), followed by Africa (25% of new cases) (32). There was a reduction in TB incidence, and TB death rates fell between 2000 and 2017, but the rate of decline is slow and variable.

Many new cases of TB are attributable to HIV infection, social vulnerability and environmental exposures (32, 35, 36). In 2017, around one-third of the 36.9 million people living with HIV/AIDS worldwide were co-infected with TB, and nine per cent of 10 million active TB disease were co-infected with HIV (32). WHO recommended integrated TB and HIV collaborative activities in 2004 and updated this recommendation in 2012 to include actions for combined intervention to reduce mortality from both diseases (37). However, a gap in the implementation, integration and scale-up of these services has been widely observed. Concerted global effort and commitment are required for strengthening and scaling-up the collaborative services to close these gaps and combat morbidity and mortality caused by TB and HIV disease (32, 37).

There were 558,000 new cases (range, 483 000–639 000) which were rifampicin-resistant (RT) in 2017, of which 82 per cent had MDR-TB. Worldwide, 3.5 per cent new, and 18 per cent previously treated TB cases had rifampicin-resistant or MDR-TB (32). Gaps in detection and treatment exacerbate the MDR-TB crisis globally. Only 25 per cent of the estimated new cases of MDR/RT-TB were enrolled, and only 55 per cent were successfully treated (32, 38).

In 1998, the WHO identified 22 high burden countries (HBCs) - responsible for 80 per cent of the total number of TB cases worldwide (49, 40). In 2005, the 41 TB and HIV HBCs identified accounted for 95 per cent of the global number of HIV-positive TB cases and subsequently updated annually until 2009 (40). The list of countries was subsequently revised to 30 HBCs in 2015 and contributed to about 87 per cent of the global TB burden in 2017 (32).

2.1.2. Tuberculosis in Ethiopia

Owing to successful attempts to reduce TB in Ethiopia, in 1990, the TB incidence rate had dropped from 369/100,000 compared to 164/100,000 population in 2017, and TB related mortality rate also declined from 89/100,000 in 1990 to 24/100,000 in 2017 (32). Nevertheless, Ethiopia remains the third-highest TB burden country in Africa and the seventh-highest TB burden country globally, according to the estimated absolute number of incident TB cases (32, 41). According to the WHO estimates in 2017, 116,725 TB cases were notified while 44,275 infected persons were not notified or not diagnosed. There were 29,000 TB deaths (including 3600 deaths among people with HIV) in Ethiopia (32).

TB has national distribution. According to the first national TB prevalence survey for the year 2010 -2012 (42) and 2015 national TB program report (44) data, notification rates vary between regions, ranging from (>200/100,000 population) in Addis Ababa, Dire Dawa and Harrier to 100 per 100,000 population in Somali Region. Nevertheless, the TB control and prevention program deploys similar interventions across all settings without taking into account this considerable variation, suggesting this is a suboptimal strategy (43).

Population dynamics, seasonal migration, societal and environmental factors, along with rising chronic disease burden, has an important effect on the national TB control programme in Ethiopia (41, 44-46). High rates of TB have been observed in urban and remote areas, mainly in the harvesting season. The movement of seasonal and labourer migrants to the harvesting areas of the Amhara region is a common practice at least twice a year. These groups are more risk than the general population for TB infection because they are living in substandard housing and crowded conditions (46, 47).

HIV-associated TB and DR-TB placed a considerable burden on Ethiopia's national TB control program. In the recent WHO report, 12,000 people living with HIV (7.2 per cent of the incident TB cases) fell ill with TB (32). Implementation of the collaborative TB/HIV activities in Ethiopia has increased the intensified TB case findings in people living with HIV from 43 per cent in 2010 to 81 per cent in 2016. However, the TB treatment success rate among PLHIV remains low and needs action (32, 48).

The emergence of drug-resistant/MDR-TB is a major threat to successful TB control, making the national TB control program even more critical (32). According to the second anti-TB drug-resistant surveillance in Ethiopia, one-fourth of MDR-TB patients (19/72) were HIV positive, and 23.5 per cent (17/72) were receiving prophylaxis (50) WHO estimates that in 2017, there were 5,500 people (2.7 per cent new TB cases and 14 per cent of retreatment TB patients) developing drug-resistant TB (32). While the government initiated a national DR-TB/MDR-TB treatment in 2009, the coverage of drug-susceptibility testing is limited, and treatment success rate remains low (48, 50).

Efforts to control TB in Ethiopia started in the early 1960s with the establishment of TB centres and sanatoria in three major urban areas. TB prevention and control programmes are guided by the national TB control programme manual and are combined within the Leprosy and TB/HIV programs. In 1994, the standardized TB prevention program with the DOTs strategy came into effect as a pilot programme and expanded nationally (51, 52). The manual is incorporated DOTs directed by WHO guidelines and the implementation is guided by the country health sector development plan and 'STOP TB strategies.' Subsequently, a community-based TB control system has been implemented under the health extension program (HEP) to improve health-seeking behaviour on TB, active case detection and treatment adherence (53, 54). Ethiopia launched its health sector transformation in 2015, including targets to improve case detection and treatment of TB, and access to diagnosis and treatment of MDR-TB (55).

2.2. Determinants of tuberculosis notification and distribution

Studies have attributed the TB disease burden to multiple factors, mainly socio-demographic and environmental factors in addition to HIV and other causes of immune-suppression.

2.2.1. HIV

Since the early 1980s, HIV infection remains by far the most important driver of TB occurrence by increasing the risk of developing reactivation (56, 57). The annual risk of developing active TB is 20-30 times more likely in people infected with HIV compared to those not infected (6, 58).

Along with WHO 'End TB strategies', the United Nation is working to reduce TB-associated deaths among people living with HIV by 75 per cent by 2020, to reach 90 per cent of all people with TB with preventive or therapeutic treatment and to achieve 90 per cent treatment success for all people diagnosed with TB (59, 60). Despite this combined effort, around 40 per cent of HIV-associated TB was undiagnosed and untreated in 2017, resulting in 300,000 TB-related deaths among people living with HIV in 2017 (61). The proportion (11 per cent) of people with TB and HIV co-infection who

died during treatment was about three times the level among other people with TB (32). Most deaths occurring from both of these diseases are preventable with appropriate detection and treatment.

Globally, the number of TB deaths in PLHIV had fallen steadily by 42 per cent in 2017 from 520,000 in 2010 to 300,000. However, the rate of reduction was uneven. The occurrence of HIV associated TB varies geographically and primarily determined by the prevalence of HIV and TB in the community (32, 58). Sub-Saharan Africa was the most affected region, as it is responsible for 70 per cent of all people living with HIV and TB co-infection globally and experiences 84 per cent of all AIDS-related deaths (61).

In response to the dual epidemic of TB and HIV, Ethiopia has implemented the WHO recommendation for twelve collaborative TB and HIV activities integrated within the national TB and HIV control and prevention program (Table 1).

Table 1. Simple, affordable and effective HIV/TB programmes

All people living with HIV should have access to:	All people living with TB should have access to:
Antiretroviral Therapy	HIV testing and antiretroviral therapy
TB diagnostics and treatment	TB treatment
Regular TB screening	HIV prevention options
TB preventive therapy (if no TB symptoms)	

However, the HIV associated TB co-infection remains a significant public health problem in Ethiopia with 12, 000 people living with HIV falling ill with TB and 3,600 deaths occurring among people with HIV and (32, 61). Some evidence indicates that the problem is exacerbated in rural and remote areas where collaborative services and resources are inadequate (62, 63) and the co-infection rate is highest and in line with the regional variation in the prevalence of HIV. This evidence shows further research is required to identify the gaps and actions needed to scale up integrated HIV and TB services in Ethiopia.

2.2.2. Socio-demographic factors

The geographical variation in the incidence of TB has been associated with demographic factors such as population growth, age structure and movement (internal or external migration), urbanization, education status and poverty, air pollution, and health care system factors. Studies conducted in Europe have shown that areas at high risk of TB characterised by crowded environments, unemployment and high levels of the immigrant population (64, 65). Besides, studies from Asia have also shown low educational attainment, old age and overcrowding are related to heterogeneous distributions of TB (66-68). Studies in Brazil showed a high density of TB cases was strongly

associated with gender, higher population density, household crowding and low socio-economic status (69, 70). Cross-border population movement, urbanization and living in remote areas are related to variability in the distribution of TB in Southern and North-west Ethiopia (46, 71). Spatial clustering of MDR-TB has been observed in districts with large numbers of seasonal migrants in North-west Ethiopia (46). Also, health facility availability was associated with an increase in TB incidence at the kebele level in Southern Ethiopia (72).

2.2.3. Environmental factors

Indoor and outdoor air pollution from different sources has been found to be associated with increased TB risk (73). A systematic review and meta-analysis on the association between tobacco smoking, indoor air pollution and TB found an association of TB with indoor air pollution from wood and charcoal (74). Long-term exposure to PM_{2.5} and CO was positively associated with TB development in Iran (75). A cohort study in Taiwan also indicated a possible link between air pollution and risk of active TB (76). However, studies also suggested further research to ascertain the causality (77, 78).

Similarly, the incidence of TB is affected by climatic factors (i.e. average meteorological conditions over a specified period) (79-84). Seasonality of TB cases has been associated with the intensity of temperature, sunlight and vitamin D synthesis (85). Studies have shown that TB is more virulent in a cold climate than in a warm climate (86-88). On the contrary, it has been shown that high temperature is associated with annual under-five TB incidence (47) and poor treatment outcomes (89). In terms of the effect of altitude on TB, lower positive tuberculin skin test (TST) prevalence has been associated with dwelling in high altitude villages compared with dwelling in sea-level communities (90). In contrast, Fourie et al. (91) have reported TB transmission was higher at low altitude.

2.3. Conceptual framework of the thesis

The conceptual framework of the Thesis is developed based on the available literature and the WHO's "End TB Strategy" interventional components (Figure 1 and Figure 2)

Based on the literature review of the risk factors of TB, Figure 1 provides the schematic framework for the determinants of TB at individual/household and ecological levels. In this Thesis, the impact of the physical environment, ecological sociodemographic factors, health system and HIV response-related factors were examined. The role of the physical environment in TB epidemiology is not clear and can be difficult to quantify. The hypothesis of this thesis is TB epidemiology influenced by the physical environment, health system factors, as well as societal factors operating at the household or individual levels.



Figure 1.Conceptual framework demonstrating determinates associated with the natural history of TB adapted from literature (92, 93)

The framework outlined in Figure 2 shows the structure of the Thesis in relation to the "Ending TB Strategy" components (94).

Implementation of the End TB strategy requires intensified evidence-based action by designing and operationalizing an effective country-specific response to end the TB epidemic guided by baseline assessment that includes high-risk mapping areas, addressing the social determinants of TB and evaluating and strengthening the TB program (94). A thorough epidemiological evaluation is important in order to prioritize intervention areas, set up surveillance systems and identify areas of need in strengthening the health care operations of the Ethiopian health ministry. This Thesis has investigated the spatial epidemiology of tuberculosis and characterized the role of ecological level HIV, sociodemographic and environmental factors in TB risk and distribution.

Exploring the high-risk geographical areas of TB can help to ensure an improved focus of diagnostic and treatment resources, thereby facilitating early diagnosis and treatment of TB. Describing the epidemiology of HIV associated TB and the implementation of the collaborative activities will optimize current TB and HIV combined strategies. Quantifying the sociodemographic, health system, and environmental factors can also help to address inequality in the strategy to end TB.



Figure 2: Conceptual framework of the Thesis in relation to the research objectives illustrating the implications of the research towards "Ending TB Strategy" in Ethiopia

2.4. Thesis problem statement and rationale

TB is a curable disease but causes ill health for millions of people. TB mortality is unacceptably high, even though most of the deaths are preventable with early detection and timely treatment. The burden is especially high in resource-limited settings, due to poor health care disease response systems, the HIV epidemic, and associated social and environmental determinants (22, 95, 96).

Currently, an estimated 1.7 billion people (a quarter of the world's population) are estimated to be infected with *M. tuberculosis* (97). In 2017, there were estimated to be 10 million new cases, with an incidence rate of 133 per 100,000 people, while 1.6 million people (including 374,000 deaths from HIV-positive people) died from TB (32).

Since 1994, the TB control program in Ethiopia has been highly expanded by three evolutionary WHO TB control and prevention strategies: DOTS (1995 -2005), STOP TB strategy (2006-2015) building on enhancing DOTS and the End-TB strategy (2015-2035) (31, 98-100). However, TB continues to be a public health challenge and one of the top ten causes of death, despite there being a steady decline in some countries (32). Its association with HIV-infection has weakened the effectiveness of the control program, particularly for high TB-burden countries (101). The occurrence of DR-TB and gaps in detection and treatment have become additional burdens for the control strategy (32, 98).

A review of the worldwide spatial and temporal distribution of TB (102) and the consecutive WHO reports indicated that the TB burden varies among different geographic areas (32). This variation in risk of infection, transmission and TB incidence is more likely to be associated with HIV, environmental and social factor inequalities (103-105).

In 2014, the World Health Assembly approved a transition in strategy from 'Stopping TB' to 'ending the TB epidemic', with a major transformation in national TB control efforts. The 'End-TB strategy' set three intervention pillars and ten key components emphasising providing TB diagnosis, treatment and preventive services for all who need them (Pillar 1), ensuring that the design and implementation of relevant health and social sector programs are TB-sensitive (Pillar 2), and introducing innovative tools essential to ending the TB epidemic (Pillar 3) (94, 98). Collaborative TB and HIV activities are key essential components of Pillar 1, aiming to decrease the burden of TB and HIV infection in people at risk of being affected by both diseases (106). However, collaborative services are not equitable or comprehensive across the country (107), and interventions still need to scale-up further (98). Ethiopia is one of the 30 countries globally with high rates of TB, TB/HIV co-infection and DR-TB burden (32). The End-TB strategy has been fully integrated into the Ethiopian national TB control
program, and implementation is, to some extent, moving across all three pillars through the existing health extension program (108). Ethiopia has been encouraging the implementation of the End-TB strategy pillars; progress towards ending TB is insufficient to meet national targets. Gaps exist in case detection rates and treatment success, while joint TB and HIV collaborative services remain low, particularly in rural and remote areas of the country (109).

Integration of collaborative TB and HIV services has been shown to contribute to decreasing the TB risk in people living with HIV (36). However, there is a considerable gap in the rate of screening, testing and initiating sustained treatment for TB in PLHIV for TB and in diagnosing HIV in TB patients. Therefore, a close examination at the national level of the progress of the implementation of collaborative TB and HIV services in response to TB epidemic control is needed to address the shortfalls in service implementation and to identify the next steps in research and policy development.

Evidence-based guidance with the assistance of Geographic Information Systems (GIS), has the potential to identify population groups living in high-transmission areas, to be targeted for intervention and increases health services (94, 111, 111). Relatively little is known about the spatial distribution of TB covering the large geographical area of Ethiopia. This is particularly true in relation to the mapping of HIV infection with respect to the major geographic, social and environmental drivers. Besides, the effects of health system factors such as HIV response and collaborative TB and HIV service implementation towards sustaining TB control programs and the End TB strategy are not yet widely explored in Ethiopia. Few previous studies are mapping the geographical distributions of TB in the country. These are characterised by:

- Reliance on DR-TB or selective community samples, such as the under-five population (47, 48, 113);
- Exploring the non-TB endemic areas or using a spatial scale which is not useful for the districtlevel TB surveillance program (71, 105);
- Limited exploration of co-clustering of HIV, TB and determinants (46, 47, 71, 105, 112, 113)
- Reporting area-specific TB and HIV prevalence in the absence of information on the implementation of collaborative TB and HIV services and other interventions (114-117);
- Limited descriptions of the sociodemographic, health system and environmental-related features to TB clustering groups (71, 105, 112, 113).

The present research undertakes to address these gaps in the understanding of the epidemiology of TB in Ethiopia, as well as the implementations of the current TB control program, by systematically reviewing the current evidence from the literature and analysing available regional and national TB and TB and HIV surveillance data from Ethiopia, using contemporary spatial techniques.

2.5. Goal and Aims of the Thesis

The goal of this thesis is to provide new knowledge of the distribution and determinants of the TB disease burden in Ethiopia, leading to the enhanced implementation of the TB control program, with the ultimate aim of ending the TB epidemic in Ethiopia.

Aims

- 1. To systematically analyse geographical variation in TB and TB HIV infection
 - 1.1.To illustrate altitude and temperature effects on TB notifications and its geographic distribution
 - 1.2. To review the prevalence of HIV in presumptive and diagnosed TB in sub-Saharan Africa
- 2. To explore the spatial distributions of TB and its socio-demographic determinants in Ethiopia in the Amhara region
- 3. To describe the geographic distributions of HIV and to explore spatial co-clustering with TB in Ethiopia in the Amhara region
- 4. To describe and quantify the epidemiology of TB and HIV co-infection and the collaborative TB and HIV services, and its contribution ending the TB epidemic in Ethiopia

Amhara region is the second populous region among nine regions and two cities administrative in Ethiopia. It is also one of the top three high TB and HIV risk regions with widespread traditional practices. Brief descriptions of the health care delivery, socio-demography and physical environment characteristics of the region are provided in Chapter 3, 6 and 7.

Chapter 3 Overview of study setting, data source and statistical approaches

This chapter presents a summary of the methods used in this thesis. Brief descriptions are provided separately in each research chapter.

3.1. Overview of study designs and settings

National context

Ethiopia is located in the horn of Africa. The country has nine regional states and two city administrations (118). In 2017, the estimated total population was around 105 million (119). Studies documented in Chapter 6 and 7 were conducted in the Amhara region, one of the nine regions located in Northwest Ethiopia. According to the Amhara Regional Bureau of Finance and Economics Development (BoFED) report, in 2017, the estimated total population of the region was around 21 million. The Region is divided into eleven administrative zones (including one special zone) and further subdivided into 139 districts Figure 3.

The district is the lowest governmental health administration structure used for aggregations of both regular disease surveillance and national census data. Boundary locations change over time. Large area districts are divided into rural and urban districts (called town administrative districts). Data from town administrative districts not included in the polygon shapefiles of the region were aggregated to their corresponding district, to maintain the geographical resolution of spatial units for analyses over time. Owing to the lack of good quality data at small spatial scales such as households or individuals or Kebele, mapping of TB was linked and geo-referenced at the district level in this thesis.



Figure 3. Map of the study area (Amhara region), Northwest Ethiopia

3.2. Service delivery, data sources and quality

Service delivery

Each district has at least one health post at the Kebele level (lowest administrative level in the primary health care) and a minimum of one health centre ensuring access to health services. The primary health care units (PHU) of each district, such as health post (the lowest PHU), health centre, and district hospitals carry out TB and prevention and control activities. Health centres and hospitals provide TB diagnostic test, and treatment, HIV testing and chronic care and follow-up services. TB and HIV prevention and control program fall within the package of the health extension program. Health extension workers (HEWs) are the lowest health care provider at the health post level. HEWs are expected to visit all the households in their catchment area, to provide health education for TB patients as well as counselling on treatment adherence. They also refer to suspected TB cases or persons with presumptive TB to health centres for further diagnostic tests and treatment. In this thesis, TB prevention and control activities are assumed homogenous in the primary health care units.

However, considerable variation in actual service provision occurs. To monitor implementations of collaborative TB and HIV control programs, the Ethiopian Public Health Institute (EPHI) performs regular quarterly nationwide sentinel surveillance from purposively selected health facilities.

Data sources

Different data sources were used in this Thesis—this included facility-based clinical registry, sentinel surveillance data, survey data, and census data. A summary of data sources is presented in Table 2.

	Source	Description
TB notification	Amhara Regional Health Bureau	Routine TB surveillance data collected
		from health facilities providing DOTS
		service by a quarter between 2014 and
		2017; at district level; used for Chapter 6.
HIV infection	Amhara Regional Health Bureau	HIV infection data collected from health
		facilities providing HIV testing and
		chronic care and follow-up services by a
		quarter between 2015 and 2017; at
		district level; used for Chapter 7.
HIV and TB co-	Ethiopian Public Health Institute	Nationwide sentinel surveillance data
infection		collected at 76 purposively selected

Table 2. Data source	and	description
----------------------	-----	-------------

		health facilities and collated by nine
		regions and two city administration by a
		quarter between 2010 and 2015 used to
		monitor implementations of collaborative
		TB and HIV activities; used for Chapter
		8.
Socio-	2007 Housing and population	Regional census data at the household
demographic and	survey (121)	level (room crowding) and district levels
economic data		such as urbanization population density,
		total male population, literacy status,
		migration, employment status and indoor
		air pollution used to assess the predicting
		risk for TB and HIV; used for Chapters 6
		and 7.
Altitude	Web database (122).	District level means altitude of 128
		districts extracted from the Advanced
		Space borne Thermal Emission and
		Reflection Global Digital Elevation
		Model; used for Chapter 6.
Shapefile	CSA Ethiopia and Open Africa	Geographic coordinates at district level
	websites (119, 123)	(Chapters 6 and 7); at the regional level
		and health facility level (Chapter 8).

The Health Management and Information System (HMIS) is the electronic database system used in the Ethiopian Ministry of Health for routine data reporting. HMIS data related to TB and HIV includes demographic data: (age-group, sex and year of diagnosis), TB data (sputum smear result, clinical diagnosis result, TB category, treatment outcome whether tested for HIV, HIV test result), and HIV data (HIV test result, isoniazid prophylaxis therapy (IPT) for TB negative HIV patients, Cotrimoxazole preventive therapy (CPT), antiretroviral treatment (ART) status, HIV infected patients offered for TB diagnosis, TB among HIV positives).

Data quality

Observation of TB and HIV follow-up registration logbooks was performed at the health care providing TB and HIV diagnostic, testing and treatment services to understand any limitations of the

data source. This involved checking data recording, reporting, and completeness. The precision of the data at the district, Zonal and Regional level was also checked by a double entering of sample reports, and the difference was minimal.

3.3. Statistical approach

Data analyses comprised a systematic review and meta-analysis as well as spatial analyses encompassing data visualization, exploration and spatial modelling.

a) A systematic review (Chapter 4 and 5)

A systematic review was used to assess the available evidence on the association between the physical environment (altitude and temperature) and TB. Because of the variability in exposure measurement, statistical approaches and effect estimates, a pooled meta-analysis was not applied. Data were analysed using MetaXL version 5.2 (EpiGear International).

b) A meta-analysis (Chapter 5)

A random-effect meta-analysis was used to calculate a pooled prevalence of HIV and TB co-infection in Sub-Saharan Africa (Chapter 5). A logit transformation was used to stabilize the variance and restrict the 95 per cent confidence interval (95% CI) to a range of 0 and 1. The pooled prevalence and 95% CI was estimated using restricted maximum-likelihood estimation (REML). The I² statistic was used to assess heterogeneity among studies. Subgroup and meta-regression analyses were conducted to explore sources of heterogeneity. Sensitivity analysis was used to assess outliers and low-quality studies. The *metafor* packages in R (version 3.3.3, the R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Australia) were used for data analyses.

c) Spatial analyses (Chapter 6 and 7)

Spatial analyses were conducted to detect geographical clustering of TB and HIV separately for each year from 2014 to 2017. This was conducted in three phases: Firstly, district geographical boundaries were geo-referenced and linked to the district disease rates (HIV and TB) and choropleth maps were developed for visualization. Geographical clustering of TB and HIV in the study area (Amhara region) were explored using Moran's *I* index. Neighbourhoods were defined using Queen's contiguity, i.e. districts sharing borders or a common vertex with each another are defined as neighbours. Neighbouring or nearly neighbouring districts were defined as those with similar TB notification based on the order contiguity (spatial lags 1 to 5) such as first-order (neighbours) or second-order adjacency (neighbours-of-neighbours) (Chapter 6). In order to investigate spatial autocorrelation at higher-order spatial lags, weight matrices were defined using the '*nb2listw*' functions of R software and Moran's *I* statistics calculated for second order-to fifth-order adjacencies.

Anselin Local Moran's I was used to detect high-risk TB locations. Cluster and outlier detection analysis classifies districts into five clustering categories: high-high (hotspot), i.e. districts with a high density of disease notification compared to the expected cases given a random distribution of disease; low-low, districts with a low density of disease notification; low-high, districts with low notification of disease sharing borders with districts with high notifications; high-low, districts with a high number of notified cases sharing borders with locations with low notifications; and not significant clustering. Thirdly, identified districts in the local indicators of spatial association (LISA) analyses for TB were compared with respect to their profiles in terms of sociodemographic and environmental characteristics using analysis of variance (ANOVA), Cohen's d statistics and Classification and Regression Tree (CART) analyses (Chapter 6). Binomial regression models using a Bayesian framework assuming conditional autoregressive random effects were used for HIV notifications analysis (Chapter 7). Three models were constructed separately: unstructured, spatially structured and the convulsion model that contains both unstructured (a model without considering a random spatial effect) and structured model (with spatial random effects). The model with low deviance information criterion (DIC) was selected as the best fit. Analyses involved the use of a geographical information system (GIS), STATA, R, GeoDa, and OpenBUGS were used for visualization, exploration and spatial modelling analysis.

Chapter 4 Effect of Temperature and Altitude Difference on Tuberculosis Notification: A Systematic Review

Context of the Chapter

Epidemiological studies rarely consider factors of the physical environment such as temperature and altitude, although these distally relate to TB notification. The biological mechanisms underlining any apparent effects are also poorly understood. Thus, this chapter presents a summary of existing evidence on the altitude and temperature effects on TB notifications. The importance of atmospheric temperature on TB was highlighted in this chapter.

Gelaw YA, Yu W, Magalhães RJ, Assefa Y, Williams G. Effect of temperature and altitude difference on tuberculosis notification: A systematic review. Journal of Global Infectious Diseases. 2019 Apr;11(2):63. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6555232/</u>

This chapter is published in the Journal of Global Infectious Diseases. The idea of the manuscript was conceptualized and designed by me, and my supervisor Weiwei Yu and Gail Williams. I did the electronic database search, data extraction, summarizing and interpretation of the finding, drafting of the paper and corresponding for publication.

Abstract

Background: Ecological factors are important indicators for tuberculosis (TB) notifications. However, consolidation of evidence on the effect of altitude and temperature on the TB notification rate has not yet been done. This review aimed to illustrate the effect of altitude and temperature on TB notification rates.

Methods: Electronic searches were undertaken from PubMed, EMBASE, and Scopus databases. Hand searches of bibliographies of retrieved papers provided additional references. A review was performed using the Meta-analysis Of Observational Studies in Epidemiology guideline.

Results: Nine articles from various geographic regions were included in the study. Five out of nine studies showed the effect of altitude, and four articles identified temperature effects. Results showed that TB notification rates were lower at the higher altitude and higher at a higher temperature.

Conclusion: This review provides qualitative evidence that TB notification rates increase with temperature and decrease with altitude. The findings of this review will encourage policymakers and program managers to consider seasonality and altitude differences in the design and implementation of TB prevention and control strategies.

Keywords: Altitude, notification, systematic review, temperature, tuberculosis

Introduction

Globally, over past decades, considerable effort has been undertaken in an attempt to control tuberculosis (TB) (1). However, TB remains a significant public health problem: in 2015, an estimated 10.4 million TB cases occurred, and 1.8 million people died with or from the disease (including 0.4 million among people with HIV) (2). The risk of transmission differs markedly by geographical area with noticeable heterogeneity within and among continents (2,3). The notification rate is higher in poorer and remote areas, with the highest rate reported from the Southeast Asia region (61% of new cases), followed by Africa (26% of new cases) (2). Socioeconomic and individual factors associated with TB such as ethnicity, place of residence, drug use, alcohol consumption, homelessness, human immunodeficiency virus infection/acquired immune deficiency syndrome, age, and sex have been investigated in numerous studies (4-6).

Climate change plays an important role in the seasonality and geographical heterogeneity of TB notifications, although it is likely to be distally related to TB incidence (7). Although published literature suggests there are no specific favourable or unfavourable climate conditions for TB incidence, the transmission could be enhanced via poor ventilation and overcrowding (8).

Variation in TB notifications associated with altitude and temperature, particularly for pulmonary TB, has been widely assumed (9-13). The causative agent replicates more readily at higher temperatures. Furthermore, airflow is often high in hot conditions providing an environment conducive to the spread of TB (13,14).

Epidemiological studies suggest that high altitude is associated with lower TB notification and mortality. However, the biological mechanisms underlining this apparent effect are poorly understood (15-17). Furthermore, the effects of these factors have not been well studied and have not taken into account common confounding factors (18).

Systematically summarizing the role of these factors on TB notification may help to provide relevant information to support TB control and prevention. The aim of this review is to survey existing evidence on the altitude and temperature effects on TB notifications.

Methods

We searched the PubMed, EMBASE, and Scopus for all human studies of the association between altitude and temperature and TB disease. We also hand-searched the bibliographies of retrieved papers for additional references. After duplicates removed, keywords, title, abstracts, and full-text reviews were used to filter eligible studies—the full search strategy appended in Appendix A:

Supplementary information for Chapter 4. Studies were included if quantitative effect estimates of the relationship between temperature or altitude and TB (regardless of the clinical diagnosis and measure of morbidity) were presented or could be calculated from the data provided. Articles with any of the following: case reports, anonymous reports, studies on biomedical aspects of TB, and bovine TB were excluded from the study. Furthermore, studies conducted to assess risk factors other than temperature and altitude factors were not included in the study.

For all included studies, location/country of the study, study period, study population, exposure temperature or altitude, outcome, TB notification (prevalence or incidence of TB), confounders adjusted for, and effect estimates such as mean, correlation, path coefficient, beta coefficient, relative risk (RR), and odds ratio (OR) were extracted by two independent reviewers (Y. G and W. Y) using a standard data extraction format. We used the following definition to standardize the data extraction process.

Tuberculosis notifications

TB cases (all forms of TB) were diagnosed biologically or clinically and confirmed cases registered and reported. Eligible studies reported different TB morbidity measures such as prevalence, incidence or notification. In this chapter, TB notification was used as the morbidity measure for TB.

Temperature and Altitude

Summaries of data sources, measurement periods and units of included studies were extracted and defined accordingly:

Temperature measured in °C was obtained from the meteorology agency/Bureau of the appropriate country. It was defined as monthly or yearly average calculated from the daily/weekly/monthly records.

The mean height above sea level, measured in meters (m), was obtained from geo-coordinates of the geographical location. The reporting of this review follows the guidelines for the Meta-Analyses and Systematic Reviews of Observational Studies (MOOSE) (19).

The Newcastle–Ottawa Scale for cross-sectional studies was used to assess the quality of the included papers Appendix A: Supplementary information for Chapter 4 (20). Each article was rated for quality based on the three elements of selection, comparability, and outcome. This is presented in Appendix A: Supplementary information for Chapter 4. All items in the three elements were evaluated irrespective of reporting.

A narrative review and a descriptive summary are given because of the variability in measures of temperature and analytical approaches, as well as in the definitions of control groups. The correlation between altitude and TB notification were pooled using a random-effects model. Heterogeneity was

assessed using the I^2 statistic, which describes the percentage of variation between studies compared to that within studies. Data were analyzed using MetaXL version 5.2 (EpiGear International).

Results

Overall, 5166 references were first retrieved via the electronic database search: 956 articles from PubMed, 2866 from EMBASE, and 1344 from Scopus, and hand searching other literature sources yielded seven studies. After removing duplicates, 3770 titles were screened. Finally, nine studies from 5 countries were relevant for inclusion (21-29) (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Flow diagram of the literature search strategy for the effect of temperature and altitude difference on tuberculosis notification

Of the nine included articles, seven were carried out in Asia, 1 in South America, and 1 in Africa. All eligible studies used clinical record linkage of governmental reports for the assessment of TB

notification. In the included studies, a diagnosis of TB was made based on a combined evaluation of clinical, radiological, and laboratory features of the patients in line with the National TB Prevention and Control Programs. Four articles did not describe diagnostic methods (21,23,26,28).

The identified articles were quite variable in presentation, reporting different effect estimates (eta correlation, RR, OR, path coefficient, and mean), different exposure scales, as well as different TB reporting (prevalence of TB, the incidence of TB, and TB notification).

Various statistical methods were used to examine the research questions relating to altitude and temperature and TB notification. Effect estimates included correlation coefficient methods (Pearson and eta correlation coefficients) and regression models (partial path coefficients, normal regression beta coefficients, and Bayesian models). Some articles used more than one method. None of the eligible studies adequately justified the sample size.

The measurement of temperature and altitude differed in different studies. The temperature in °C as monthly or annual averages and altitude in meter (m) were defined as categorical or continuous. Results of this review are presented as a qualitative summary of temperature and altitude factors on TB notification.

The five studies examining the association between altitude and notified TB cases were conducted in the following four countries: China, Turkey, Mexico, and Kenya (22,23,26-28,30). Details are presented in Table 3.

Study	Country, Population	Study Period	Outcome Type
(Onozuka and	Japan, all registered TB cases of the Fukuoka Institute of	2008 - 2012	All form of TB incidence (5904 TB cases)
Hagihara, 2015)	health		
(Cao et al., 2016)	China (32 Mainland provinces), all annually reported TB	2009 - 2013	TB prevalence
	patients .		
(Yanagawa et al., 1981)	Japan, TB patients, registered in 46 prefectures Japanese TB	1961-1978	TB prevalence determined by clinicians by clinical
	registry.		factors.
(Rao et al., 2016)	China, all TB patients in randomly selected medical	2009 - 2013	TB incidence (n=27,655 cases)
	institutions.		
(Tanrikulu et al., 2008)	Turkey, all patients receiving treatment in state TB	1999 - 2005	All forms of TB (378 TB cases; the mean incidence
	dispensaries from randomly selected 56 cities.		of TB per $100k = 23.8 \pm 9.1 (12.07 - 47.39)$
(Vargas et al., 2004)	Mexico, all annual PTB notification cases obtained from the	1998, 2002	TB incidence
	Mexican Health Ministry database.		
(Mansoer et al., 1999)	Kenya, all annual TB patients reports in 41 districts of the	1988 -1990	TB prevalence
	National Tuberculosis Program.		
(Sun et al., 2015)	China, all registered TB cases from the Chinese Centre of	2007	TB prevalence
	Disease Control and prevention management information		
	system.		
(Li et al., 2014)	China(in 31 provinces), all TB patients registered in China	2001 - 2010	TB prevalence
	Health statistics yearbook.		

Table 3. Summary of studies included in the systematic review and meta-analysis of the effect of climatic factors and altitude on tuberculosis

Table 3 (continued)

Study	Exposure	Adjusted Variable	Findings
(Onozuka and Hagihara,	Temperature(29.2°C)	Age, sex	Exposure to extreme heat temperature
2015)			[RR=1.2, 95%CI; 1.01–1.43]
(Cao et al., 2016)	Monthly average temperature	-	Average annual temperature
			[RR=1.00324, 95%CI; 1.00150, 1.00550]
(Rao et al., 2016)	Annual average temperature	Sunshine Hour	The monthly average temperature increases
	(°C)		in 10 °C TB incidence decrease by 9 % [β =
			-0.0060, P = < 0.001]
(Yanagawa et al., 1981)	Monthly average temperature	Latent variable; TB control programs,	29.9 °C – 39.8 °C and 18.0 °C to 46.1 °C
	(°C)	population density, income, public	temperature is associated with TB
		assist, past TB control, past epidemic	prevalence and incidence rate, respectively
(Tanrikulu et al., 2008)	Altitude defined as >750m	Green card, annual income,	There is inverse correlation between
	and 1-750m	population density, household size,	altitude and mean TB incidence ($r = -0.58$,
		urbanisation rate, number of doctors	95%CI; -0.73, -0.38, p=0.000).
			The incidence higher in cities at an altitude
			<750m vs >750m [OR=3.28, 95%CI (1.83–
			5.88), <i>P</i> = < 0.0001]
(Vargas et al., 2004)	Altitude above sea level (0 to	-	Altitude above sea level correlated with
	2500)		tuberculosis incidence (r = - 0.74 , 95%CI; -
			0.87, -0.53, P = < 0.0001)

(Mansoer et al., 1999)	Altitude	Nomads, population density, literacy	Log notification rates negatively associated
		rate, household size, life expectancy	with altitude (r= - 0.71 , 95% CI: - 0.51 , 0.83,
		rate, nutritional status	p-value < 0.001
(Sun et al., 2015)	Altitude	Air quality, education, health service,	Altitude factor (-0.595) had a significant
		population density, economic level,	effect on TB prevalence.
		unemployment	
(Li et al., 2014)	Altitude	TB service, Health investment, health	Severe TB prevalence appeared in the areas
		level, air quality, economic level,	with higher elevation
		climatic factors	

The studies conducted in China in 2014 and 2015 reported that altitude is associated with TB notifications. A 2014 study showed that TB notifications increased in high-altitude regions (path coefficient = 0.5953), whereas in a 2015 study, the notifications decreased (path coefficient = -0.5953) (22,26).

The retrospective study conducted from 1999 to 2005 in 56 randomly selected Turkish cities involving 378 patients showed that the mean number of TB notifications decreased in high altitude (r = -0.58, 95% confidence interval [CI]: -0.73, -0.38): TB notifications were higher in cities at altitudes below 750 m than for cities located above 750 m (OR = 3.28, 95% CI: 1.83, 5.88, P = 0.001) (27).

The Mexico study found that altitude above sea level was correlated with low TB notifications in 2014 (r = -0.74, 95% CI: -0.87, -0.53, P = 0.001) (28). The Kenya study also reported that TB notifications were lower at higher altitudes (r = -0.071, 95% CI: -0.51, -0.83, P = 0.001) (23).

Although five studies reported the relationship between altitude and TB incidence, only three articles were eligible for meta-analysis, since two articles did not report effect estimates. We report the pooled estimate correlation between altitude and TB incidence for these studies. All three studies found a negative association between altitude and TB notification. The pooled correlation between altitude and TB notifications was r = -0.67 (95% CI: -0.75, -0.55) (Figure 5).



Figure 5.Forest plot of correlation between altitude and tuberculosis

Studies of the association between temperature and TB notifications were conducted in three countries such as China, Japan, and Iran (21,24,25,29). Given the heterogeneity of methods among studies, we did not compute pooled effect estimates. Table 1 shows the individual effect measures for the studies on TB notifications; one study found a negative association between temperature and TB

notifications; with a 10°C increasing monthly average temperature, the monthly notifications of TB decreased by 9% ($\beta = -0.0060$, t = -5.12, P < 0.001) (25).

The temperature was associated with TB notifications in three studies. The 15-year retrospective review of 46 Japanese prefectures showed that temperature was associated with TB notifications when between 18.0°C and 46.1°C. The 4-year Fukuoka Institute of Health Registry study of 5904 TB cases, carried out three decades later, showed that exposure to extreme heat (RR = 1.20, 95% CI: 1.01-1.43) increased the risk of TB notification (24). However, effect estimates related to risk were not provided in the article (29). The study done in mainland China, using a Bayesian model, reported that the risk of a TB notification increased with a one-degree increase in temperature (RR = 1.00324, 95% CI: 1.0015-1.0055) (21).

Discussion

This review aimed to examine whether temperature or altitude was related to TB notifications. The studies found were geographically varied, small, and did not adjust for important confounders. Due to the heterogeneity of measurement periods and units, the association was not supported with the pooled effect size estimates. However, suggesting the hot and cold seasons during the TB surveillance system will help to consider climatic factors for the future TB control program.

Previous studies have demonstrated that TB notification is associated with socioeconomic conditions (4-6). Our review indicates that TB notification is high in areas where the temperature was high, except for Qinghai province, where TB notification decreased exponentially. This is potentially due to differences in temperature measurement (monthly/annually). As well, seasonality, social context, and medical and health conditions of residents in Qinghai province could influence TB transmission (25). Specifically, overcrowding, the amount of co-infection with HIV, malnutrition, and type 2 diabetes have been implicated (31).

Our findings support the notion that lower altitudes are advantageous for TB transmission since TB notifications declined with increasing altitude (32). This might be explained by lower levels of crowding and population density at a higher altitude, with residents not staying indoors for long periods (13,25,33,34). In addition, UV-B exposure is higher at higher altitudes, leading to higher levels of Vitamin D, which might enhance immune response and decrease consequent reactivation of TB (30,35). This review did not explore the effect of BCG. However, the efficacy of BCG against TB at different altitude could be other explanations for the observed low notification rate in high altitude. A systematic review and meta-analysis on the efficacy of BCG against TB showed that high protective effect of BCG in studies conducted at further from the equator (36, 37).

Limitations of this review include those related to residual confounding, measurement of the exposure variable, and lack of an established mechanism underlying the apparent effect of temperature and altitude on TB. Some studies did not adjust for known drivers of TB during analysis and included latent (unmeasured) variables in the analysis. Climate factors associated with TB are likely to operate as secondary factors, unlike proximal factors such as HIV. Therefore, well-designed studies on the direct and indirect effects of temperatures and/or altitude factors on TB transmission are needed. Most importantly, period and location-specific temperature measurements are needed to assess the critical period and size of geographical area which are biologically important for TB notification. In addition, the review did not control for year of the study published (1981–2016), sample size (not all studies reported), socioeconomic characteristics, and the health profile of each country.

Other possible limitations relate to inconsistencies in the classification of temperature (hot and cold) and altitude (highland and sea level) which could lead to misclassification bias. In addition, analyses are restricted to TB notifications which may not reflect the timing of actual incidence, thus leading to mismatch when notifications are linked to time-dependent climate data.

Finally, most studies (seven studies) in the review used retrospective registry-based community-level data sources and findings may not be the same for individual-level data, that is, findings could be vulnerable to the ecological fallacy. Despite limited data, heterogeneity of measurements, design, and quantitative effect estimates among the studies were included in this review; this systematic literature review demonstrates that temperature/altitude is associated with TB disease notifications. This should encourage policymakers and program managers to consider seasonality and altitude differences in the design and implementation of TB prevention and control strategies.

Acknowledgment

The authors acknowledge Mr. Scott Macintyre for his unreserved professional guidance during electronic database searching.

Financial Support and Sponsorship

None.

Conflicts of Interest

There are no conflicts of interest.

References

- 1. Raviglione MC, Uplekar MW. WHO's new stop TB strategy. Lancet 2006; 367:952-5.
- World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2016. Report No.: 924156539X. World Health Organization. 2016.
- Ormerod LP, Charlett A, Gilham C, Darbyshire JH, Watson JM. Geographical distribution of tuberculosis notifications in national surveys of England and Wales in 1988 and 1993: Report of the Public Health Laboratory Service/British Thoracic Society/Department of Health Collaborative Group. Thorax 1998; 53:176-81.
- Nava-Aguilera E, Andersson N, Harris E, Mitchell S, Hamel C, Shea B, *et al.* Risk factors associated with recent transmission of tuberculosis: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2009; 13:17-26.
- Kurmi OP, Sadhra CS, Ayres JG, Sadhra SS. Tuberculosis risk from exposure to solid fuel smoke: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Epidemiol Community Health 2014; 68:1112-8.
- 6. Lin HH, Ezzati M, Murray M. Tobacco smoke, indoor air pollution and tuberculosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS Med 2007;4: e20.
- World Health Organization. Climate Change and Human Health: Risks and Responses: Summary. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2003.
- 8. Sumpter C, Chandramohan D. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the associations between indoor air pollution and tuberculosis. Trop Med Int Health 2013; 18:101-8.
- 9. Knopf SA. Climate in tuberculosis and the prevention of relapses. JAMA 1931; 96:2023-7.
- Fourie P, Knoetze K. Tuberculosis prevalence and risk of infection in Southern-Africa. S Afr J Sci 1986; 82:387.
- 11. Bates JH. Transmission and pathogenesis of tuberculosis. Clin Chest Med 1980; 1:167-74.
- 12. Biello D. Deadly by the Dozen:12 Diseases climate change may Worsen. Sci Am 2008; 8: 12-8.
- 13. Fares A. Seasonality of tuberculosis. J Glob Infect Dis 2011; 3:46-55.
- Vardoulakis S, Dimitroulopoulou C, Thornes J, Lai KM, Taylor J, Myers I, *et al.* Impact of climate change on the domestic indoor environment and associated health risks in the UK. Environ Int 2015; 85:299-313.
- Trask JW. Climate and tuberculosis: The relation of climate to recovery. Public Health Rep (1896-1970) 1917; 23: 318-24.
- Anigbo AR, Choudhary RC. The effects of climate change on tuberculosis. J Environ Sci Technol 2018; 4:1-4.

- Peers RA. The influence of climate upon tuberculosis; with remarks on the climate of Colfax, California. Cal State J Med 1909; 7:106-10.
- Eisenberg JN, Desai MA, Levy K, Bates SJ, Liang S, Naumoff K, *et al.* Environmental determinants of infectious disease: A framework for tracking causal links and guiding public health research. Environ Health Perspect 2007; 115:1216-23.
- Stroup DF, Berlin JA, Morton SC, Olkin I, Williamson GD, Rennie D, *et al.* Meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology: A proposal for reporting. Meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology (MOOSE) group. JAMA 2000; 283:2008-12.
- Peterson J, Welch V, Losos M, Tugwell P. The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for Assessing the Quality of Nonrandomised Studies in Meta-Analyses; 2011. [Last accessed on 2017Sep 7]. Available from: http://www.ohri.ca/programs/clinical_epidemiology/oxford.asp.
- Cao K, Yang K, Wang C, Guo J, Tao L, Liu Q, *et al.* Spatial-temporal epidemiology of tuberculosis in Mainland China: An analysis based on bayesian theory. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2016;13. pii: E469.
- Li XX, Wang LX, Zhang J, Liu YX, Zhang H, Jiang SW, *et al.* Exploration of ecological factors related to the spatial heterogeneity of tuberculosis prevalence in P. R. China. Glob Health Action 2014; 7:23620.
- Mansoer JR, Kibuga DK, Borgdorff MW. Altitude: A determinant for tuberculosis in Kenya? Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 1999; 3:156-61.
- 24. Onozuka D, Hagihara A. The association of extreme temperatures and the incidence of tuberculosis in Japan. Int J Biometeorol 2015; 59:1107-14.
- 25. Rao HX, Zhang X, Zhao L, Yu J, Ren W, Zhang XL, *et al.* Spatial transmission and meteorological determinants of tuberculosis incidence in Qinghai province, China: A spatial clustering panel analysis. Infect Dis Poverty 2016; 5:45.
- Sun W, Gong J, Zhou J, Zhao Y, Tan J, Ibrahim AN, *et al.* A spatial, social and environmental study of tuberculosis in China using statistical and GIS technology. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2015; 12:1425-48.
- 27. Tanrikulu AC, Acemoglu H, Palanci Y, Dagli CE. Tuberculosis in Turkey: High altitude and other socio-economic risk factors. Public Health 2008; 122:613-9.
- Vargas MH, Furuya ME, Pérez-Guzmán C. Effect of altitude on the frequency of pulmonary tuberculosis. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2004; 8:1321-4.
- 29. Yanagawa H, Hara N, Hashimoto T, Yokoyama H, Tachibana K. Geographical pattern of tuberculosis and related factors in Japan. Soc Sci Med Med Geogr 1981;15D:141-8.

- Olender S, Saito M, Apgar J, Gillenwater K, Bautista CT, Lescano AG, *et al.* Low prevalence and increased household clustering of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection in high altitude villages in Peru. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2003; 68:721-7.
- 31. Lönnroth K, Jaramillo E, Williams BG, Dye C, Raviglione M. Drivers of tuberculosis epidemics: The role of risk factors and social determinants. Soc Sci Med 2009; 68:2240-6.
- 32. Boere TM, Visser DH, van Furth AM, Lips P, Cobelens FG. Solar ultraviolet B exposure and global variation in tuberculosis incidence: An ecological analysis. Eur Respir J 2017;49. pii: 1601979.
- Campbell-Lendrum D, Pruss-Ustun A, Corvalan C. Climate Change and Human Health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2003. How much disease could climate change cause; pp. 133–58.
- Rieder HL. Epidemiologic basis of Tuberculosis Control. Paris: International Union Against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease; 1999. pp. 1-162.
- 35. Davies PD. A possible link between Vitamin D deficiency and impaired host defence to *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Tubercle 1985; 66:301-6.
- Reichman LB, Hershfield ES. Tuberculosis: a comprehensive international approach. CRC Press; 2000 Mar 8.
- 37. Abubakar I, Pimpin L, Ariti C, et al. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the current evidence on the duration of protection by bacillus Calmette-Guérin vaccination against tuberculosis. Health technology assessment (Winchester, England). 2013 Sep;17(37):1.

Chapter 5 HIV Prevalence among Tuberculosis Patients in sub-Saharan Africa: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis

Context of the Chapter

This chapter examines the implementation of collaborative TB and HIV activities for the control of TB in Sub-Saharan Africa, the region most affected by HIV. It provides consolidated evidence on the geographical heterogeneity of TB and HIV co-infection in sub-Saharan Africa and beyond, with implications for collaborative TB and HIV control strategies.

Gelaw YA, Williams G, Magalhães RJ, Gilks CF, Assefa Y. HIV Prevalence Among Tuberculosis Patients in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. AIDS and Behavior. 2019 Jun 15;23(6):1561-75. <u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10461-018-02386-4</u>

This chapter is published in the Aids and Behavior journal. The idea of the manuscript was conceptualized and designed by Dr Yibeltal Assefa and me. I did the electronic database search, data extraction, analysis, manuscript preparation.

Abstract

Background: HIV associated Tuberculosis (TB) morbidity and mortality is a major concern in sub-Saharan Africa. Understanding the level of HIV infection among TB patients is vital for adequate management and prevention of both infections. We conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis to estimate the prevalence of HIV in TB patients in sub-Saharan Africa.

Methods: We searched PubMed, EMBASE, Web of Science and CINAHL databases. A metaanalysis with a random-effects model was performed. Potential sources of heterogeneity in the prevalence estimates were explored using meta-regression analysis.

Results: We identified 68 studies that collectively included 62,969 TB patients between 1990 and 2017. The overall estimate of HIV prevalence in TB patients was 31.8% (95%CI 27.8-36.1). There was substantial heterogeneity in the prevalence estimates in Southern, Central, Eastern, and Western sub-Saharan Africa regions (43.7%, 41.3%, 31.1% and 25.5%, respectively). We noted an apparent reduction in the estimate from 33.7% (95%CI; 27.6 - 40.4) in the period before 2000 to 25.7% (95%CI; 17.6 – 33.6) in the period after 2010. The Eastern and Southern sub-Saharan Africa regions had higher prevalence [34.4% (95%CI; 29.3-34.4)] than the Western and Central regions [27.3% (95%CI; 21.6 - 33.8)].

Conclusion: The prevalence of HIV in TB patients has declined over time in sub-Saharan Africa. We argue that this is due to strengthened HIV prevention and control response and enhanced TB/HIV collaborative activities. Countries and regions with high burdens of HIV and TB should strengthen and sustain efforts in order to achieve the goal of ending both HIV and TB epidemics in line with the Sustainable Development Goals.

Key words: HIV, TB, Prevalence, sub-Saharan Africa, Meta-analysis

Introduction

Globally, it is estimated that around 10.4 million tuberculosis (TB) cases occurred in 2016; out of which 1.3 million HIV-negative people, with an additional 374,000 deaths among HIV-positive people (1). Overall, it is also estimated that 1.7 billion people are infected with M. tuberculosis. However, only 5-15% will develop TB disease. The risk of developing active TB differs markedly according to the presence of HIV infection and other risk factors. People living with HIV are 26 to 31 times more likely to develop active TB than people without HIV (1). The burden of TB is greater in areas with higher HIV prevalence (2, 3). The HIV epidemic poses a paramount challenge to TB prevention and control in sub-Saharan Africa. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), there were an estimated 1.2 million new cases of TB amongst people living with HIV in 2016, 71% of whom were living in Africa (1). The WHO has recommended a package of collaborative TB/HIV activities to reduce the burden of HIV infection in presumptive and clinically diagnosed TB patients by providing: HIV testing and counselling, co-trimoxazole preventive therapy, antiretroviral therapy for HIV-positive TB patients, and other HIV preventive, treatment and care (4).

In many high HIV prevalence settings, concerted measures have been taken to prevent and control HIV/AIDS since 2000. These have reduced the burden of HIV-associated TB morbidity and mortality (5). In 2016, TB incidence and mortality rates decreased by an average of 2% and 3% per year, respectively, since 2000. The pace of decline has varied among different WHO regions. In sub-Saharan Africa countries including Ethiopia, Kenya, Lesotho, Namibia, the United Republic of Tanzania, Zambia and Zimbabwe, there has been a decline in TB incidence, TB mortality rate and HIV-associated TB between 1990 and 2017(6, 7). Nevertheless, HIV is still challenging TB control efforts, and an accelerated response is needed to produce the 4-5% annual decline needed in order to achieve the "End TB" milestone for the region in 2020 (1).

The accelerated response towards "End TB" targets require consolidated evidence on the burden of HIV in TB patients. Two systematic reviews (8, 9) and one narrative review (10) have been published on the burden of HIV in TB and/or TB in HIV coinfection. However, they do not include all studies done in sub-Saharan African and do not attempt to show HIV prevalence in TB patients particularly. According to a systematic review and meta-analysis of the global prevalence of HIV/TB and/or TB/HIV co-infection in countries (excluding China) in 2013, the prevalence of co-infection (31.2% (95%CI; 19.3–43.2)) in African countries was higher than for the rest of the world (8). Therefore, it is important to report HIV prevalence and its trend over time in TB patients in sub-Saharan Africa, where about half of the high TB burden countries are located.

In this study, we aimed to systematically review the existing literature and quantify the prevalence of HIV in TB patients over three different distinct time periods across regions in sub-Saharan Africa.

Methods

Search Methods for identifying Studies

We searched PubMed, EMBASE, Web of Science and CINAHL electronic databases using a predefined search strategy (Supplementary material I). Studies reporting HIV infection in TB patients which were published up to September 14, 2017, were included. In addition to the articles we retrieved from our literature search, we hand-searched the references of all the relevant articles to ensure that we did not exclude eligible studies. Searches were limited to human studies (all age groups) conducted in sub-Saharan Africa countries and published in the English language.

Eligibility Criteria

Studies were eligible for inclusion if the prevalence of HIV in TB patients was presented or could be calculated from available data. All study designs, including prevalence surveys, and published reports of programmatic activities were included.

Studies were excluded if the language of publication was not English, if they only reported a single prevalence (only HIV or TB), or were reviews conducted in a special population (e.g. miners).

Data Extraction

All searched studies were imported into EndNote X8 database, and duplicate records were removed. YG examined studies using the title and abstract to remove irrelevant studies. The full text of eligible articles was independently retrieved by two authors (YG and YA) for final inclusion using inclusion/exclusion criteria with a predesigned assessment form.

YG and YA extracted information from selected studies using a data extraction form and inconsistencies were resolved by discussion. For each study, information on geographical location, year of publication, study periods, sample size and sampling strategies, study type, clinical form of TB, age group of the study population, and the diagnostic algorithms of TB and HIV were extracted.

Definitions

For this analysis, we categorised HIV prevalence into three research periods and two WHO sub-Saharan Africa regions. We further divided the two regions into four. The duration of the study defined the research period: before 2000, 2000 to 2010 and after 2010. These periods were based on key milestones in the HIV/AIDS and TB/HIV control programs. In the early 2000s, ART scale-up commenced in some health facilities in sub-Saharan Africa countries (11); between 2000 and 2010,

TB /HIV collaborative activities were launched, and HIV/AIDS care and treatment services strengthened in sub-Saharan Africa countries (12). Since 2010 WHO has been updating its HIV/AIDS treatment guidelines to initiate ART with 350 or less than 350 cell counts. Currently, people living with HIV have treatment initiated irrespective of CD4-cells count (13).

The geographic location of studies was categorised as Eastern, Southern, Western and Central regions. These regions further classified based on WHO region divisions into South-Eastern and West-Central sub-Saharan Africa regions.

Quality Assessment

We used the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale adapted for cross-sectional studies and used by Modesti PA et al. (14) and Nliwasa M et al. (15) to assess the methodological quality of each study. In the scale score of exposure (tuberculosis who did not previously know their HIV status) and outcome (HIV prevalence in TB patients) measurement of each study was assessed based on the national standard tuberculosis and HIV diagnosis and test procedures of the included countries. Self-reported exposure and outcomes were excluded because TB and HIV disease results are not reported unless confirmed by a health professional. Two stars are given to the studies that assess the outcome (HIV prevalence in active TB patients) with the antibody test and one star is given for medical records linkage to HIV testing (Appendix B: Supplementary information for Chapter 5 - Table I).

For each study, the maximum overall score was seven. The overall quality of the studies was categorised into two based on the total scores given using the domain; high quality (studies with an average score or above) and low quality (studies with a score of below average) (Appendix B: Supplementary information for Chapter 5 - Table II).

Statistical Analyses

Meta-analysis was undertaken to calculate the pooled HIV prevalence (95% CI) using a randomeffects model to account for the heterogeneity of HIV-prevalence. The metafor package of R (version 3.3.3, the R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Australia) which carries out a metaanalysis for proportions was used for analysis.

A meta-analysis for a proportion includes studies that do not use control groups. We also needed to transform data to improve the statistical properties of proportions (16). The logit transformation method was used and back-transformed to calculate the final pooled estimate and 95% CI. The Shapiro-Wilk normality test (W = 0.9811, p-value = 0.3905) showed that the transformed data had a normal distribution. Restricted maximum-likelihood estimation (REML) was used to estimate model parameters.

Between-study heterogeneity was assessed with the I^2 statistic, which describes the percentage of variation between studies, compared to the overall variation (17). An influential study diagnostic test, i.e., Cook's distance (the influence function and baujat plot in R) was used to identify studies which introduced additional residual heterogeneity (18). Sensitivity analysis was performed by removing outliers (higher and lower prevalence) and low-quality studies. We checked this using the 'leave one out' approach (leaveout function of R) (19).

Subgroup analysis was conducted by assuming a common between-study variance component across sub-groups and meta-regression were used to explore heterogeneity further (20, 21). Subgroup analysis compared Central (reference category) with Eastern, Western, and Southern sub-Saharan African and research periods (before 2000 compared with between 2000 and 2010 inclusive and after 2010) and type of TB (all forms of TB versus Pulmonary TB).

Potential publication bias was investigated using funnel plots. This was further examined using Begg's test, which examines the rank correlation between the log odds ratio and the meta-analysis weight (22). Trim and fill plot analysis was also used for assessing publication bias.

Data on TB and HIV co-infection per 100,000 population for each country were obtained from UNAIDS and UN Millennium Development Goals databases (23, 24) and used to extract national estimates for the year of completion of the study period. We included significant variables (p<0.05) into a meta-regression model using the metareg function of R (25).

Results

Characteristics of included studies

A total of 1, 490 articles were initially identified in our search. After the exclusion of duplicate references (143) and non-relevant studies (1,157), a full-text review was conducted for 190 articles. Finally, 68 articles were included in the meta-analysis (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Flow chart of selection of eligible studies for inclusion in systematic review and metaanalysis of the prevalence of HIV in TB patients in sub-Saharan Africa, 2017

Among the 68 eligible studies published from 1990 to 2017, 26 were conducted before 2000 (26-51), 30 were from 2000 to 2010 (52-81), and 12 were after 2010 (82-93). With respect to age, 36 studies included adults, eight studies included children, and 24 studies were unclassified. One-third (22 studies) were conducted on pulmonary tuberculosis (PTB) and 46 studies were not classified by type of TB. Two studies estimated the prevalence in special populations: pregnant women (63) and prisoners (88). The sample size of the studies ranged from 74 to 10, 612, with a combined total of 62,969 TB patients included estimating HIV prevalence in TB patients. HIV prevalence was 32.5% (95CI; 24.8- 41.2) among PTB patients and 31.5% (95%CI; 27-34.4%) among uncategorised TB patients.

More than half of the included studies were from the Eastern region; eighteen were in Ethiopia (26, 44, 48, 51, 53, 59, 63, 67, 72, 75, 77, 78, 80, 81, 83, 84, 88, 90), seven in Tanzania (32, 37, 38, 47, 60, 71, 79), five in Kenya (31, 62, 65, 73, 74), one in Eretria (61) and one in Uganda (28). Twelve articles were included from the Southern region; four in South Africa, four in Zambia (30, 34, 64, 91), two in Zimbabwe (29, 33), one in Angola (76) and one in Malawi (46).

Nearly one-third of included studies were from the Western Sub-Saharan Africa region; fourteen in Nigeria (43, 49, 50, 52, 54, 55, 57, 58, 68, 69, 86, 87, 89, 92), three in Cote d'Ivoire (27, 35, 36), two in Ghana (56, 93), one in Burkina Faso (39) and one in Togo (70). Only three studies were included in the Central sub-Saharan Africa regions; two in Cameroon (66, 82) and one in the Republic of Congo (85) (Table 4).

Table 4. Characteristics of studies included in the systematic review and meta-analysis of the prevalence of HIV in TB patients in Sub-Saharan
Africa, 1990-2017

Study	Location	Research period	Age group	Study design	Types of TB	Presumptive and	HIV positive
						diagnosis TB (n)	TB patient (n)
Eastern, sub-Saharan Africa							
Hailu et al., 1990	Ethiopia	1988 - 1989	adult	retrospective	РТВ	106	7
Migliori et al., 1992	Uganda	1987 - 1989	all age	case-control	all forms	323	59
Nunn et al., 1993	Kenya	1985-1990	adult	retrospective	all forms	161	37
Van den Broek et al., 1993	Tanzania	1991	adult	case-control	all forms	441	132
van Cleeff et al., 1995	Tanzania	1990	adult	case-control	all forms	128	66
Chum et al., 1996	Tanzania	1991-1993	adult	prevalence survey	all forms	6715	2139
Demisse et al, 2000	Ethiopia	1998 -1998	adult	cross-sectional	PTB	236	107
Range et la, 2001	Tanzania	1994-1998	adult	prevalence survey	all forms	10612	4653
Bruchfeld et al, 2002	Ethiopia	1996	adult	case-control	PTB	168	96
Yassin et al., 2004	Ethiopia	2002	all age	prospective study	all forms	500	97
Van der Werf et al., 2007	Eritrea	2004-2005	adult	cross-sectional	all forms	220	26
Kassu et al., 2007	Ethiopia	2003	adult	cross-sectional	all forms	257	134
Range et la, 2007	Tanzania	2001 - 2002	adult	cross-sectional	PTB	532	232
Datiko et al., 2008	Ethiopia	2004 - 2005	adult	cross-sectional	all forms	1308	226
Odhiambo et al., 2008	Kenya	2003 - 2005	all age	cross-sectional	all forms	2193	1327
Chakaya et al., 2008	Kenya	2002 - 2006	all age	cross-sectional	PTB	732	372

Table 4 (continued)								
Ayenew et al., 2010	Ethiopia	2009	adult	case-control	all forms	235	85	
Ligidi et al., 2011	Ethiopia	2007	adult	cross-sectional	all forms	258	68	
Van't Hoog et al., 2011	Kenya	2006 - 2007	adult	prevalence survey	PTB	101	52	
Kamenju et al, 2011	Tanzania	2008 -2009	all age	retrospective	PTB	205	103	
Nyamogoba et al., 2012	Kenya	2007 - 2009	all age	cross-sectional	all forms	274	117	
Teklu et al., 2013	Ethiopia	2004 to 2008	all age	retrospective	all forms	459	36	
Yadeta et al., 2013	Ethiopia	2009 - 2011	adult	cross-sectional	all forms	668	215	
Kebede et al., 2014	Ethiopia	2009-2010	adult	cross-sectional	all forms	353	137	
Keflie et al, 2014	Ethiopia	2007	all age	cross-sectional	PTB	335	96	
Mihret et al, 2014	Ethiopia	2007 - 2010	adult	cross-sectional	PTB	418	97	
Denegetu et al., 2014	Ethiopia	2011	adult	cross-sectional	all forms	579	117	
Kishimba et al., 2014	Tanzania	2006 - 2010	children	retrospective	all forms	2284	905	
Belay et al, 2015	Ethiopia	2009 - 2010	adult	cross-sectional	PTB	99	40	
Gebrecherkos et al, 2016	Ethiopia	2015	adult	cross-sectional	PTB	282	17	
Tarekegne et al., 2016	Ethiopia	2009 - 2012	all age	retrospective	all forms	2005	404	
Gellete et al., 2017	Ethiopia	1993 - 1994	adult	cross-sectional	all forms	450	199	
Southern, sub-Saharan Africa	Southern, sub-Saharan Africa							
Pozniak et al., 1992	Zimbabwe	1988 - 1989	adult	retrospective	all forms	906	363	
Chintu et al., 1993	Zambia	1990 - 1991	children	case-control	all forms	237	88	
Luo et al., 1994	Zambia	1991 - 1992	children	cross-sectional	all forms	120	67	

Table 4 (continued)	Table 4 (continued)							
Houston et al., 1994	Zimbabwe	1988-1999	adult	case-control	all forms	1434	610	
Colvin et al., 1998	South Africa	1998	all age	cross-sectional	PTB	182	56	
Karstaedt et al., 1998	South Africa	1995 -1996	adult	retrospective	all forms	412	185	
Churchyard et al., 1999	South Africa	1988 - 1990	adult	cross-sectional	all forms	3465	1040	
Madhi et al., 2000	South Africa	1996 - 1997	children	prospective study	PTB	161	68	
Kiwanuka et al., 2001	Malawi	1998	children	cross-sectional	PTB	102	72	
Mwinga A, 2008	Zambia	2004–2006	all age	cross-sectional	all forms	2072	1497	
Valadas et al., 2013	Angola	2007	all age	retrospective	all forms	1906	712	
Chanda-Kapata et al., 2017	Zambia	2013–2014	adult	prevalence survey	all forms	151	36	
Western, sub-Saharan Africa								
De Cock et al., 1991	Cote d' Ivore	1989 -1990	adult	cross-sectional	all forms	2043	821	
Sassan-Morokro et al., 1994	Cote d' Ivore	1989 -1990	children	retrospective	all forms	289	34	
Richards et al., 1995	Cote d' Ivore	1981 - 1991	all age	retrospective	all forms	3271	1426	
Malkin et al., 1997	Burkina Faso	1988 - 1990	adult	prospective study	PTB	422	97	
Onipede et al., 1999	Nigeria	1995 - 1996	adult	case-control	all forms	79	10	
Moses et al, 2003	Nigeria	1997 - 1998	adult	retrospective	PTB	58	11	
Daniel et al, 2004	Nigeria	2001 - 2002	all age	cross-sectional	PTB	269	40	
Ige et al., 2005	Nigeria	1998 - 2002	all age	retrospective	all forms	640	180	
Daniel et al., 2005	Nigeria	2000 - 2004	children	retrospective	all forms	78	8	
Adjei et al, 2006	Ghana	2001	all age	cross-sectional	PTB	108	51	

Table 4 (continued)							
Odaibo et al., 2006	Nigeria	2000	all age	cross-sectional	PTB	2752	527
Salami et al., 2006	Nigeria	2000 - 2004	adult	retrospective	all forms	744	297
Daniel et al., 2007	Nigeria	1999 - 2003	children	cross-sectional	all forms	76	8
Dagnra et al., 2009	Togo	2007	adult	cross-sectional	all forms	569	135
Erhabor et al., 2010	Nigeria	2006	adult	cross-sectional	all forms	120	30
Pennap et al., 2010	Nigeria	2007 - 2008	all age	retrospective	all forms	257	106
Gomerep et al., 2015	Nigeria	2009 - 2011	all age	retrospective	all forms	305	220
Ojiezeh et al., 2015	Nigeria	2008 - 2012	all age	retrospective	PTB	342	58
Ranti et al., 2016	Nigeria	2008 -2011	all age	retrospective	all forms	386	113
Osei et al., 2017	Ghana	2012-2015	all age	retrospective	all forms	1633	297
Chinedu et al., 2017	Nigeria	2013 - 2016	all age	retrospective	all forms	1704	372
Central, sub-Saharan Africa							
Sume et al., 2008	Cameron	2003-2006	all age	retrospective	PTB	865	446
Namme et al., 2013	Cameron	2007-2011	adult	cross-sectional	all forms	749	311
Linguissi et al, 2014	Congo	2011	adult	cross-sectional	PTB	425	133

Prevalence of HIV in tuberculosis patients

The overall estimates of HIV prevalence ranged from 6% in Ethiopia (88) to 72% in Zambia (64) study. Most estimates were between 20% and 30% of the population of TB patients. Low estimates (less than 20%) occurred in 16 studies (26, 28, 35, 43, 49, 50, 52-54, 58, 61, 63, 75, 87, 88, 93). Fortyfour studies presented age-specific HIV prevalence. The prevalence among children and adults was 31.4% (95%CI; 17.1-50.2) and 31.1% (95%CI; 26.5-36.0), respectively. The overall estimates of HIV prevalence in TB patients were 31.8% (95% CI 27.8-36.1) using a random-effects model. The I² statistic (98%, P<0.01) indicated substantial heterogeneity among the studies.

The highest HIV prevalence in TB patients was estimated to be in the Southern region, 43.7% (95CI; 35.05-52.70; $I^2 = 99\%$) with a range of 23 % (91) to 72 % (64) in the Zambia followed by the Central region (41.3%, 95%CI; 30.4-51.2; $I^2 = 98\%$) ranging from 31 % in Republic of Congo (85) to 51% in Cameroon (66) ; Eastern region 31.1 % (95%CI; 25.4-37.5; $I^2 = 98\%$) ranging from 6% in Ethiopia to 60 % (88) in Kenya (65) and Western region 25.5% (95CI; 19.7-32.3; $I^2 = 98\%$) ranging from 12 % (43) to 72% in the Nigeria (86) (Figure 7).

Study	Cases	Total	proporti	on 95% C.I.	Weights
africaregion = Eastern					
Hailu et al, 1990	7	106	■- 0.06	60 [0.0270; 0.1313]	1.2%
Migliori et al, 1992	59	323	- 0.18	27 [0.1421; 0.2292]	1.5%
Nunn et al, 1993	37	161		98 [0.1673; 0.3026]	1.4%
Van den Broek et al, 1993	132	441		3 [0.2569; 0.3444]	1.5%
Chum et al. 1995	2130	6715	0.31	0 [0.4257; 0.0046]	1.5%
Demisse et al. 2000	2139	236	0.31	55 [0.3074, 0.3296] 34 [0.3887: 0.5193]	1.5%
Range et la 2001	4653	10612	0.43	35 [0.3290: 0.4480]	1.5%
Bruchfeld et al. 2002	96	168		14 [0 4929: 0 6474]	1.5%
Yassin et al. 2004	97	500	■ 0.19	10 [0.1602: 0.2314]	1.5%
Kassu et al, 2007	134	257		14 [0.4584; 0.5839]	1.5%
Range et la, 2007	232	532		61 [0.3935; 0.4794]	1.5%
Van der Werf et al, 2007	26	220		32 [0.0787; 0.1684]	1.4%
Chakaya et al, 2008	372	732		32 [0.4713; 0.5450]	1.5%
Datiko et al, 2008	226	1308	• 0.17	28 [0.1527; 0.1944]	1.5%
Odhiambo et al, 2008	1327	2193	– – 0.60	51 [0.5843; 0.6256]	1.5%
Ayenew et al, 2010	102	235	0.30	17 [0.3002; 0.4267]	1.5%
Ligidi et al. 2011	68	203		36 [0.4320, 0.3728]	1.5%
van't Hoog et al. 2011	52	101		19 [0.4133: 0.6155]	1.5%
Nyamogoba et al. 2012	117	274		70 [0.3677: 0.4879]	1.5%
Teklu et al, 2013	36	459	• 0.07	34 [0.0555; 0.1069]	1.5%
Yadeta et al, 2013	215	668	.32	19 [0.2865; 0.3588]	1.5%
Denegetu et al, 2014	117	579	■ 0.20	21 [0.1701; 0.2371]	1.5%
Kebede et al, 2014	137	353		31 [0.3370; 0.4411]	1.5%
Keflie et al, 2014	96	335		6 [0.2387; 0.3382]	1.5%
Kisnimba et al, 2014	905	2284	0.39	52 [0.3761; 0.4166]	1.5%
Mihret et al, 2014	97	418		21 [0.1924; 0.2755]	1.5%
Belay et al, 2015	40	299	0.40		1.4%
Terekegne et al. 2016	404	202	- 0.00 0.20	15 [0.0355, 0.0946]	1.4%
Gellete et al. 2017	199	450		2 [0.1841, 0.2197]	1.5%
Random effects model	133	33637	- 0.31	14 [0.2539: 0.3754]	47.2%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 98\%$, $\chi^2_{31} = 190$	07.32 (p =	0)			47.270
africaregion = Western					
De Cock et al. 1991	821	2043	■ 0.40	19 [0.3805: 0.4235]	1.5%
Sassan-Morokro et al. 1994	34	289	■ 0.11	76 [0.0829: 0.1605]	1.4%
Richards et al, 1995	1426	3271	0.43	50 [0.4189; 0.4531]	1.5%
Malkin et al, 1997	97	422	0.22	99 [0.1905; 0.2730]	1.5%
Onipede et al, 1999	10	79	0.12	6 [0.0624; 0.2205]	1.3%
Moses et al, 2003	11	58		97 [0.0987; 0.3141]	1.3%
Daniel et al, 2004	40	269		37 [0.1084; 0.1969]	1.5%
Daniel et al, 2005	8	78		26 [0.0453; 0.1921]	1.2%
Ige et al, 2005	180	640	0.28	12 [0.2467; 0.3178]	1.5%
Adjei et al, 2006	51	108	0.47		1.4%
Solomi et al. 2006	207	2/52	0.19	15 [0.1769; 0.2067]	1.5%
Daniel et al. 2007	257	76		52 [0.3036; 0.4354]	1.3%
Dagnra et al. 2009	135	569	0.23	73 [0.2029: 0.2744]	1.5%
Erhabor et al. 2010	30	120	0.25	00 [0.1755; 0.3373]	1.4%
Pennap et al, 2010	106	257		25 [0.3516; 0.4753]	1.5%
Gomerep et al, 2015	220	305	0.72	13 [0.6674; 0.7709]	1.5%
Ojiezeh et al, 2015	58	342		96 [0.1314; 0.2136]	1.5%
Ranti et al, 2016	113	386	• 0.29	27 [0.2478; 0.3409]	1.5%
Chinedu et al, 2017	372	1704	0.21	33 [0.1989; 0.2387]	1.5%
Osei et al, 2017	297	1633	0.18	19 [0.1634; 0.2015]	1.5%
Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 98\%$, $\chi^2_{20} = 109$	94.32 (p <	76745 0.01)	0.25	48 [0.1970; 0.3227]	30.4%
	-				
arricaregion = Southern	262	006	- 0.40	17 10 3686. 0 43241	1 50/
Chintu et al 1992	203	237	0.40	13 [0.3096· 0.4334]	1.5%
Houston et al. 1994	610	1434	0.42	54 [0.3996: 0.4515]	1.5%
Luo et al. 1994	67	120		33 [0.4648; 0.6489]	1.4%
Colvin et al, 1998	56	182		77 [0.2415; 0.3802]	1.5%
Karstaedt et al, 1998	185	412	0.44	0 [0.4003; 0.4985]	1.5%
Churchyard et al, 1999	1040	3465	■ 0.30	01 [0.2849; 0.3157]	1.5%
Madhi et al, 2000	68	161	0.42	24 [0.3450; 0.5026]	1.5%
Kiwanuka et al, 2001	72	102		59 [0.6075; 0.7920]	1.4%
Mwinga A et al, 2008	1497	2072	0 .72	25 [0.7027; 0.7417]	1.5%
Chanda Kapata et al. 2017	712	1906		30 [0.3518; 0.3957]	1.5%
Random offects model	30	111/18	0.23	54 [0.1729; 0.3145] 57 [0.3505: 0.5260]	17.8%
Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 99\%$, $\chi^2_{11} = 968$	3.96 (p < 0	0.01)	0.43	7 [0.3303, 0.3203]	11.078
africaregion = Central					
Sume et al, 2008	446	865	- 0.51	56 [0.4817; 0.5494]	1.5%
Namme et al, 2013	311	749	■ 0.41	52 [0.3797: 0.4515]	1.5%
Linguissi et al, 2014	133	425	.31	29 [0.2691; 0.3594]	1.5%
Random effects model		2039	0.41	33 [0.3039; 0.5319]	4.5%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 96\%$, $\chi^2_2 = 48.9$	93 (p < 0.0	1)		-	
Random effects model		62969	• 0.31	81 [0.2783: 0.3607]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $J^2 = 98\%$, $\chi^2_{67} = 44$	10.57 (p =	0)		2000,000000	
		(0.2 0.4 0.6 0.8 1 Prevalence		

Figure 7. Forest plots for the prevalence of HIV in TB patients from studies by regions in sub-Saharan Africa region

There were an apparent reduction in prevalence of HIV in TB from before 2000, [33.7 % (95%CI; 27.6-40.4); $I^2 = 98\%$, p<0.01) to after 2010, 25.7% (95C%; 17.6-36.0); $I^2 = 98\%$, p<0.01)] (Figure 8).
Study	Cases	Total		proportion	95% C.I.	Weights
research_period = before 2	2000 _		_			1.000
Hailu et al, 1990	7	106		0.0660	[0.0270; 0.1313]	1.2%
De Cock et al, 1991	821	2043	_	0.4019	[0.3805; 0.4235]	1.5%
Migliori et al, 1992	59	323		0.1827	[0.1421; 0.2292]	1.5%
Chiptu et al. 1992	303	906	<u>i</u>	0.4007	[0.3686; 0.4334]	1.5%
Nunn et al. 1993	37	161		0.3713	[0.3030, 0.4302]	1.5%
Van den Broek et al. 1993	132	441		0.2290	[0.1673, 0.3020]	1.4%
Houston et al. 1994	610	1434		0.4254	[0.3996: 0.4515]	1.5%
Luo et al. 1994	67	120		0.5583	[0.4648: 0.6489]	1.4%
Sassan-Morokro et al. 1994	34	289	-	0.1176	[0.0829: 0.1605]	1.4%
Richards et al. 1995	1426	3271	••	0.4360	[0.4189: 0.4531]	1.5%
van Cleeff et al, 1995	66	128		0.5156	[0.4257; 0.6048]	1.5%
Chum et al, 1996	2139	6715	ė.	0.3185	[0.3074; 0.3298]	1.5%
Malkin et al, 1997	97	422	-	0.2299	[0.1905; 0.2730]	1.5%
Colvin et al, 1998	56	182	-	0.3077	[0.2415; 0.3802]	1.5%
Karstaedt et al, 1998	185	412		0.4490	[0.4003; 0.4985]	1.5%
Churchyard et al, 1999	1040	3465	=	0.3001	[0.2849; 0.3157]	1.5%
Onipede et al, 1999	10	79		0.1266	[0.0624; 0.2205]	1.3%
Demisse et al, 2000	107	236		0.4534	[0.3887; 0.5193]	1.5%
Kiwapuka at al. 2000	72	101		0.4224	[0.3450; 0.5026]	1.5%
Range et la 2001	4653	10612		0.7035	[0.0075, 0.7920]	1.4 /0
Bruchfeld et al. 2002	96	168		0.5714	[0.4230, 0.4400]	1.5%
Moses et al. 2003	11	58		0.1897	[0.0987: 0.3141]	1.3%
Odaibo et al. 2006	527	2752		0.1915	[0.1769: 0.2067]	1.5%
Gellete et al. 2017	199	450		0.4422	[0.3957: 0.4895]	1.5%
Random effects model		35273		0.3366	[0.2755: 0.4036]	38.0%
Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 98\%$, $\chi^2_{25} = 115$	2.77 (p <	0.01)				
research_period = 2000-20	10					
Daniel et al, 2004	40	269	- - -	0.1487	[0.1084; 0.1969]	1.5%
Yassin et al, 2004	97	500	₩	0.1940	[0.1602; 0.2314]	1.5%
Daniel et al, 2005	8	78		0.1026	[0.0453; 0.1921]	1.2%
lge et al, 2005	180	640	-	0.2812	[0.2467; 0.3178]	1.5%
Adjei et al, 2006	51	108	_	0.4722	[0.3754; 0.5706]	1.4%
Salami et al, 2006	297	744	_ =	0.3992	[0.3638; 0.4354]	1.5%
Daniel et al, 2007	404	76		0.1053	[0.0466; 0.1969]	1.2%
Rassu et al, 2007	222	207	_	0.5214	[0.4584; 0.5839]	1.5%
Van der Werf et al. 2007	232	220		0.4301	[0.3935, 0.4794]	1.0%
Chakava et al. 2008	372	732		0.5082	[0.0707; 0.1004]	1.5%
Datiko et al. 2008	226	1308	-	0 1728	[0.1527: 0.1944]	1.5%
Mwinga A et al. 2008	1497	2072		0.7225	[0.7027: 0.7417]	1.5%
Odhiambo et al, 2008	1327	2193		0.6051	[0.5843; 0.6256]	1.5%
Sume et al, 2008	446	865	-	0.5156	[0.4817; 0.5494]	1.5%
Dagnra et al, 2009	135	569	-	0.2373	[0.2029; 0.2744]	1.5%
Ayenew et al, 2010	85	235	+ -	0.3617	[0.3002; 0.4267]	1.5%
Erhabor et al, 2010	30	120		0.2500	[0.1755; 0.3373]	1.4%
Pennap et al, 2010	106	257	·	0.4125	[0.3516; 0.4753]	1.5%
Kamenju et al, 2011	103	205		0.5024	[0.4320; 0.5728]	1.5%
Ligidi et al, 2011	68	258		0.2636	[0.2109; 0.3218]	1.5%
Numerapha et al. 2012	117	274		0.5149	[0.4133; 0.6155]	1.4%
Toklu et al. 2013	36	150		0.0784	[0.0555: 0.1069]	1.5%
Valadas et al. 2013	712	1906	-	0.3736	[0.3518: 0.3957]	1.5%
Kebede et al. 2014	137	353		0.3881	[0.3370: 0.4411]	1.5%
Keflie et al. 2014	96	335		0.2866	[0.2387: 0.3382]	1.5%
Kishimba et al, 2014	905	2284		0.3962	[0.3761; 0.4166]	1.5%
Mihret et al, 2014	97	418		0.2321	[0.1924; 0.2755]	1.5%
Belay et al, 2015	40	99		0.4040	[0.3066; 0.5074]	1.4%
Random effects model Heterogeneity $l^2 = 90\% r^2 = 203$	5 49 (n =	18467	-	0.3289	[0.2678; 0.3963]	44.1%
	ο.+ο (μ =	51				
research_period = after 20	10	740	-	0 4450	10 3707- 0 45451	1 50/
Namme et al, 2013	311	749	<u> </u>	0.4152	[0.3/9/; 0.4515]	1.5%
Dependent of al. 2014	215	570	_ · · ·	0.3219	[0.2000, 0.3088]	1.5%
Linguissi et al. 2014	133	425	-	0.2021	[0.1701, 0.2571] [0.2601: 0.3504]	1.5%
Gomerep et al 2015	220	305	T	0 7213	[0.6674: 0 7709]	1.5%
Ojiezeh et al. 2015	58	342	-	0.1696	[0.1314: 0.2136]	1.5%
Gebrecherkos et al. 2016	17	282	• · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	0.0603	[0.0355; 0.0948]	1.4%
Ranti et al, 2016	113	386	-	0.2927	[0.2478; 0.3409]	1.5%
Tarekegne et al, 2016	404	2005		0.2015	[0.1841; 0.2197]	1.5%
Chanda-Kapata et al, 2017	36	151		0.2384	[0.1729; 0.3145]	1.4%
Chinedu et al, 2017	372	1704		0.2183	[0.1989; 0.2387]	1.5%
Osei et al, 2017	297	1633		0.1819	[0.1634; 0.2015]	1.5%
Random effects model Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 98\%$, $\gamma_{44}^2 = 527$.3 (p < 0.	9229 01)		0.2572	[0.1760; 0.3596]	17.9%
		- • /		(2010) - C. (2010)		191212 10100
Random effects model	0.57 /	62969		0.3181	[0.2783; 0.3607]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^{-} = 98\%$, $\chi_{67}^{-} = 441$	0.57 (p =	U)		1		
		,	7 0.2 0.4 0.6 0.8 Prevalence	1		

Figure 8. Forest plots for the prevalence of HIV in TB patients from studies by study periods in the sub-Saharan Africa region.

HIV prevalence in TB patients was 34.41 % (95%CI; 29.27-39.94%) in Eastern and Southern regions and 27.30 % (95%CI; 21.63 % - 33.82 %) in Western and Central regions of sub-Saharan Africa. A

significant decline was observed in Southern and Eastern Africa region, where HIV prevalence is highest, from before 2000, 38.15 % (95%CI; 31.25-45.55, $I^2 = 97\%$), to after 2010, 18.87 %, 95%CI, 11.01-30.42, $I^2=95\%$) (Figure 9).

Study	Cases	Total	proportion 95% C.I.	Weights				
research period = before 2000								
Hailu et al, 1990	7	106	■ 0.0660 [0.0270; 0.1313]	1.9%				
Migliori et al, 1992	59	323	0.1827 [0.1421; 0.2292]	2.3%				
Pozniak et al, 1992	363	906	■ 0.4007 [0.3686; 0.4334]	2.3%				
Chintu et al, 1993	88	237		2.3%				
Nunn et al, 1993	37	161	0.2298 [0.1673; 0.3026]	2.2%				
Van den Broek et al, 1993	132	441	0.2993 [0.2569; 0.3444]	2.3%				
Houston et al, 1994	610	1434	■ 0.4254 [0.3996; 0.4515]	2.3%				
Luo et al, 1994	67	120	0.5583 [0.4648; 0.6489]	2.2%				
van Cleeff et al, 1995	66	128	0.5156 [0.4257; 0.6048]	2.2%				
Chum et al, 1996	2139	6715	0.3185 [0.3074; 0.3298]	2.3%				
Colvin et al, 1998	56	182	0.3077 [0.2415; 0.3802]	2.3%				
Karstaedt et al, 1998	185	412	0.4490 [0.4003; 0.4985]	2.3%				
Churchyard et al, 1999	1040	3465	■ 0.3001 [0.2849; 0.3157]	2.3%				
Demisse et al, 2000	107	236	· ■ 0.4534 [0.3887; 0.5193]	2.3%				
Madhi et al, 2000	68	161	— 0.4224 [0.3450; 0.5026]	2.3%				
Kiwanuka et al, 2001	72	102	0.7059 [0.6075; 0.7920]	2.2%				
Range et la, 2001	4653	10612	0.4385 [0.4290; 0.4480]	2.3%				
Bruchfeld et al, 2002	96	168	_ ■ 0.5714 [0.4929; 0.6474]	2.3%				
Gellete et al, 2017	199	450		2.3%				
Random effects model		26359	0.3815 [0.3125; 0.4555]	43.0%				
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 97\%$, $\chi^2_{18} = 58$	87.26 (p <	0.01)						
research_period = 2000-2	010							
Yassin et al, 2004	97	500	■ 0.1940 [0.1602; 0.2314]	2.3%				
Kassu et al, 2007	134	257		2.3%				
Range et la, 2007	232	532	0.4361 [0.3935; 0.4794]	2.3%				
Van der Werf et al, 2007	26	220		2.2%				
Chakaya et al, 2008	372	732	■ 0.5082 [0.4713; 0.5450]	2.3%				
Datiko et al, 2008	226	1308	■ 0.1728 [0.1527; 0.1944]	2.3%				
Mwinga A et al, 2008	1497	2072	■ 0.7225 [0.7027; 0.7417]	2.3%				
Odhiambo et al, 2008	1327	2193	0.6051 [0.5843; 0.6256]	2.3%				
Ayenew et al, 2010	85	235	0.3617 [0.3002; 0.4267]	2.3%				
Kamenju et al, 2011	103	205	-■- 0.5024 [0.4320; 0.5728]	2.3%				
Ligidi et al, 2011	68	258		2.3%				
van't Hoog et al, 2011	52	101	— ■ — 0.5149 [0.4133; 0.6155]	2.2%				
Nyamogoba et al, 2012	117	274	− 0.4270 [0.3677; 0.4879]	2.3%				
Teklu et al, 2013	36	459	■ 0.0784 [0.0555; 0.1069]	2.2%				
Valadas et al, 2013	/12	1906	0.3736 [0.3518; 0.3957]	2.3%				
Kebede et al, 2014	137	353		2.3%				
Kefile et al, 2014	96	335		2.3%				
Kishimba et al, 2014	905	2284		2.3%				
Relay at al. 2014	97	418		2.3%				
Belay et al, 2015	40	99		Z.2%				
Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 99\%$, $\chi^2_{19} = 17$	19.93 (p	14741 = 0)	0.3564 [0.2781; 0.4433]	45.7%				
researcn_period = after 2	010	000		0.00/				
radeta et al, 2013	215	570		2.3%				
Cobropharkos et al. 2010	117	219		2.3%				
Torokogno et al. 2016	11	202		2.1%				
Chanda Kanata at al 2017	404	2005		2.3%				
Bandom offects model	30	101		2.2%				
Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 95\%$, $\chi_A^2 = 79$.	76 (p < 0.	3005 01)	0.1007 [0.1101; 0.3042]	11.3%				
Random effects model		44785	• 0.3441 [0.2927; 0.3994]	100.0%				
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 99\%$, $\chi^2_{43} = 29$	939.95 (p	= 0)						
		(0 0.2 0.4 0.6 0.8 1 Prevalence					

Figure 9. Forest plots for the prevalence of HIV in TB patients from studies Eastern and Southern regions in sub-Saharan Africa.

In the Western and Central region, where HIV prevalence is relatively low, an increase was observed from before 2000, 23.00% (95%CI; 15.07-33.43; I^2 =99%) to after 2010, 31.5% (95%CI; 19.41-46.76; I^2 = 99%) (Figure 10).

Study	Cases	Total		proportion	95% C.I.	Weights
research period = before	2000					
De Cock et al, 1991	821	2043		0.4019	[0.3805; 0.4235]	4.4%
Sassan-Morokro et al, 1994	34	289	-	0.1176	[0.0829; 0.1605]	4.1%
Richards et al, 1995	1426	3271		0.4360	[0.4189; 0.4531]	4.4%
Malkin et al, 1997	97	422	- -	0.2299	[0.1905; 0.2730]	4.3%
Onipede et al, 1999	10	79		0.1266	[0.0624; 0.2205]	3.6%
Moses et al, 2003	11	58	- B	0.1897	[0.0987; 0.3141]	3.7%
Odaibo et al, 2006	527	2752	•	0.1915	[0.1769; 0.2067]	4.4%
Random effects model		8914	-	0.2299	[0.1507; 0.3343]	28.9%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 99\%$, $\chi_6^2 = 520$.55 (p < 0.	01)				
research_period = 2000-20)10					
Daniel et al, 2004	40	269	₽	0.1487	[0.1084; 0.1969]	4.2%
Daniel et al, 2005	8	78		0.1026	[0.0453; 0.1921]	3.5%
lge et al, 2005	180	640	÷	0.2812	[0.2467; 0.3178]	4.3%
Adjei et al, 2006	51	108	_ _	0.4722	[0.3754; 0.5706]	4.1%
Salami et al, 2006	297	744	-	0.3992	[0.3638; 0.4354]	4.3%
Daniel et al, 2007	8	76	-=	0.1053	[0.0466; 0.1969]	3.5%
Sume et al, 2008	446	865	-	0.5156	[0.4817; 0.5494]	4.4%
Dagnra et al, 2009	135	569	-	0.2373	[0.2029; 0.2744]	4.3%
Erhabor et al, 2010	30	120		0.2500	[0.1755; 0.3373]	4.1%
Pennap et al, 2010	106	257	·	0.4125	[0.3516; 0.4753]	4.3%
Random effects model		3726		0.2763	[0.1907; 0.3822]	41.0%
Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 96\%$, $\chi_9^2 = 243$.19 (p < 0.	01)				
research_period = after 20	10					
Namme et al, 2013	311	749	-	0.4152	[0.3797; 0.4515]	4.3%
Linguissi et al, 2014	133	425	F ∎-	0.3129	[0.2691; 0.3594]	4.3%
Gomerep et al, 2015	220	305		0.7213	[0.6674; 0.7709]	4.3%
Ojiezeh et al, 2015	58	342	-	0.1696	[0.1314; 0.2136]	4.2%
Ranti et al, 2016	113	386	—	0.2927	[0.2478; 0.3409]	4.3%
Chinedu et al, 2017	372	1704		0.2183	[0.1989; 0.2387]	4.4%
Osei et al, 2017	297	1633		0.1819	[0.1634; 0.2015]	4.4%
Random effects model		5544		0.3150	[0.1941; 0.4676]	30.2%
Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 99\%$, $\chi_6^2 = 416$.3 (p < 0.0	1)				
Random effects model		18184	÷	0.2730	[0.2163; 0.3382]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 98\%$, $\chi^2_{23} = 126$	87.88 (p <	0.01)	1 1 1 1	L		
		C	0.2 0.4 0.6 0.8 Prevalence	1		

Figure 10. Forest plots for the prevalence of HIV in TB patients from studies Western and central regions in sub-Saharan Africa

Sub-group analysis and meta-regression

Sub-group analysis showed that research period (p = 0.34), population category (p = 0.89), type of T B (p = 0.81), sample size (p = 0.28) and study type (p = 0.76) were not significantly associated with HIV prevalence. Regions within sub-Saharan Africa (p = 0.02, $R^2 = 9.05\%$) and study quality (p = 0.042, $R^2 = 5.01\%$) were significantly associated with HIV prevalence; together, they explained 12.0 4% of heterogeneity.

In univariable meta-regression analyses, type of TB such as PTB or uncategorised TB; population category such as adults compared with children and all age groups; sample size (≤ 500 or >500) and TB prevalence per 100,000 population were not significantly associated with HIV prevalence in TB (Table 5). However, significant variation was found for the geographical region (Central or other regions) and HIV prevalence per 100,000 population. These variables accounted for variation, measured by R² as follows: R²_{region}= 9.05%, P_{region}=0.021; R²_{HIV=} 7.87%, P_{HIV}= 0.011. A multivariable mixed-effects meta-regression model was fitted using geographical region and HIV prevalence per 100,000 population as covariates. These two variables accounted for 13.3% of the heterogeneity in the HIV prevalence in TB patients estimates (R²_{region+HIV=}13.3%, P_{region+HIV=} 0.0070).

Meta-regression co-efficient	95% CI	Р
(70)		
0.05	-0.36 to 0.46	0.81
0.05	0.50 10 0.40	0.01
Ref		
0.10	-0.32 to 0.52	0.47
0.04	-0.60 to 0.67	0.13
0.0003	-0.001 to 0.002	0.70
0.13	-0.26 to 0.52	0.51
-0.21	-0.60 to 0.17	0.30
		0.021*
Ref		
-0.44	-1.33 to 0.46	0.34
0.10	-0.86 to 1.06	0.84
-0.72	-1.63 to 0.21	0.12
	Meta-regression co-efficient (%) 0.05 Ref 0.10 0.04 0.0003 0.13 -0.21 Ref -0.44 0.10 -0.72	Meta-regression co-efficient 95% CI (%) -0.36 to 0.46 0.05 -0.36 to 0.46 Ref -0.32 to 0.52 0.04 -0.60 to 0.67 0.0003 -0.001 to 0.002 0.13 -0.26 to 0.52 -0.21 -0.60 to 0.17 Ref -0.44 -0.33 to 0.46 0.10 -0.86 to 1.06 -0.72 -1.63 to 0.21

Table 5. Univariate and multivariate meta-regression for the prevalence of HIV in TB patients

Population prevalence of HIV/AIDS per 100,000 population	0.0001	0.000 to 0.0002	0.011**
Multivariable meta-regression			
Geographical region			
Central	Ref		
Eastern	-0.40	-1.27 - 0.48	0.37
Southern	-0.09	-1.04 - 0.86	0.85
Western	-0.751	-1.65 - 0.14	0.10
Population prevalence of HIV/AIDS	0.0001	0.001 - 0.0002	0.046*
per 100,000 population			

Influence of study quality on HIV prevalence in TB patients

Sensitivity analysis was assessed by systematically removing outliers (high and lower prevalence) and low-quality studies. There was no material difference in the estimate of HIV prevalence [31.9% (95% CI 28.6 – 35.4) and 33.63% (95% CI 29.3 – 38.2)] when removing outliers and low-quality studies, respectively (Supplementary Table III).

Publication bias was assessed using a funnel plot (Figure 11). Each point represents an individual study. The points are distributed asymmetrically, indicating the likely existence of publication bias. However, Begg's test demonstrated non-significant publication bias (p = 0.2518).



Figure 11. Funnel plots for prevalence of HIV in TB patients in sub-Saharan Africa

Discussion

The overall pooled prevalence of HIV infection in TB patients in sub-Saharan Africa was 31.8% (95%CI; 27.8-36.1) with an apparent reduction from 33.7% (95%CI; 27.5-40.4) before 2000 to 25.7% (95C%; 17.6-36.0) after 2010. The Eastern and Southern sub-Saharan Africa region had a higher HIV prevalence [34.4% (95%CI; 29.3-34.4)] than the Western and Central sub-Saharan Africa region [27.3 % (95%CI; 21.6 -33.8)]. The prevalence of HIV dropped significantly in the Eastern and Southern sub-Saharan African region, from 38.15% (95%CI; 31.25-45.55) before 2000 to 18.87 % (95%CI; 11.01-30.42) after 2010, while it increased in Western and Central sub-Saharan African region over time, from 23.00 % (95%CI; 15.07-33.43) before 2000 to 31.5% (95%CI; 19.41-46.76) after 2010.

A previous meta-analysis of HIV/TB co-infection prevalence in countries excluding China (9) reported a lower prevalence (25%) than the present review. This is because our analysis included only studies conducted in the sub-Saharan region, where HIV prevalence is higher compared with regions included in the previous studies. However, WHO series of global TB reports showed that the incidence of HIV infection in Africa region has gradually decreased from 130 in 2000 to 75 per 100,000 population in 2016 (1).

Globally, HIV/AIDS and TB/HIV control measures have been strengthened, and services scaled up since 2000 (94). The prevalence of HIV in TB declined progressively in South-East regions, while it remains high in the West-Central part from before 2000 to the after 2010 (6). We argue that the discrepancy in the implementation of these activities explains our findings that HIV prevalence among TB patients varies across regions in sub-Saharan Africa.

The 2018 UNAIDS report indicated that in Eastern and Southern sub-Saharan Africa regions antiretroviral therapy (ART) coverage has increased from 26% in 2010 to 66% in 2017 (6), and in Western and Central region ART coverage has increased from about 14% in 2010 to 40% in 2017, which is lagging behind the rest of sub-Saharan Africa (23). Moreover, the high number of people who do not know their HIV status is a key barrier (95). Despite these gaps, huge decisive steps have been made towards meeting the 90-90-90 targets. In 2016, in the Eastern and Southern sub-Saharan Africa, almost all people living with HIV in the region, who were aware of their status were on treatment (95). Therefore, the substantial reduction in HIV prevalence among TB patients in the Eastern and Southern region is likely to be due to effective scaling up of HIV prevention and ART programmes among the general population in addition to other similar activities, including TB/HIV collaborative activities.

Our meta-regression analysis showed that the geographical region and population prevalence of HIV are sources of heterogeneity. Western sub-Saharan Africa region had a significantly lower prevalence of HIV in TB patients than Central, Eastern or Southern regions. Prevalence of HIV among TB patients is positively associated with HIV prevalence in the general population in countries of origin of the studies, which is consistent with a previous systematic review and successive WHO reports (1, 8, 96). However, these two variables explained only 13.3% of the heterogeneity. Other characteristics that were not reported in the original articles such as types of diagnostic tools for TB and HIV, types of HIV, types of TB, data collection methods, or study methods could cause this heterogeneity.

The findings of this study have significant practical relevance and implications toward achieving the goal of ending TB in line with the WHO's "End TB" Strategy (97). This is especially so for countries with high TB and HIV burden. The evidence that HIV prevalence among TB patients has fallen from the level before 2000 to that after 2010 in regions with high HIV prevalence and better HIV and TB/HIV response implies that the response has been effective. Countries and regions with high burdens of TB and HIV, which are lagging in response, need to strengthen their HIV and TB/HIV response packages. This is important to reduce the burden of HIV among TB patients and vice-versa (4).

The fast-tracking of the HIV response has been a focus of HIV high-burden countries mainly in South and East sub-Saharan Africa, while most countries in the Western and Central Africa region have neglected to provide an adequate response (98, 99). We argue, based on the results of this review, that fast-tracking the HIV response including TB/HIV collaborative activities in these sub-Saharan Africa regions would reduce the overwhelming double burden of these infections on the health care system (1). This review calls for strengthened HIV prevention, routine HIV testing, treatment, and care for TB patients in Western and Central regions in sub-Saharan Africa (4, 97, 100).

This review acknowledges the following potential limitations: (1) all published reports and articles might not have been included in our database search, particularly those in country-specific journals, leading to an underestimate or overestimate of the real regional burden; (2) the pooled prevalence of HIV is estimated among TB patients who have access to HIV testing in TB diagnostic and treatment health facilities and likely overestimates the real prevalence; (3) due to lack of specific prevalence data on types of TB, types of HIV, mean age and age group the pooled prevalence is not adjusted for these variables; (4) TB diagnostic methods and HIV testing methods also varied between studies and over time and by country. Thus, the findings from this review may not be generalizable to countries not included in this review. Nevertheless, the review has strengths: it identified 68 studies published from 1990 to 2017, which allowed us to pool results from 62,969 TB patients tested for HIV.

review provides evidence to enable countries in the sub-Saharan Africa region to evaluate their TB/HIV collaborative activities, mainly routine HIV testing, prevention, treatment, care and support, and to strengthen their efforts to achieve the goal of ending TB by 2035 and HIV by 2030.

Conclusion

Overall, the prevalence of HIV infection among TB patients has steadily declined in sub-Saharan Africa from 1990 to 2017. This reduction is most pronounced in Eastern and Southern sub-Saharan Africa regions, showing the effectiveness of the HIV response and extended TB/HIV collaborative activities in these regions. On the contrary, there was an increase in HIV prevalence in TB patients in the Western and Central regions of sub-Saharan Africa, where the response to HIV and TB/HIV has been relatively inadequate. Our systematic review and meta-analysis shed light on the significance of the HIV and TB/HIV response toward the goal of ending TB and HIV in sub-Saharan Africa and beyond.

Funding

No source of fund.

Compliance with Ethical Standards

Competing of interests: The authors declare no competing interest.

Ethical approval: This article does not contain any studies with human participants performed by any of the authors.

Reference

- 1. World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2017. WHO; 2017.
- 2. Jacobson LM, de Lourdes Garcia-Garcia M, Hernandez-Avila JE, et al. Changes in the geographical distribution of tuberculosis patients in Veracruz, Mexico, after reinforcement of a tuberculosis control programme. Trop Med Int Health. 2005;10(4):305-11.
- World Health Organization. Global tuberculosis report 2013: World Health Organization; 2013.
- 4. World Health Organization. WHO policy on collaborative TB/HIV activities: Guidelines for national programmes and other stakeholders. Geneva: WHO; 2014.
- 5. UNAIDS U. The gap report. Geneva, Switzerland. 2014.
- 6. UNAIDS. UNAIDS Data, 2018.
- 7. World Health Organization. Tuberculosis (TB) 2017; <u>http://www.who.int/tb/data/en/</u>.
- 8. Gao J, Zheng P, Fu H. Prevalence of TB/HIV co-infection in countries except China: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2013;8(5):e64915.
- Gao L, Zhou F, Li X, Jin Q. HIV/TB co-infection in mainland China: a meta-analysis. PLoS ONE. 2010;5(5):e10736.
- Corbett EL, Marston B, Churchyard GJ, De Cock KM. Tuberculosis in sub-Saharan Africa: opportunities, challenges, and change in the era of antiretroviral treatment. Lancet. 2006;367:926-37.
- 11. United Nations (UN) (2000). 'Millennium Summit (6-8 September 2000). 2000
- 12. World Health Organization. Towards universal access by 2010: how WHO is working with countries to scale-up HIV prevention, treatment, care and support. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2006.
- Wilkinson D, Davies GR. The increasing burden of tuberculosis in rural South Africa impact of the HIV epidemic. S Afr Med J. 1997;87(4):447-50.
- 14. Modesti PA, Reboldi G, Cappuccio FP, et al. Panethnic differences in blood pressure in Europe: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS ONE. 2016;11(1):e0147601.
- 15. Nliwasa M, MacPherson P, Gupta-Wright A, et al. High HIV and active tuberculosis prevalence and increased mortality risk in adults with symptoms of TB: a systematic review and meta-analyses. J of Int AIDS Soc. 2018;21(7):e25162.
- Barendregt JJ, Doi SA, Lee YY, Norman RE, Vos T. Meta-analysis of prevalence. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2013:jech-2013-203104.
- 17. Higgins J, Thompson SG. Quantifying heterogeneity in a meta-analysis. Stat Med. 2002;21(11):1539-58.

- Egger M, Smith GD, Schneider M, Minder C. Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. BMJ. 1997;315(7109):629-34.
- 19. Hampel FR, Ronchetti EM, Rousseeuw PJ, Stahel WA. Robust statistics: the approach based on influence functions, vol. 114. New York: Wiley; 2011.
- 20. Sutton AJ, Abrams KR, Jones DR, Jones DR, Sheldon TA, Song F. Methods for meta-analysis in medical research. Cgichester: Wiley; 2000.
- 21. Sterne JA, Egger M, Smith GD. Systematic reviews in health care: investigating and dealing with publication and other biases in meta-analysis. Br Med J. 2001;323(7304):101.
- 22. Begg CB, Mazumdar M. Operating characteristics of a rank correlation test for publication bias. Biometrics. 1994;50:1088 101.
- UNAIDS. AIDS data; 2017. <u>http://www.unaids.org/en/resources/aids_data</u>. Accessed 24 Oct 2017.
- 24. UN. Millennium Development Goals database; 2017. <u>https://data.worldbank.org/data-catalog/millennium-development-indicators</u>. Accessed 24 Oct 2017.
- 25. Viechtbauer W. Conducting meta-analyses in R with the metafor package. J Stat Softw. 2010;36(3):1-48.
- 26. Hailu K, Debrework Z, Bekure D, et al. The prevalence of HIV-1 antibodies in 106 tuberculosis patients. Ethiop J Health Dev. 1990;4(2):197-200.
- 27. De Cock KM, Gnaore E, Adjorlolo G, et al. Risk of tuberculosis in patients with HIV-I and HIV-II infections in Abidjan. Ivory Coast. BMJ. 1991;302(6775):496-9.
- Migliori GB, Borghesi A, Adriko C, et al. Tuberculosis and HIV infection association in a rural district of northern Uganda: epidemiological and clinical considerations. Tuber lung Dis. 1992;73(5):285-90.
- Pozniak AL, MacLeod GA, Mahari M, Legg W, Weinberg J. The influence of HIV status on single and multiple drug reactions to antituberculous therapy in Africa. Aids. 1992;6(8):809-14.
- 30. Chintu C, Bhat G, Luo C, et al. Seroprevalence of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection in Zambian children with tuberculosis. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 1993;12(6):499-504.
- Nunn P, Gathua S, Kibuga D, et al. The impact of HIV on resource utilization by patients with tuberculosis in a tertiary referral hospital, Nairobi, Kenya. Tuber Lung Dis. 1993;74(4):273-9.
- 32. Van den Broek J, Borgdorff M, Pakker N, et al. HIV-1 infection as a risk factor for the development of tuberculosis: a case-control study in Tanzania. Int J of Epidemiol. 1993;22(6):1159-65.

- Houston S, Ray S, Mahari M, et al. The association of tuberculosis and HIV infection in Harare, Zimbabwe. Tuber Lung Dis. 1994;75(3):220-6.
- 34. Luo C, Chintu C, Bhat G, et al. Human immunodeficiency virus type-1 infection in zambian children with tuberculosis: changing seroprevalance and evaluation of a thioacetazone-free regimen. Tuber Lung Dis. 1994;75(2):110-5.
- 35. Sassan-Morokro M, De Cock KM, Ackah A, et al. Tuberculosis and HIV infection in children in Abidjan, Cote d'Ivoire. Trans R Soc of Trop Med and Hyg. 1994;88(2):178-81.
- 36. Richards SB, St Louis ME, Nieburg P, et al. Impact of the HIV epidemic on trends in tuberculosis in Abidjan, Cote d'Ivoire. Tuber Lung Dis. 1995;76(1):11-6.
- 37. van Cleeff MR, Chum HJ. The proportion of tuberculosis cases in Tanzania attributable to human immunodeficiency virus. Int J Epidemiol. 1995;24(3):637-42.
- Chum HJ, O'brien RJ, Chonde TM, Graf P, Rieder HL. An epidemiological study of tuberculosis and HIV infection in Tanzania, 1991-1993. AIDS. 1996;10(3):299-310.
- Malkin JE, Prazuck T, Simonnet F, et al. Tuberculosis and human immunodeficiency virus infection in west Burkina Faso: clinical presentation and clinical evolution. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 1997;1(1):68-74.
- 40. Colvin M, Karim Abdool SS. HIV infection among patients with tuberculosis in KwaZulu/Natal, South Africa. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 1998;2(2):172.
- Karstaedt AS, Jones N, Khoosal M, Crewe-Brown HH. The bacteriology of pulmonary tuberculosis in a population with high human immunodeficiency virus seroprevalence. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 1998;2(4):312-6.
- 42. Churchyard GJ, Kleinschmidt I, Corbett EL, Mulder D, De Cock KM. Mycobacterial disease in South African gold miners in the era of HIV infection. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 1999;3(9):791-8.
- 43. Onipede A, Idigbe O, Ako-Nai A, et al. Sero-prevalence of HIV antibodies in tuberculosis patients in Ile-Ife, Nigeria. East Afr Med J. 1999;76(3):127-32.
- 44. Demissie M, Lindtjørn B, Tegbaru B. Human Immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection in tuberculosis patients in Addis Ababa. Ethiop J Health Dev. 2000;14(3).
- Madhi SA, Huebner RE, Doedens L, Aduc T, Wesley D, Cooper PA. HIV-1 co-infection in children hospitalised with tuberculosis in South Africa. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2000;4(5):448-54.
- Kiwanuka J, Graham SM, Coulter JB, Gondwe JS, Chilewani N, Carty H, et al. Diagnosis of pulmonary tuberculosis in children in an HIV-endemic area, Malawi. Ann Trop Paediatr. 2001;21(1):5-14.

- 47. Range N, Ipuge YA, O'Brien RJ, et al. Trend in HIV prevalence among tuberculosis patients in Tanzania, 1991-1998. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2001;5(5):405-12.
- 48. Bruchfeld J, Aderaye G, Palme IB, et al. Evaluation of outpatients with suspected pulmonary tuberculosis in a high HIV prevalence setting in Ethiopia: clinical, diagnostic and epidemiological characteristics. Scand J Infect Dis. 2002;34(5):331-7.
- 49. Moses A, Adelowo K, Ajayi B. Prevalence of HIV-1 infection among patients with leprosy and pulmonary tuberculosis in a semi-arid region, Nigeria. J R Soc Promot Health. 2003;123(2):117-9.
- 50. Odaibo GN, Gboun MF, Ekanem EE, et al. HIV infection among patients with pulmonary tuberculosis in Nigeria. Afr J Med Med Sci. 2006;35 Suppl:93-8.
- Gellete A, Kebede D, Berhane Y. Tuberculosis and HIV infection in southern Ethiopia. The Ethiop J Health Dev. 2017;11(1).
- 52. Daniel O, Salako A, Oluwole F, Alausa O, Oladapo O. HIV sero-prevalence among newly diagnosed adult pulmonary tuberculosis patients in Sagamu. Niger J Med. 2004;13(4):393.
- 53. Yassin MA, Takele L, Gebresenbet S, et al. HIV and tuberculosis coinfection in the southern region of Ethiopia: A prospective epidemiological study. Scand J Infect Dis. 2004;36(9):670-3.
- 54. Daniel O, Ogunfowora O, Oladapo O. HIV and tuberculosis co-infection in children: presentation and treatment outcome. Niger J Paediatr. 2005;32(4):83-7.
- 55. Ige OM, Sogaolu OM, Ogunlade OA. Pattern of presentation of tuberculosis and the hospital prevalence of tuberculosis and HIVco-infection in University College Hospital, Ibadan: a review of five years (1998 2002). Afr J Med Med Sci. 2005;34(4):329-33.
- Adjei AA, Adiku TK, Ayeh-Kumi PF, Hesse IF. Prevalence of human immunodeficiency virus infection among tuberculosis suspect patients in Accra, Ghana. West Afr J Med. 2006;25(1):38-41.
- 57. Salami AK, Katibi IA. Human immunodeficiency virus-associated tuberculosis: pattern and trend in the University of Ilorin Teaching Hospital. Afr J Med Med Sci. 2006;35(4):457-60.
- 58. Daniel OJ, Ogunfowora OB, Oladapo OT. HIV sero-prevalence among children diagnosed with TB in Nigeria. Trop Doc. 2007;37(4):268-9.
- 59. Kassu A, Mengistu G, Ayele B, et al. HIV and intestinal parasites in adult TB patients in a teaching hospital in Northwest Ethiopia. Trop Doc. 2007;37(4):222-4.
- Range N, Magnussen P, Mugomela A, et al. HIV and parasitic co-infections in tuberculosis patients: a cross-sectional study in Mwanza, Tanzania. Ann Trop Med Parasitol. 2007;101(4):343-51.

- 61. van der Werf MJ, Sebhatu M, Weldegergis T, Tesfazion A, Borgdorff MW. TB-HIV coinfection in Eritrea. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2007;11(7):823-6.
- 62. Chakaya J, Uplekar M, Mansoer J, Kutwa A, Karanja G, Ombeka V, et al. Public-private mix for control of tuberculosis and TB-HIV in Nairobi, Kenya: outcomes, opportunities and obstacles. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2008;12(11):1274-8.
- 63. Datiko DG, Yassin MA, Chekol LT, Kabeto LE, Lindtjorn B. The rate of TB-HIV co-infection depends on the prevalence of HIV infection in a community. BMC Public Health. 2008;8:266.
- 64. Mwinga A, Mwananyambe N, Kanene C, Bulterys M, Phiri C, Kapata N, et al. Providerinitiated HIV testing and counseling of TB patients -Livingstone District, Zambia, September 2004-December 2006. MMWR: Morby Mortal Wkly Rep. 2008;57(11):285-9.
- 65. Odhiambo J, Kizito W, Njoroge A, et al. Provider-initiated HIV testing and counselling for TB patients and suspects in Nairobi, Kenya. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2008;12(3 Suppl 1):63-8.
- 66. Sume GE, Etogo D, Kabore S, Gnigninanjouena O, Epome SS, Metchendje JN.
 Seroprevalence of human immunodeficiency virus infection among tuberculosis patients in the Nylon district hospital tuberculosis treatment centre. East Afr Med J. 2008;85(11):529-36.
- 67. Ayenew A, Leykun A, Colebunders R, Deribew A. Predictors of HIV testing among patients with tuberculosis in North West Ethiopia: a case-control study. PLoS ONE. 2010;5(3):e9702.
- 68. Erhabor O, Jeremiah Z, Adias T, Okere C. The prevalence of human immunodeficiency virus infection among TB patients in Port Harcourt Nigeria. HIV/AIDS (Auckland, NZ). 2010;2:1.
- 69. Pennap G, Makpa S, Ogbu S. Sero-prevalence of HIV infection among tuberculosis patients in a rural tuberculosis referral clinic in northern nigeria. Pan Afr Med J. 2010;5:22.
- 70. Dagnra A, Adjoh K, Tchaptchet HS, Patassi A, Sadzo HD, Awokou F, et al. Prevalence of HIV-TB co-infection and impact of HIV infection on pulmonary tuberculosis outcome in Togo. Bull Soc Pathol Exot. 2011;104(5):342-6.
- 71. Kamenju P, Aboud S. Tuberculosis-HIV co-infection among patients admitted at Muhimbili National hospital in Dar es salaam, Tanzania. J Health Res. 2011;13(1):25-31.
- 72. Ligidi T, Gebre-Selassie S, Tsegaye A. The immunological status of newly diagnosed tuberculosis patients co-infected with human immunodeficiency virus-1 in Adama Hospital, Ethiopia. Ethiop Med J. 2011;49(2):75-83.
- 73. van't Hoog AH, Laserson KF, Githui WA, et al. High prevalence of pulmonary tuberculosis and inadequate case finding in rural western Kenya. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2011;183(9):1245-53.

- 74. Nyamogoba HDN, Mbuthia G, Mining S, Kikuvi G, Biegon R, Mpoke S, et al. HIV coinfection with tuberculous and non-tuberculous mycobacteria in western Kenya: Challenges in the diagnosis and management. Afr Health Sci. 2012;12(3):305 -11.
- 75. Teklu T, Belyhun Y, Tesfaye S, Medhin G. Trends of tuberculosis and HIV infections between 2004 and 2008 in Wolaita Sodo, southern Ethiopia. Ethiop Med J. 2012;50(1):1-11.
- 76. Valadas E, Gomes A, Sutre A, et al. Tuberculosis with malaria or HIV co-infection in a large hospital in Luanda, Angola. J Infect Dev Ctries. 2013;7(3):269-72.
- 77. Kebede W, Keno F, Ewunetu T, Mamo G. Acceptance of provider initiated HIV testing and counseling among tuberculosis patients in East Wollega administrative zone, Oromia regional state, western Ethiopia. Tuberc Res Treat. 2014. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/935713</u>.
- Keflie TS, Ameni G. Microscopic examination and smear negative pulmonary tuberculosis in Ethiopia. Pan Afr Med J. 2014;19:162.
- 79. Kishimba RS, Mghamba J, Mmbaga VM. Trend of HIV infection among pediatric tuberculosis patients in Tanzania, 2006-2010. Int J Infect Dis. 2014;21:125.
- Mihret A, Bekele Y, Aytenew M, et al. Human immunodeficiency virus infection among new smear positive pulmonary tuberculosis patients in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. Ethiop Med J. 2014; 2014 (Suppl 1):1-6.
- 81. Belay M, Bjune G, Abebe F. Prevalence of tuberculosis, HIV, and TB-HIV co-infection among pulmonary tuberculosis suspects in a predominantly pastoralist area, northeast Ethiopia. Global Health Action. 2015;8:27949.
- 82. Namme LH, Marie-Solange D, Bertrand MNH, Elvis T, Achu JH, Christopher K. Extrapulmonary tuberculosis and HIV coinfection in patients treated for tuberculosis at the Douala General Hospital in Cameroon. Ann Trop Med Public Health. 2013;6(1):100.
- Yadeta D, Alemseged F, Biadgilign S. Provider-initiated HIV testing and counseling among tuberculosis patients in a hospital in the Oromia region of Ethiopia. J Infect Public Health. 2013;6(3):222-9.
- Denegetu AW, Dolamo BL. HIV screening among TB patients and co-trimoxazole preventive therapy for TB/HIV patients in Addis Ababa: facility based descriptive study. PLoS ONE. 2014;9(2):e86614.
- 85. Linguissi LS, Mayengue PI, Sidibe A, et al. Prevalence of national treatment algorithm defined smear positive pulmonary tuberculosis in HIV positive patients in Brazzaville, Republic of Congo. BMC Res Notes. 2014;7:578.

- 86. Gomerep SS, Eze UA, Chiegboka LO, Olanipekun TO, Ezeudu CC, Shityo T, et al. Sputum Smear Pattern among patients Diagnosed with Pulmonary Tuberculosis in Makurdi, North Central NIGERIA. Niger J Med. 2015;24(3):201-6.
- Ojiezeh TI, Ogundipe OO, Adefosoye VA. A retrospective study on incidence of pulmonary tuberculosis and human immunodeficiency virus co-infection among patients attending National Tuberculosis and Leprosy Control Programme, Owo centre. Pan Afr Med J.. 2015;20.
- Gebrecherkos T, Gelaw B, Tessema B. Smear positive pulmonary tuberculosis and HIV coinfection in prison settings of North Gondar Zone, Northwest Ethiopia. BMC Public Health. 2016;16(1):1091.
- Ranti KO, Glory AO, Victoria BT, Isaac KO. Prevalence of HIV infection among tuberculosis patients in a teaching hospital in south-west Nigeria: A four-year retrospective study. HIV Rev. 2016;15(4):136-40.
- 90. Tarekegne D, Jemal M, Atanaw T, et al. Prevalence of human immunodeficiency virus infection in a cohort of tuberculosis patients at Metema Hospital, Northwest Ethiopia: a 3 years retrospective study. BMC Res Notes. 2016;9(1):192.
- 91. Chanda-Kapata P, Kapata N, Klinkenberg E, Grobusch MP, Cobelens F. The prevalence of HIV among adults with pulmonary TB at a population level in Zambia. BMC Infect Dis. 2017;17(1).
- 92. Chinedu K, Takim AE, Obeagu EI, Chinazor UD, Eloghosa O, Ojong OE. HIV and TB coinfection among patients who used Directly Observed Treatment Short-course centres in Yenagoa, Nigeria. IOSR J Pharm Biol Sc. 2017;12(4):70-5.
- 93. Osei E, Der J, Owusu R, Kofie P, Axame WK. The burden of HIV on Tuberculosis patients in the Volta region of Ghana from 2012 to 2015: Implication for Tuberculosis control. BMC Infect Dis. 2017;17(1):504.
- 94. World Health Organization. Strategic framework to decrease the burden of TB/HIV. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2002.
- 95. MSF. Out of focus: how millions of people in West and Central Africa are being left out of the global HIV response; 2016.
- 96. World Health Organization. Global tuberculosis report 2016; 2016.
- 97. Uplekar M, Weil D, Lonnroth K, Jaramillo E, Lienhardt C, Dias HM, et al. WHO's new End TB Strategy. Lancet. 2015;385(9979):1799-801.
- 98. UNAIDS, Fast-track. Ending the AIDS epidemic by 2030. UNAIDS, Geneva. 2014.

- 99. Medecins Sans Frontires. How millions of people in west and central Africa are being left out of the global HIV response: MSF; April 2016.
- Harries AD, Boxshall M, Phiri S, Kwanjana J. Managing HIV and tuberculosis in sub-Saharan Africa. Lancet. 2006;367(9525):1817-8.

Chapter 6 Socio-demographic Profiling of Tuberculosis Hotspots in Ethiopia: 2014 – 2017

Context of the Chapter

This Thesis starts by exploring the spatial distributions of TB in northwest Ethiopia, where the highest (30 per cent) proportion of people living with HIV were reported. This chapter explores the spatial distribution of TB and profiles the socio-demographic characteristics of the observed TB clusters (i.e. hot-spots, outliers and not significant), as well as the rate of HIV, in Amhara region, Ethiopia. This chapter highlights variation in TB notifications by altitude, to concur with the findings in Chapter 4.

Gelaw YA, Williams G, Assefa Y, Asressie M, Soares Magalhães RJ. Sociodemographic profiling of tuberculosis hotspots in Ethiopia, 2014–2017. Transactions of The Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene. 2019 Apr 16;113(7):379-91.

https://academic.oup.com/trstmh/article/113/7/379/5466139

This chapter is published in the Journal of Trans. R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg. The idea of the manuscript was conceptualized and designed by me, with advice from my supervisor Associate Professor Ricardo J Soares Magalhães, Dr Yibeltal Assefa and Professor Gail Williams. I analyzed with feedback from Professor Ricardo J Soares Magalhães and Professor Gail Williams. I drafted the manuscript, with editorial feedbacks from Associate Professor Ricardo J Soares Magalhães, Dr Yibeltal Assefa and Professor Gail Williams. I drafted the manuscript, with editorial feedbacks from Associate Professor Ricardo J Soares Magalhães, Dr Yibeltal Assefa and Professor Ricardo J Soares Magalhães, Dr Yibeltal Assefa and Professor Ricardo J Soares Magalhães, Dr Yibeltal Assefa and Professor Ricardo J Soares Magalhães, Dr Yibeltal Assefa and Professor Ricardo J Soares Magalhães, Dr Yibeltal Assefa and Professor Gail Williams.

Abstract

Background: Tuberculosis (TB) notification rates vary across regions in Ethiopia and districts within the Amhara region. The Amhara Region is one of the main TB hotspot regions in the country. In this study, we identified the spatial distribution of TB and characterised the socio-demographic factors of spatial clusters in Amhara region, Ethiopia.

Methods: An ecological spatial analysis of TB notifications from 2014 to 2017 was conducted to quantify the presence and location of spatial clusters of TB notifications at the district level within the Amhara region. Global Moran's *I* statistics and local Indicators of spatial association were used to explore the spatial clustering of TB notifications. Notifications from hotspots and low-risk districts were compared using analysis of variance and Classification and Regression Tree analysis to identify significant socio-demographic factors. The geographic information system and 'sp' packages of R software were used for spatial analysis.

Results: From 2014 to 2017, the average notification rate of all forms of TB in Amhara region was 107/100 000 population (range 18-614 per100 000 population). District-level TB notification rates were positively spatially autocorrelated, with Moran' I value ranging from 0.207 to 0.276 (p=0.01). Hotspot TB clusters were found in the northwest and central part of the region. The proportion of migrants was found to be the most important factor associated with hotspot TB clustering.

Conclusion TB notification rates in the Amhara region of Ethiopia over the past 4 y were significantly clustered. Distinguishing high-risk areas from low-risk areas and characterizing the proportion of migrants and other risk factors is important for targeted TB prevention and control in the region.

Keywords: Amhara, Ethiopia, hotspots, sociodemographic, spatial, tuberculosis (TB),

Introduction

Tuberculosis (TB) remains a public health concern in Africa, despite a steady decline in a few countries. (1) Globally, the magnitude of TB differs markedly by geographical area, with noticeable heterogeneity within and among continents. (2-4) The risk of infection and incidence is higher in poor and remote areas. (2, 5)

TB is one of the major public health problems in Ethiopia and is the third-highest cause of death among communicable, maternal, neonatal and nutritional diseases leading to hospital admission and death (6, 7). Ethiopia is listed among the 30 highest TB burden countries with an estimated annual incidence of 177 (range 125-239) per 100, 000 population (2). The TB prevention and control program, combined with leprosy prevention and control, came into effect in 1994 under the Directly Observed Treatment-Short course (DOTS) strategy (8). The strategy was expanded to a community TB control program, under a health extension program (HEP) package for increasing health-seeking behaviour and active case detection and improving treatment adherence (9, 10).

The program to combat TB in Ethiopia focuses on expanding treatment to primary health care units and increasing active case detection rate through the expanded innovative HEP linked with the existing community-based teams working on promotive and preventive health approaches (11, 12). The HEP has four components and sixteen packages, of which TB control and prevention is one package under disease prevention and control component (13).

The national Ethiopian TB prevalence survey report (14) and the 2015 national TB program report (6) showed regional disparities in TB case notification. For example, it identified high (>200/100,000) TB case notification rates in urban areas (Dire Dawa, Addis Ababa, Harari) compared to the Somali region which reported 100 TB cases per 100,000 population, far lower than the national level. The notification rate is high in the Amhara and Tigray agrarian regions. Nevertheless, the TB control and prevention program deploys similar interventions across all settings regardless of the burden of TB. Regional variation in risk of infection, transmission and TB disease is likely to be associated with sociodemographic disparities among districts within Amhara. These factors include social status, access to service and demographic factors including age, education, household crowding, poor air ventilation, migrants, and urbanization (15-19).

Lack of access for TB diagnosis and treatment is still a barrier for the TB control program in Ethiopia, particularly in regions where the majority of the population live in rural areas such as Amhara regional state (20). Only 40 % (722) of the total 1780 (health centres and hospitals) provide sputum smear microscopy diagnosis and TB treatment service (21). Understanding the spatial clustering of the disease within the Amhara region and identifying socio-demographic factors that differentiate high-

risk from low-risk areas will help the national program meet the End TB strategy milestones by 2020 by facilitating targeting of high-risk areas more effectively (22). Identification of TB hotspots by profiling socio-demographic factors, access to health service, and housing conditions as well as assessing the attributable proportion of HIV could form the basis for targeted prevention and control of TB within geographic units in the region.

In some geographical regions of the country including the Amhara region, studies have found clustering of TB (16, 23-25) and multi-drug resistant TB (MDR-TB) (15), generally around urban areas and national borders. In north-west Ethiopia, an association has been shown between paediatric TB spatial clustering and low education, internal migrants, rainfall and temperature (26). A complete spatial analysis identifying the extent of socio-demographic factors influencing TB hotspot clusters will assist TB prevention and control in the region. Socio-demographic factors in this chapter include sex (male), educational status, residence (urbanization), population movement, population density, housing conditions (indoor air pollution, room crowding), employment status and productive population group. We are not aware of any published studies that have included all districts in the Amhara region to examine TB clustering to identify areas to be targeted.

In this study, we characterise the spatial distribution of TB in the Amhara region and profile the sociodemographic characteristics of spatial clusters.

Methods

Study Setting and Design

This study conducted in the Amhara region in Northwest Ethiopia, located in the tropics between 9° and 13° 45' N and 36° and 40° 30' E. In 2017, according to the Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia Central Statistics Agency (CSA) population projections, the Amhara region has a population of over 21 million distributed across nine administrative zones (second-level administrative units) and two special zones (27). The zones are subdivided into a total of 139 districts, which are in turn subdivided into 3379 *kebeles* (small administrative units) covering approximately 2,000 square kilometres (28). A map of the districts of the Amhara region was obtained showing administrative boundaries using a polygon shapefile was obtained from the Open Africa website (29) (Figure 3). All spatial information was projected using Adindan_UTM_Zone_37N, which is the coordinate system in Africa. Eleven administrative towns not included in the polygon shapefile: Dessie, Kombolcha, Gondar, Kemise, Debre Markos, Woldia, Debre Tabor, Debre Berhan, Bahir Dar, Injibara, and Finote Selam, were merged back into their districts.

The Amhara region consists of three major geographical zones; highlands (above 2,300 metres above sea level), semi-highlands (1,500 to 2,300 metres above sea level) and lowlands (below 1,500 metres

above sea level), with an altitude range of 500 to 4,620 metres. The mean altitude of each district was extracted from the ASTER Global Elevation mode (30). The region's climate has four seasons; summer (rainy season) from June to August, autumn from September to November, Bega winter (dry season) from December to February and spring from March to May (31). However, the periods of official TB notification reports (Quarters 1 to 4) does not correspond to the climatic seasons; this temporal mismatch does not enable us to directly investigate the effect of season on TB in the study area.

Case definitions of Tuberculosis notifications

We conducted a retrospective ecological study of notified TB cases reported via the health management information system (HMIS) over four years from 2014 to 2017. The geographical unit of analysis was the district, for which both the regular disease surveillance and national census data can be linked and geo-referenced.

According to the revised version of Federal Ministry of Health Ethiopia Tuberculosis, Leprosy and TB/HIV Prevention and Control Programme manual, a case is a person who presents with symptoms and/or signs suggestive of tuberculosis and /or suspected TB. These include a cough for two weeks or more that has been bacteriologically confirmed or diagnosed by an experienced medical officer defined as a TB case. Cases are further classified according to the site of a lesion: pulmonary tuberculosis (smear-positive and negative) and extrapulmonary TB (EPTB). All types of TB were registered and reported quarterly in each of the district health centres that provide TB diagnosis and treatment and defined as prevalence ratio (called TB notifications here-after), the end-point of interest for this study.

Demographic information was available for each notified case by age and sex of the patient. Rates of annual and quarterly-notified TB cases (equating notifications to cases) for each specific year were calculated by dividing the reported number of cases (all forms of TB) by the corresponding population size multiplied by 100,000 to obtain a rate per 100,000 population.

Ecological socio-economic and demographic variables

Low educational status, non-standard housing, unemployment and population density favour an increased risk of TB transmission and reactivation of latent infection (32, 33). To compare TB hotspot districts on socio-demographic and economic factors, we obtained district-level data from the most recent Ethiopian Census report census collected in 2007 (28). District level socio-demographic variables included for analysis were defined in Table 6.

Variables	Definition
Socio-demographic and eco	nomic factors
Urbanization (%)	The number of permanently residing individuals in the urban
	centres divided by the total population in each district.
Population density (n)	The population of the town/district divided by the surface area
	(Km ²) of the town/district.
Male population (%)	The total male population of the town/district divided by the total
	population of the town/district.
No schooling (%)	The population 5-years and older of the town/district who had
	never attended school divided by the total population of the town/
	district.
Migrants (%)	The population of the town/district that does not have a permanent
	residency in the town/district divided by the total population of
	each town/district.
Room crowding (n)	The number of people living in a room of the town/district divided
	by the total number of rooms in all houses in the town/district.
Not- active economically (%)	The population 10 years and older of the town/district who have neither engaged in nor are available for the production of economic goods and services divided by the total population 10-years and older of the town/district.
Unemployment (%)	The population 10 years and older of the town/district who were
	economically active people in the town/ district.
Indoor air pollution (%)	The population in the town/district who used charcoal, firewood and dung for cooking divided by the population of the town/district.

Table 6. District level ecological socio-demographic and economic factors

Co-morbidities and health service factors

HIV weakens the immune system, increasing the risk of TB in people with HIV. To explore the effect of the burden of HIV/AIDS in relation to TB notification and spatial clustering, the proportion of people living with HIV/AIDS (PLHIV) and the proportion of PLHV enrolled for chronic care (ART), and other health service factors were included in the analysis Table 7.

Table 7.District level comorbidities and health service factors

Variables	Definition				
PLHIV per 1000	The number of PLHIV or ever enrolled for HIV care in the				
	town/district per 1000 of the population living in the				
	town/district.				
PLHIV on ART (%)	The number of PLHIV in the town/district who had ever been				
	enrolled on ART per 100 of the PLHIV in the town/district.				
Access to health facility (%)	The number of health facilities (only governmental health				
	centre and hospitals) in the town/district per 100 of the				
	corresponding catchment population in the town/district.				
Graduate households (%)	The number of graduate households that fulfilled all health				
	extension packages and were certified for completion of all				
	sixteen packages) in the town/district per 100 of the total				
	number of households in the town/district.				

Spatial analyses of TB notifications

Spatial analyses of TB notifications in the districts were divided into three phases. Firstly, district boundaries were geo-referenced and linked to the district TB notification rate per year and choropleth maps were developed for visualisation using GIS tools of the ArcGIS software version10.3.1 (ESRI Inc. Redlands, CA, USA).

Secondly, global Moran's *I* test of spatial clustering was used to statistically explore the presence of geographical clustering of TB in the region for each year (34). A spatial weight matrix was used to specify the spatial relationships of the districts. We defined neighbours using first-order Queen's contiguity, whereby districts sharing borders or a common vertex with each another was considered neighbours. Spatial lag one was chosen to describe the global clustering after investigating spatial autocorrelation at higher-order spatial lags. The significance of Moran's *I* was assessed using Monte Carlo randomization techniques. The weight matrices were defined using 'nb2listw' functions of R software.

Thirdly, Local Indicators of Spatial Analysis (LISA) were used to detect TB clustering. The LISA analysis led to the classification of districts into five classes: high-high (hotspot), low-low (LL), low-high (LH), high-low (HL) and not significant. The hotspot and low-low locations suggest clustering of similar areas, whereas the high-low and low-high locations indicate spatial outliers. A high-low spatial outlier describes a location where there is a mixture of high and low scores in neighbouring areas (35). The outliers (high-low and low-high TB cluster districts) also have epidemiological

significance for TB prevention and control as high-high and low-low cluster districts. High-high clusters indicate districts with high rates of TB notifications surrounded by others also with high rates of TB. High-low clusters indicate a location with a high incidence of notified TB cases sharing borders with locations with low incidence so that infection can be disseminated from the high incidence location to the low incidence locations. Low-high clusters indicate a location with low TB incidence sharing borders with locations with high TB incidence so that areas of low TB incidence can be a receptor of infection. The package 'sp' of the statistical software R was used to perform Moran's *I* and LISA (version 3.3.3, the R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Australia). Finally, descriptive summary statistics for all districts were computed for all variables and profiling of hotspots of TB using the average TB notification data between the year 2014-and-2017.

Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to profile socio-demographic variables across the four LISA groups (HH, LH, LL, and not significant). Tukey's test was performed to adjust for multiple comparisons. Cohen's d was used to describe the relative strength of a variable in differentiating LISA groups. Cohen's d can be interpreted as small (d=0.2), medium (d=0.5) and large (d=0.8) (36, 37). The proportion of TB notification was reported using prevalence rate ratios (PRR). Attributable risk (AR) measured the excess rate of notified TB cases in hotspots (exposed) compared with non-exposed (the rate of notified TB cases in low-low, high-low and low-high) assuming risk factors to be homogenous in the region. Classification and Regression Tree (CART) analyses were used to identify those socio-demographic factors, which were the most important in terms of explaining TB clustering. This analysis used the *rpart* packages of R software.

Results

Descriptive analysis of TB case notification

There were 90,878 new TB cases reported in the ARHB from 2014 to 2017. The average numbers of TB cases and notification rate per year over the four years were 22,719 and 104 per 100,000 population, respectively. The annualized notification rate (range) of TB in 2014, 2015, 2016, and 2017 were 115 (18-568), 113 (27-614), 111 (28-547), and 102 (30-375) per 100,000 population, respectively. The prevalence rate ratio of TB decreased by 3.8% per year [PRR= 0.962; 95% CI; 0.956 - 0.968; p=0.001] (Figure 12).



Figure 12. Annual log (TB notification rate per 100 000 population) in the Amhara region, Ethiopia, 2014-2017

The average notification rate was higher in males (114 per 100,000 males vs 95 per 100,000 in females) and 161 per 100,000 in persons aged 15 years or more vs 13 per 100,000 in under-five children.

Spatial clustering of TB

The choropleth graph showed a clear spatial pattern across districts of the Amhara region over time (Figure 13). The highest rates were found in the northwest and central areas.



Figure 13. Geographical distributions of TB notification per 100 000 population in the Amhara Region, 2014-2017

The spatial explanatory data analysis indicated a significant spatial autocorrelation at the district-level TB notification rates. The Global Moran's *I* test found significant positive autocorrelation (p<0.001) in each year over the region (Table 8). The annual Moran's I values were relatively stable from 2014-2017 but peaked in 2015 and were lowest in 2016. Spatial autocorrelation was negative for higher-order adjacencies, thereby districts far away from the one of interest tend to have different notification rates (please see Appendix C: Supplementary material for Chapter 6).

Year	Moran's Index	P-value
2014	0.256	0.001
2015	0.276	0.001
2016	0.207	0.001
2017	0.233	0.001
2014-2017	0.253	0.001

Table 8. Moran's I of TB notification per 100 000 population in Amhara Region, Ethiopia, 2014-2017

In the LISA analysis, we observed statistically significant and consistent hotspot districts in four districts; Mirab Armacho, Tach Armacho, Metema, and Tsegede in each year. In addition, the Bahir Dar districts (in 2014), and the Quara districts in 2015 and 2017 were identified as hotspot districts. Delnta, Dewa Harewa, Jawi, Sayint, and Legambo districts had a high-low pattern, while Quara (in 2016), Alefa and Chilga found low-high clustering (Figure 14).



Figure 14. A cluster and outlier analysis of TB notification in the Amhara region, Ethiopia, 2014-2017

Seasonality of TB

We investigated the temporal trends of TB across notification periods (i.e. Quarter 1 to 4). Results indicated that TB notifications do not seem to follow a clear seasonality pattern except that the TB notification rate peaks in the 4th quarter (April to June) (Figure *15*).



Figure 15.Tuberculosis notification rate per 100 000 population in the Amhara region by a quarter over the period 2014 - 2017.

Socio-demographic profile of TB hot-spot districts

Data from the quarterly-based HMIS disease surveillance report indicated the mean (\pm SD) proportion of people with HIV ever enrolled in HIV care per 1000 population, and the mean proportion of PLHIV ever enrolled in chronic HIV care, and support (ART) were 7.5 (\pm 11.0) and 60.6(\pm 19.1), respectively. The average number of families per room was 2.8 (\pm 0.6) (Table 9).

Variable	Mean (±SD)	Range	LISA	Mean
			significance	
Population/Area Km ² (n)	134.34(65.33)	11.15 - 444.61	High-High	75.24
			Low-Low	123.78
			Low-High	90.06
			Not Significant	137.24
Urban residence (%)	9.96 (9.54)	0.00 - 56.57	High-High	27.99
			Low-Low	10.34
			Low-High	6.83
			Not Significant	9.24
Male population (%)	50.26(0.92)	48.35 - 54.84	High-High	52.11
			Low-Low	50.60
			Low-High	50.64
			Not Significant	50.17
Room crowding (n)	2.78 (0.63)	1.68 - 4.36	High-High	3.48
			Low-Low	2.56
			Low-High	3.94
			Not Significant	2.74
Internal migration (%)	6.26 (6.44)	1.53 - 49.60	High-High	25.35
			Low-Low	4.95
			Low-High	4.97
			Not Significant	5.50
Traditional Kitchen insider (%)	9.63(3.40)	1.951 - 19.24	High-High	1.97
			Low-Low	3.85
			Low-High	1.61
			Not Significant	3.51
Cooking with Charcoal (%)	2.87 (2.60)	0.11 - 14.47	High-High	9.02
			Low-Low	2.67
			Low-High	1.13
			Not Significant	2.63
Cooking with wood (%)	17.60(2.32)	7.28 - 21.70	High-High	21.73
			Low-Low	22.27

Table 9. Descriptive sociodemographic characteristics of districts by LISA groups in Amhara Region, Ethiopia, 2014-2017 (n=128)

			Low-High	18.01
			Not Significant	20.00
Cooking with dung (%)	15.65 (5.17)	1.11 - 24.02	High-High	6.73
			Low-Low	15.42
			Low-High	15.31
			Not Significant	16.02
PLHIV ever enrolled HIV care	7.46 (10.88)	0.37 - 74.43	High-High	26.07
per 1000 person				
			Low-Low	1.12
			Low-High	1.76
			Not Significant	6.80
PLHIV ever enrolled ART (%)	59.54 (15.36)	0.56 - 97.61	High-High	58.30
			Low-Low	9.15
			Low-High	69.77
			Not Significant	59.93
Access to Health Facility (%)	6.07 (2.35)	2.93 - 17.33	High-High	8.97
			Low-Low	4.74
			Low-High	2.93
			Not Significant	5.98
Graduate households (%)	85.55(19.01)	18.45 -100.00	High-High	66.34
			Low-Low	78.88
			Low-High	100.00
			Not Significant	86.28
Mean altitude (meter)	2074.93 (471)	743.20 - 3055.30	High-High	1156.94
			Low-Low	1764.34
			Low-High	1585.88
			Not Significant	2119.47

SD - standard deviation.

Source: The 2007 population and housing census of Ethiopia (reference citation 28) and TB and leprosy control program annual performance report, Amhara Regional Health Bureau from between 2014 and 2017.

Our results indicate that proportion of people living in urban areas (F=7.12, p=0.02), proportion of male (F=8.47, p=0.001), room crowding (F= 3.63, p= 0.015), use of charcoal for cooking (F=12.41, p=0.001), proportion of internal migrants for the last 5-years (F= 23.21, p=0.001), PLHIV per 1000 population (5.83, p=0.001), and health facility coverage (F= 3.48, p=0.018) were associated with

hotspot TB cluster districts. Mean use of dung for cooking (F= 5.76, p=0.001), proportion of ART (F=4.08, p=0.008) and mean altitude (F=8.46, p=0.001) were associated with non-hotspot districts (Table *10*).

Variable	F (3,124)	p-value	Cohen's d
Population/Area km ² (n)	1.63	0.186	0.4
Urban residence (%)	7.20	0.001	0.8
Male population (%)	8.47	0.001	0.9
Room crowding (n)	3.63	0.015	0.5
Internal migrants (%)	23.21	0.001	1.4
Traditional Kitchen insider (%)	2.50	0.063	0.4
Use charcoal for cooking (%)	12.40	0.001	1.0
Use wood for cooking (%)	2.52	0.061	0.4
Use dung for cooking (%)	5.76	0.001	0.7
PLHIV per1000 population	5.83	0.001	0.6
PLHIV ever enrolled ART (%)	4.08	0.008	0.2
Access to health facility (%)	3.48	0.018	0.4
Graduate households (%)	2.04	0.111	0.2
Mean altitude	8.46	0.001	0.9

Table 10. The mean difference and Cohen's d effect size estimates of the social demographic variables of TB notification in the Amhara region, Ethiopia, 2014-2017 (n=128)

Results of the Tukey multiple comparison post-hoc tests indicated a significant mean difference between districts classified hotspot and those classified as not hotspots with regard to proportion of people living in urban areas (t=-4.61, p = <0.001), mean of people living in a room (t=-2.67, p= 0.043), proportion of male population (t=-5.0, p=0.001), proportion of population who used charcoal for cooking (t=-6.05, p=0.001), proportion of internal migrants (t=-8.34, p=0.001), PLHIV per 1000 population (t=-4.1, p=0.001) and proportion of access to health facility (t=-2.86, p=0.025) (Table *11*).

Variable	Source of difference	Mean	Tuke	ey's T	Tukey 95% CI
		difference	Т	p> t	-
Urban residence (%)	LL vs HH	-17.63	-1.80	0.276	(-43.08, 7.82)
	LH vs HH	-21.17	-2.17	0.138	(-46.61, 4.28)
	Not significant vs HH	-18.76	- 4.61	0.001	(-29.36, -8.16)
Room crowding (n)	LL vs HH	-0.93	-1.38	0.512	(-2.67, 0.82)
	LH vs HH	0.46	0.69	0.902	(-1.28, 2.20)
	Not significant vs HH	-0.75	-2.67	0.043	(-1.47, -0.02)
Cooking with Charcoal (%)	LL vs HH	-6.35	-2.51	0.064	(-12.94, 0.25)
	LH vs HH	-7.90	-3.12	0.012	(-14.49, -1.30)
	Not significant vs HH	-6.45	-6.05	0.000	(-9.13, -3.64)
Male population (%)	LL vs HH	-1.53	-1.64	0.361	(-3.95, 0.90)
	LH vs HH	-1.47	-1.58	0.396	(-3.89, 0.96)
	Not significant vs HH	-1.95	-5.00	0.000	(-2.95, -0.93)
Cooking with dung (%)	LL vs HH	8.68	1.62	0.372	(-5.30, 22.67)
	LH vs HH	8.57	1.60	0.384	(-5.41, 22.56)
	Not significant vs HH	9.29	4.16	0.001	(3.47, 15.12)
Internal migrants (%)	LL vs HH	-20.39	-3.57	0.003	(-35.28, -5.51)
	LH vs HH	-20.38	-3.57	0.003	(-35.26, -5.50)
	Not significant vs HH	-19.85	-8.34	0.001	(-26.05, -13.65)
PLHIV per 1000 person	LL vs HH	-24.95	-2.21	0.126	(-54.37, 4.47)
	LH vs HH	- 24.31	-2.15	0.143	(-53.72, 5.11)
	Not significant vs HH	-19.27	-4.10	0.001	(-31.53, -7.02)
PLHIV on ART (%)	LL vs HH	-49.15	-3.04	0.015	(-91.28, -7.02)
	LH vs HH	11.46	0.71	0.893	(-30.67, 53.60)
	Not significant vs HH	1.63	0.24	0.995	(-15.93, 19.18)
Access to Health facility (%)	LL vs HH	-4.22	-1.69	0.335	(-10.75, 2.30)
	LH vs HH	-6.03	-2.41	0.800	(-12.56, 0.50)
	Not significant vs HH	-2.98	-2.86	0.025	(-5.70, -0.27)
Mean altitude	LL vs HH	607.40	1.28	0.580	(-631.98, 1846.79)
	LH vs HH	428.95	0.90	0.804	(-810.43, 1668.33)
	Not significant vs HH	962.53	4.85	0.000	(446.21, 1478.86)

Table 11. Multiple comparison test for sociodemographic census and HMIS variables of TB hotspots in Amhara Region, Ethiopia, 2014-2017 (n=128).

CART revealed the most important factor associated with hotspot TB clustering was the proportion of migrants. Districts with no migrants had a 6 % average hotspot TB clustering. The model summary shows deviance of 0.084, or root means square of 0.29 (29%), suggesting that the nodes identified to explain a good deal of the variation in TB hotspot clustering (for detail see supplementary Information II).

Notification rates of TB in hotspot, low-low, low-high and not significant TB clusters were 243.6, 43.7, 57.5 and 105 per 100,000 population, respectively. Hotspots accounted for about 244 cases per 100,000 population of notification (57.35%); however, only 0.13% of all TB cases in the population were attributable to the hotspots. Moreover, 9.6% and 6% of TB cases in the under-five and male populations were attributable to the hotspots, respectively (Table *12*).

Table 12. The attributable population fraction of TB case notification by spatial clusters in Amhara region, Ethiopia, 2014-2017(n=128)

Population	Exposure status	Cases	Population	Cumulative incidence (risk) per 100,000 population	The proportion of exposed cases	AR for exposed	AR (%)
Population							
(all age and sex)	Hotspots	2245	921726	243.6	0.002	0.573	0.13
	Others	20474	19679499	104			
	Total	22720	20601225	110.3			
Male	Hotspots	1280	506989	252.4	0.104	0.576	5.96
	Others	11073	10333329	107.1			
	Total	12353	10840318	113.9			
Female	Hotspots	966	508032	190.1	0.093	0.522	4.86
	Others	9404	10346624	90.9			
	Total	10370	10854656	95.5			
< 5 y of age	Hotspots	52	124139	42.1	0.135	0.713	9.62
	Others	335	2770056	12.1			
	Total	387	2894194	13.4			
	Hotspots	179	252626	71.1	0.103	0.613	6.3
5 – 15 y of age	Others	1565	5697818	27.5			
	Total	1744	5950444	29.3			
>=15 y of age	Hotspots	2014	630232	319.5	0.098	0.521	5.09
	Others	18578	12129875	153.2			
	Total	20592	12760107	161.4			

Discussion

Identifying TB hotspots, followed by characterization of socio-demographic determinants and risk factors can help inform targeted public health responses, making it an attractive approach for increasing the efficacy of community-level TB interventions (38). Our results indicate that while the annual TB notification rate was stable between 2014 and 2017, it was strongly spatially clustered in the north-western border of the Amhara region and in the Bahir dar zuria district surrounded by the capital city of the Amhara region. Furthermore, the findings of the study suggest that household crowding, the proportion of urbanization, proportion of the male population, migrants, PLHIV and health facility coverage are important factors that distinguish TB hotspot districts from non-hotspot districts in the Amhara region.

The findings of this study indicate that TB notification rates are geographically distributed in districts to the north-west of the Amhara region including the Mirab Armacho, Tach Armacho, Metema, and Tsegede districts, which border Sudan and Eritrea. This may be due to the intense agricultural activities in these areas, with potential to influence seasonal population movement (mainly male) that impacts on transmission and reactivation of TB. The risk of reactivation is high in the seasonal migrant population due to unhealthy conditions surrounding the migration process (15). Similar studies in Ethiopia have documented spatial clustering of TB notifications associated with the extent of migration and proportion of the male population (15, 16, 23-25, 39). Spatial profiling analysis also indicated that the amount of internal migration has a substantial effect on the occurrence of TB clusters (p=0.001). The Tukey posthoc report suggested a high proportion of migrants, mainly male population (p=0.001), were associated with hotspot TB clusters. Most of the population lived in rural areas, and it is believed that males are more likely to travel from place to place for employment (17). Concurrent to the population mobility, the quarter notification trends were peak during the harvesting season (April to June.)

Moreover, population movement is mostly within the district or across neighbouring districts, except for seasonal movement for day labour. These individuals often have no or little education, live in poorly ventilated housing, and do not access treatment, thereby increasing the risk of transmission (15). Previously documented TB incidence rates have been associated with living conditions and prolonged treatment (16, 40). Four hotspot areas are on the border of Sudan and Eretria, which supports findings of previous studies that TB is a cross-border public health problem that needs a regional and global solution (15, 41-43).

Transmission of TB often requires a prolonged duration of contact. Ongoing transmission is often worse in overcrowded areas, which may result in an unusual number of cases in a small region (44).

Our results also show that high-risk areas are characterised by overcrowding (p=0.015) and a high degree of urbanization (p=0.001) when compared with other regions. This finding is consistent with previous studies that showed spatial clustering of TB incidence is high in congested urban areas (16, 23). This may be due to economic reforms, many rural communities are living and working in urban areas, and the risk of TB is high in urban areas.

Furthermore, our results were consistent with previous studies suggesting that indoor air pollution increases the risk of TB (18, 45). In the present study, households using charcoal for cooking (p=0.001) were more likely to be hotspot TB areas. WHO household air pollution and health fact sheets (19) and other reports (18, 46) acknowledge the health risk of indoor air pollution. However, the mechanism of the association is not precise, and more studies are required to understand how air pollution is associated with TB.

In accord with previous findings, high TB incidence was clustered in areas with a high proportion of PLHIV who were ever enrolled in HIV care (p=0.001) (2, 26, 47-49). The proportion of PLHIV who were ever enrolled in ART (p=0.008) suggested a low clustering of TB notification. This is consistent with studies which showed that ART reduces the risk of HIV- associated TB in PLHIV (50, 51). Moreover, districts that had high health service coverage (p=0.018) were identified as hotspot TB clusters. This could be because good health-seeking behaviour and high case detection rates are associated with high HIV burden, population movement and urbanization.

In our finding, TB clustering was found at low altitudes. This might be explained by lower levels of crowding and population density at higher altitudes, and the resident is not staying indoors for long periods (52-55). In addition, UV-B exposure is higher at higher altitudes, leading to higher levels of vitamin D, which might enhance immune response and decrease consequent reactivation of TB (56, 57).

Several limitations could have affected our findings. Firstly, as data were aggregated at the district level, our results cannot be representative to small administrative units (such as *Kebele* or household), individual-level, or even current administrative units, since we combined some towns with their districts. Secondly, TB data were collected from the HMIS electronic surveillance system. Notified cases might not reflect the actual burden of the disease in an area. This is because the facility where a case is reported might not be the actual residence of the case and might just reflect the catchment area of the facility. This limitation affects the mean variation in the proportion of PLHIV on HIV care, and PLHIV enrolled on ART. Thirdly, suspected or symptomatic individuals who did not access TB diagnosis and treatment might remain unreported. Access to TB diagnosis and treatment may vary across districts leading to variation in reporting of TB notification.

Consequently, the data might not reflect the actual TB incidence. Finally, we used the 2007 census data to define TB hotspots with socio-demographic factors. In spite of these limitations, we believe the findings of this study are valid and will help towards focused interventions to achieve the End TB strategy since TB prevention and control program deploys similar interventions across all settings of the country.

In conclusion, despite an observed decline in notification rates between 2014 and 2017, our results demonstrate that TB notification rates were significantly clustered within districts in the Amhara region of Ethiopia. Ensuring access to TB diagnosis and treatment could contribute to declining incidence, scaling-up treatment adherence and strengthening TB control programs in the region. A geospatially guided TB control and prevention program, improving socio-demographic and economic factors, and increasing access to health facilities, focusing on high burden districts will be valuable for a targeted response towards the End TB milestones in Ethiopia.

Author's contribution

Design and implementation: YAG, GW, YA, MA& RSM Analysis and interpretations of data: YAG Major contributors to writing: YAG, GW, YA, & RSM Read and final approval version: YAG, GW, YA, MA & RSM

Acknowledgment

The authors would like to thank the Amhara Regional Health Bureau, Amhara Bureau of Economic Development, and Ethiopian Central Statistics Authority for providing access to the data to carry out this study.

Funding

None

Conflict of interest

None declared

Ethical approval

Ethical approval was obtained from the School of Public Health Ethics Committee School of Public Health, University of Queensland and permission to access data was obtained from the Amhara Regional Health Bureau.
Reference

- 1. World Health Organization; Ethiopia HIV Country Profile : 2016. 2017.
- 2. World Health Organization; Global tuberculosis report 2017. 2017.
- World Health Organization. Tuberculosis(TB). http://www.who.int/ith/diseases/tb/en/ (Date Accessed, date last accessed)
- Jacobson LM, de Lourdes Garcia-Garcia M, Hernandez-Avila JE, et al.; Changes in the geographical distribution of tuberculosis patients in Veracruz, Mexico, after reinforcement of a tuberculosis control programme. Trop Med Int Health 2005;10(4):305-11. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3156.2005.01392.x.
- Raviglione MC, Uplekar MW; WHO's new Stop TB Strategy. Lancet 2006;367(9514):952-5. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68392-X.
- 6. Democratic Republic of Ethiopia Ministry of Health; Health and Health Related indicators Health and Health Related indicators Addis Ababa: Ministry of Health, 2015.
- World Health Organization; Communicable diseases epidemiological profile for the Horn of Africa. Geneva: WHO 2007.
- 8. Volmink J, Garner P; Directly observed therapy for treating tuberculosis. The Cochrane Library 2007.
- Datiko DG, Yassin MA, Theobald SJ, et al.; Health extension workers improve tuberculosis case finding and treatment outcome in Ethiopia: a large-scale implementation study. BMJ global health 2017;2(4):e000390.
- 10. Wang H, Tesfaye R, NV Ramana G, et al. Ethiopia health extension program: an institutionalized community approach for universal health coverage: The World Bank, 2016.
- 11. Banteyerga H; Ethiopia's health extension program: improving health through community involvement. MEDICC Rev 2011;**13**(3):46-9.
- 12. Federal Ministry of Health; Health Extension Program in Ethiopia. In: Health Extension and Education Centers (ed). Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, 2007.
- 13. Workie NW, Ramana GN; The health extension program in Ethiopia. 2013.
- 14. 14. Federal Ministry of Health; Tuberculosis prevention and control program. Special issue for world TB day. Addis Ababa Ministry of Health 2011.
- 15. Alene KA, Viney K, McBryde ES, et al.; Spatial patterns of multidrug resistant tuberculosis and relationships to socio-economic, demographic and household factors in northwest Ethiopia. PloS one 2017;12(2):e0171800.
- Dangisso MH, Datiko DG, Lindtjørn B; Spatio-temporal analysis of smear-positive tuberculosis in the Sidama Zone, southern Ethiopia. PloS one 2015;10(6):e0126369.

- 17. McDowell C, De Haan A; Migration and sustainable livelihoods: A critical review of the literature. 1997.
- Sumpter C, Chandramohan D; Systematic review and meta-analysis of the associations between indoor air pollution and tuberculosis. Tropical medicine & international health 2013;18(1):101-108.
- 19. World Health Organization. Household air pollution and health. www.who.int/news-room/factsheets/detail/household-air-pollution-and-health (Date Accessed 2018 Accessed, date last accessed)
- Datiko DG, Yassin MA, Theobald SJ, et al.; Health extension workers improve tuberculosis case finding and treatment outcome in Ethiopia: a large-scale implementation study. 2017;2(4):e000390.
- Amhara Regional Health Bureau; TB and leprosy control program annual performance report. Bahirdar: Amhara Regional Health Bureau, 2017.
- 22. World Health Organization; On the road to ending TB: highlights from the 30 highest TB burden countries. 2016.
- 23. Alene KA, Viney K, McBryde ES, et al.; Spatiotemporal transmission and socio-climatic factors related to paediatric tuberculosis in north-western Ethiopia. Geospatial health 2017;**12**(2).
- Shaweno D, Shaweno T, Trauer J, et al.; Heterogeneity of distribution of tuberculosis in Sheka Zone, Ethiopia: drivers and temporal trends. The IJTLD 2017;21(1):79-85.
- Tadesse T, Demissie M, Berhane Y, et al.; The clustering of smear-positive tuberculosis in Dabat, Ethiopia: a population based cross sectional study. PLoS One 2013;8(5):e65022. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0065022.
- 26. Ahmed A, Mekonnen D, Shiferaw AM, et al.; Incidence and determinants of tuberculosis infection among adult patients with HIV attending HIV care in north-east Ethiopia: a retrospective cohort study. BMJ open 2018;8(2):e016961.
- 27. Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia Central Statistics Agency Population Projection of Ethiopia for All Regions at Wereda Level from 2014 2017. Addis Ababa: CSA, August 2013.
- 28. Population Census Commission; The 2007 population and housing census of Ethiopia. 2010.
- 29. Code for Africa. Shapefiles for Ethiopia's Administrative boundaries: Regions, Zones and Woredas. https://africaopendata.org/dataset/ethiopia-shapefiles (Date Accessed, date last accessed)
- 30. Land Processes Distributed Active Archive Center (LP DAAC). Routine ASTER Global Digital Elevation Model. https://lpdaac.usgs.gov/ (Date Accessed 2018 Accessed, date last accessed)

- 31. Amahar Regional State Finance and Economic Development; Amhara Region projected population size of 2005 E.C/2013 G.C. 2013.
- 32. Mahara G, Yang K, Chen S, et al.; Socio-Economic Predictors and Distribution of Tuberculosis Incidence in Beijing, China: A Study Using a Combination of Spatial Statistics and GIS Technology. Medical Sciences 2018;6(2):26.
- 33. Hannah HA, Miramontes R, Gandhi NR; Sociodemographic and clinical risk factors associated with tuberculosis mortality in the United States, 2009-2013. Public Health Reports 2017;132(3):366-375.
- 34. Lai P-C, So F-M, Chan K-W. Spatial epidemiological approaches in disease mapping and analysis: CRC press, 2008.
- 35. Ord JK, Getis A; Local spatial autocorrelation statistics: distributional issues and an application. Geographical analysis 1995;**27**(4):286-306.
- 36. Lakens D; Calculating and reporting effect sizes to facilitate cumulative science: a practical primer for t-tests and ANOVAs. Frontiers in psychology 2013;**4**:863.
- 37. Cohen J; Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences. 2nd. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum, 1988.
- 38. Netherlands P; Global strategy and targets for tuberculosis prevention, care and control after 2015.
- 39. Dangisso MH; Tuberculosis control in Sidama in Ethiopia. Programme performance and spatial epidemiology. 2016.
- 40. da Roza DL, Caccia MdCGG, Martinez EZ; Spatio-temporal patterns of tuberculosis incidence in Ribeirão Preto, Southeast Brazil, and its relationship with the social vulnerability. Revista da Sociedade Brasileira de Medicina Tropical 2012;45(5).
- 41. Cain KP, Marano N, Kamene M, et al.; The movement of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis across borders in East Africa needs a regional and global solution. PLoS medicine 2015;**12**(2):e1001791.
- Posey DL, Marano N, Cetron MS; Cross-border solutions needed to address tuberculosis in migrating populations. The ITLD 2017;21(5):485-486.
- Kistemann T, Munzinger A, Dangendorf F; Spatial patterns of tuberculosis incidence in Cologne (Germany). Social science & medicine 2002;55(1):7-19.
- 44. Verma A, Schwartzman K, Behr MA, et al.; Accuracy of prospective space–time surveillance in detecting tuberculosis transmission. Spatial and spatio-temporal epidemiology 2014;8:47-54.
- 45. Bruce N, Perez-Padilla R, Albalak R, et al.; The health effects of indoor air pollution exposure in developing countries. 2002.
- 46. Mishra VK, Retherford RD, Smith KR; Cooking with biomass fuels increases the risk of tuberculosis. 1999.

- 48. Belay M, Bjune G, Abebe F; Prevalence of tuberculosis, HIV, and TB-HIV co-infection among pulmonary tuberculosis suspects in a predominantly pastoralist area, northeast Ethiopia. Global health action 2015;**8**(1):27949.
- 49. Gudina EK, Gudissa FG; Prevalence of tuberculosis in HIV in Ethiopia in early HAART era: Retrospective analysis. The Pan African medical journal 2013;**14**.
- 50. Girardi E, Antonucci G, Vanacore P, et al.; Impact of combination antiretroviral therapy on the risk of tuberculosis among persons with HIV infection. Aids 2000;**14**(13):1985-1991.
- 51. Suthar AB, Lawn SD, Del Amo J, et al.; Antiretroviral therapy for prevention of tuberculosis in adults with HIV: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS medicine 2012;**9**(7):e1001270.
- 52. Campbell-Lendrum D, Pruss-Ustun A, Corvalan C; How much disease could climate change cause. Climate change and human health: risks and responses. Geneva: WHO 2003:133-158.
- 53. Fares A; Seasonality of tuberculosis. J Glob Infect Dis 2011;**3**:46-55. doi: 10.4103/0974-777X.77296.
- 54. Rao H-X, Zhang X, Zhao L, et al.; Spatial transmission and meteorological determinants of tuberculosis incidence in Qinghai Province, China: a spatial clustering panel analysis. Infectious diseases of poverty 2016;5:1.
- 55. Rieder HL. Epidemiologic basis of tuberculosis control: International Union Against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease (IUATLD), 1999.
- 56. Davies P; A possible link between vitamin D deficiency and impaired host defence to Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Tubercle 1985;**66**:301-6.
- 57. Olender S, Saito M, Apgar J, et al.; Low prevalence and increased household clustering of Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection in high altitude villages in Peru. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2003;68:721-7.

Chapter 7 Spatial clustering and socio-demographic determinants of HIV infection in Ethiopia, 2015 - 2017

Context of the Chapter

As described in Chapter 6, the spatial clustering of TB is detected in districts with a high burden of HIV. Having identified this, this chapter presents the spatial distributions of HIV and its associated factors for three years (2015 to 2017), with an emphasis on detecting spatial overlaps of HIV and TB. The importance of identifying areas of TB and HIV coexistence provides a platform to enhance integrated TB and HIV collaborative activities and joint interventions.

Gelaw YA, Magalhães RJ, Assefa Y, Williams G. Spatial clustering and socio-demographic determinants of HIV infection in Ethiopia, 2015–2017. International Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2019 May 1; 82:33-9.

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1201971219301110

This chapter is published in the Journal of Trans. R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg. The idea of the manuscript was conceptualized and designed by me, with advice from my supervisor Associate Professor Ricardo J Soares Magalhães, Dr Yibeltal Assefa and Professor Gail Williams. I conducted the analysis with feedback from Professor Ricardo J Soares Magalhães and Professor Gail Williams. I drafted the manuscript, with editorial feedbacks from Associate Professor Ricardo J Soares Magalhães, Dr Yibeltal Assefa and Professor Ricardo J Soares Magalhães, Dr Yibeltal Assefa and Professor Ricardo J Soares Magalhães, Dr

Abstract

Background: Amhara Region has the largest at-risk population in Ethiopia, with risky sexual practices that disproportionally increase the risk of HIV. However, the identification and characterization of HIV hotspots within this Region have not yet been undertaken. This study aimed to explore and describe the geographical pattern of HIV infection using notification data in Amhara Region, Ethiopia.

Methods: Data on HIV infection at the district level were obtained from the Amhara Regional Health Bureau. A Bayesian conditional autoregressive (CAR) model was used to explore the association between reported HIV infection and socio-demographic variables, using OpenBUGS software.

Result: A total of 35, 210 new HIV cases were reported during 2015-2017 in Amhara Region, Ethiopia. Metema and Mirab Armacho districts were found to be hotspots throughout the study period. There was a decrease in HIV infection in 2016 (odds ratio 0.77, 95% credible interval (CrI) 0.72 - 0.82) and 2017 (odds ratio 0.71, 95% CrI 0.60 - 0.76) as compared with HIV infection in 2015. Odds of HIV infection increased by 1.004 (95% CrI 1.001-1.008) and 1.47 (95% CrI 1.11 - 3.59) for a one-unit increase in the proportion of the population who never attended school and migrants, respectively.

Conclusions: This study identified spatial clustering of HIV infection in Amhara Region with a slight reduction in the annual infection rates from 2015 2017. The proportion of the population who were migrants or who had a low educational status was associated with a high risk of infection. Access to HIV counselling and the promotion of condom utilization, integrated with other health care services, and targeting seasonal migrants and those with a lower level of education, are important strategies for the prevention of new HIV infections.

Keywords: HIV, Spatial clustering, Socio-demographic, Amhara Region, Ethiopia

Introduction

Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) continues to be a major global public health problem (1). Globally, 36.9 million (31.1 million–43.9 million) people were living with HIV in 2017 (2). The burden of the epidemic varies considerably among countries and regions (3). The vast majority of people living with HIV (PLHIV) are in low- and middle-income countries (3, 4). In 2017, 50% (19.6 million) of PLHIV were living in eastern and southern Africa, and 1.8 million people were newly diagnosed with HIV (2).

In many high HIV prevalence settings, concerted measures have been taken to prevent and control HIV/AIDS since 2000 (1). However, many PLHIV remains undiagnosed or are diagnosed late, especially in Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA), where the burden of HIV is highest (5). In 2017, 34% of the total estimated PLHIV had no access to antiretroviral therapy (ART) (6). Hence, an accelerated and targeted response is needed to achieve the 90-90-90 targets by 2020, defined as follows: (1) 90% of all PLHIV will know their HIV status, (2) 90% of all people with diagnosed HIV infection will receive sustained ART, and (3) 90% of all people receiving ART will have viral suppression (7).

Ethiopia is one of the HIV high burden countries that has adopted the 90-90-90 fast-track targets (7). A recent study indicated that progress towards achieving the 2020 targets is on track: 79 % PLHIV know their status, 90 % PLHIV are on ART and 88% of PLHIV have suppressed viral loads (8). However, the prevalence of HIV and the incidence of new infections remain high (9). In 2017, the number of PLHIV was estimated to be 610,000 and the number of new HIV – infected people were estimated to be 16,000 (2). The national HIV prevalence in adults declined from 1.4 % in 2005 to 0.9 % in 2016 (10). However, there is a significant geographic variation in city administration and regional states, with the highest prevalence recorded in the Gambela Region (4.8%) and Addis Ababa City Administration (3.4%). This is followed by Dire Dawa City Administration (2.5%) and the regions of Harari (2.4%), Afar (1.4%), and Amhara (1.2%) (10).

Amhara Region is the second most populous and geographically diverse region in Ethiopia (11). It has a large number of most-at-risk populations for HIV (MARPs), such as truckers, migrant day labourers, and female sex workers (12). As reported in the Ethiopian Demographic and Health Survey (EDHS) 2016, there are marked differences in HIV risk behaviours and knowledge of HIV/AIDS prevention methods by region and city administration. Only 22% of women and 44% of men in the Amhara Region have a comprehensive knowledge of HIV. Additionally, it was estimated that, on average, 2.6 % women and 5.2 % of men had more than one sexual partner, disproportionately increasing the risk of HIV for men (10). Of note, in 2017, approximately 43% of the population had no access to HIV testing in Amhara Region (13).

The estimation of HIV infection rates and identification of areas with the highest HIV infection is, therefore, essential (14), especially in settings such as border and agricultural investment areas where unsafe sex is potentially more likely to be practised. This could assist in increasing access to HIV counselling and testing (HCT) services and targeting and prioritizing interventions (15).

This study aimed to explore and describe the geographical pattern of HIV infection from 2015 to 2017 using government reported notification data from the Amhara Regional Health Bureau, Ethiopia.

Methods

Geographical characteristics of the study setting

Amhara Region is the third-largest region in Ethiopia with an area covering 157, 127 km². The region is divided into 10 administrative zones and 167 districts (16). The district was used as the spatial unit of analysis.

The polygon shapefile obtained from the open Africa website was used to locate the districts (17). All spatial information was projected using Adindan_UTM_Zone_37N, which is the geo-coordinate system in Africa (Figure 3.1). Data from 15,222 HIV cases in 2015 10,059 in 2016 and 9,926 in 2017(all aged 15 years and above) obtained from the health management information system (HMIS) were geo-referenced. A total of 128 districts were included in the analysis.

Data sources

In 2016, there were 841 functional health centres and 68 hospitals providing health care (including HCT) in Amhara region, of which about 168 (20%) health centres provided HIV care and treatment services (13). In this study, regional data on HIV cases were obtained for the years 2015 to 2017 from HMIS, Ministry of Health, Amhara Regional Health Bureau. These data comprise HIV cases reported by health centres through district health offices to the zonal health department, which in turn reports to the regional health bureau every quarter.

New HIV infection notification rates were calculated by dividing the number of test-positive cases by the total population undergoing HCT, multiplied by 1,000 to obtain a rate per 1,000 population for each year in each district. Data were aggregated by age (< 1 year, 1-4 years, 5-9 years, 10-14 years, 15-19 years, 20-24 years, 25-49 years, \geq 50 years), sex and HCT approach (voluntary counselling and testing (VCT) and provider-initiated HIV counselling and testing (PICT)). Socio-demographic variables (proportions of those who were unemployed, never attended school or migrant) were obtained from the most recent Ethiopian Census reports, collected in 2007 (18).

HIV service delivery

In Ethiopia, two major models are implemented for HCT service delivery: health facility and community-based. The health facility-based model is the routine model, using client-initiated (voluntary) HIV testing and counselling (VCT) and provider-initiated HIV testing and counselling (PITC) approaches (19). HIV blood tests were done using KHB, STAT-PAK and Uni-Gold assays (20).

Spatial cluster analysis

Spatial analyses of HIV were conducted in two phases: First, district boundaries were geo-referenced and linked to the district HIV infection rates for 2015, 2016, 2017, and for 2015 -2017 and choropleth maps were developed for visualization. Global tests of geographical clustering of HIV in the region for each year were performed using spatial autocorrelation (Moran's *I* index) (21). A spatial weight matrix was used to specify the spatial relationships of districts. Neighbours were defined using inverse distance, whereby contiguous areas were considered neighbours. Negative values of Moran's *I* indicate an over-dispersed distribution, while positive values indicate clustering, with zero correspondings to a spatially random distribution (22).

Second, local indicators of spatial analysis (LISA) were used to identify locations with high rates of HIV and outlier districts. The significance of LISA statistics led to the classification of districts into five classes: high-high (hotspot); low-low (low rates of HIV infection surrounded by others also with low rates of HIV); low-high (low rates of HIV infection surrounded by others with high rates of HIV); high-low (high rates of HIV infection surrounded by others with low rates of HIV) and not significant (24). A separate LISA analysis was performed for each year. ArcMap software was used to generate maps of the spatial distributions (ESRI Inc. Redlands, CA, USA).

Data analysis

Three separate binomial regression models were constructed in a Bayesian framework using OpenBUGS software, version 3.2.3 (Medical Research Council Biostatistics Unit Institute of Public Health, Cambridge, UK). HIV infections for 2015-17 were used for modelling. The first model (model I), assumed that the odds ratio of HIV infection were not spatially correlated. This model was developed using sex, years, the proportion of migrants, proportion of those who had never attended school, the percentage of unemployed, and health facility coverage as explanatory variables, with unstructured random effects for districts. The second model (model II) added a spatially structured random effects. The final model (model III) contained both unstructured and spatially structured models. Model III assumed that the observed number of HIV cases (Y) for the ith district followed a binomial distribution with sample size (n) and true rate (p):

Y ~ Binomial (ni, pi), where pi = exp (α + β xi) / (1 + exp (α + β xi)

Logit (pi) = a + Ui + u [Loc[i]] + v [Loc[i]]

Ui= β 1*year2 [i] + β 2*year3 [i] + β 3*male[i] + β 4*School[i] + β 5*Unemploy[i]

+ β 6*Migrant[i] + β 7*HFcoverage[i]

where *Ui* is the mean log odds ratio (OR); α is the intercept; $\beta 1$, $\beta 2$, $\beta 3$, $\beta 4$, $\beta 5$, $\beta 6$, and $\beta 7$ are the coefficients for the year 2016, the year 2017, sex, percentage of illiterate, percentage of unemployment, percentage of new migrant and percentage health facility coverage, respectively; *ui* is an unstructured random effect with a mean zero and inverse variance $1/\sigma_u^2$ and *vi* is a spatially structured conditional autoregressive random effect (CAR) with mean zero and inverse variance $1/\sigma_v^2$. The CAR was defined using an adjacency matrix to determine the spatial relationships between districts. The adjacency matrix for each district was generated using the adjacency for WinBUGS add the tool of ArcGIS version 10.3.1. A weight of 1 was given if two districts were neighbouring and zero weight was given if two districts were not neighbouring. Two districts were neighbouring if they shared the same edges or corners (i.e. queen contiguity). Prior probability distributions for the coefficients (β) were assumed to have normal distributions with mean zero and precision (i.e. the inverse of the variance) equal to 10^{-6} . For the intercept (α) a flat prior distribution was used (i.e., a non-informative, improper prior with bounds -1 and +1). The precision of the unstructured and spatially structured random effects was assigned non-informative gamma distributions with shape and scale parameters of 0.001. See Supplementary material for further model details.

Posterior parameters were estimated from the prior distributions and the data likelihood functions using a Bayesian Markov Chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) simulation approach with Gibbs sampling, employed by Open BUGS version 3.2.3 rev 1012. After an initial burn-in of 1,000 iterations, the models were run for 200,000 iterations. For all models (as evidenced from visual inspection of posterior kernel densities and history plots), convergence occurred within the first 100000 iterations. Two hundred thousand values from the posterior distribution of each parameter were stored for summary measures such as the posterior mean, standard deviation and the 95% credible interval (CrI) for the odds ratio (OR). The deviance information criterion (DIC) was also used for model selection, whereby a lower DIC indicates a preferred model fit (model III).

Results

Descriptive

A total of 35, 210 new HIV infections were notified among 5469580 individuals aged 15 years and above who underwent HCT from July 2015 to June 2017. The annual notification rate for new HIV

infections was 6.63 per 1,000 tested adult population. The infection rate was higher in women (6.65) than in men (6.15) and highest in the 25 - 49 years age group (9.09) compared to the 15-24 years age group (2.9).

Spatial cluster analysis

Figure 1 shows the spatial distribution of HIV infections, with the highest notification rates detected in northwest, central, and eastern part of the Amhara Region. There was a significant spatial autocorrelation for HIV infection at the district level during the study period, except for 2016 (p = 0.07).



Figure 16. Annual HIV infection rates per 1000 HIV tested population in Amhara region, Ethiopia, 2015–2017.

Moran's *I* value indicated that the HIV infection rate was clustered in 2015, 2017, and for the whole period 2015 - 2017 (Table 1).

Table 13. Spatial autocorrelation analysis for annual HIV infection in Amhara Regional State, Ethiopia from 2015 to 2017

Year	Moran's I	P-value
2015	0.0506	0.046
2016	0.0432	0.077
2017	0.0948	0.001
2015-2017	0.0718	0.006

Maps from LISA analysis identified hotspots and outliers of HIV infection in Amhara region. From 2015 to 2017, HIV infection was mainly concentrated in Mirab Armacho district and Metema district, except in 2015. Guba Lafto, Kobo, Habru, and Gidan districts were additionally observed as hotspots in 2017 (Figure 7.2). The annual infection rate of HIV in hotspot districts (Metema, Mirab Armacho and Habru) during 2015-17 was 14.30 per 1000 tested population.



Figure 17. A local cluster and outlier analysis of HIV infection in Amhara region, Ethiopia: 2015–2017

Spatiotemporal model

When the three models were compared using the DIC, the convolution model (model III) which contained both unstructured and structured CAR random effects, was preferred (Table 2).

District-level variable	Model	IModel II(Structured) Model III (Unstructured			
	(Unstructured) OR (95%CrI)		and (Structured)		
	OR (95%CrI)		OR (95%CrI)		
Year_2016	0.76 (0.72, 0.81)	0.76 (0.71, 0.82)	0.77(0.72, 0.82)		
Year_2017	0.71 (0.66, 0.76)	0.71 (0.66, 0.76)	0.712 (0.66, 0.76)		
Male	0.97 (0.91, 1.03)	0.97 (0.91, 1.03)	0.97(0.91, 1.03)		
Education status illiterate (%)	1.004 (1.08, 1.66)	1.004 (1.00, 1.01)	1.004 (1.001, 1.01)		
Employment status unemployed	d1.01 (0.98, 1.02)	1.003 (0.98, 1.02)	1.003 (0.98, 1.023)		
(%)					
New migrant (%)	1.33 (1.08, 1.66)	1.104 (0.62, 1.44)	1.47 (1.11, 3.60)		
Health facility coverage (%)	1.01 (0.99, 1.04)	1.014 (0.99, 1.04)	1.014 (0.99, 1.04)		
DIC	954.6	275.0	250.6		

Table 14.Socio-demographic factors associated with HIV in the 15–49 years age group in Amhara Region, Ethiopia in the period 2015–2017

The results demonstrate a significant decrease in HIV infection in 2016 (OR0.767, 95% CrI 0.716-0.821) and 2017 (OR 0.712, 95% CrI 0.6644-0.7617) compared to HIV infection in 2015. This implies that there was a temporal variation in HIV infection across the Region during the study period, after accounting for the proportions of individuals who had never attended school, was unemployed, and were new migrants, health facility coverage, and spatial structured and unstructured random effects. The proportion of individuals who had never attended school 1.004 (95% CrI 1.001-1.008) and the proportion of migrants 1.474 (95% CrI 1.114 - 3.597) were associated with increased HIV rates. The maps of posterior means of spatially unstructured and structured random effects indicated a random distribution of HIV infection (Figure 7.3). There was no significant spatial clustering after accounting for socio-demographic variables (Moran's I= 0.005, p=0.61).



Figure 18. Unstructured and structured posterior mean distributions of HIV infection in Amhara region, Ethiopia: 2015–2017.

Discussion

The results of this study indicated spatial clustering of HIV in Amhara Region over the three years. In addition, the best-fitting multivariable Bayesian spatial model demonstrated a significant decrease in infection rates between 2015 and 2017 associated with spatial differences in key socio-economic factors.

The LISA analysis indicated that HIV was geographically clustered in the north-west districts of the Amhara Region. A high rate of HIV infection was found in Metema and Mirab Armacho districts, which share borders with Eretria and Sudan. Various studies have linked the risk of infectious disease to agricultural activities and border areas in Ethiopia (12, 24, 25). Indeed, the districts identified in this study as being important spatiotemporal HIV hotspots are known for being highly agricultural areas as well as transport corridors for truck drivers, with large numbers of other HIV MARPs such as day labourers during the harvesting season, commercial sex workers and truckers. Furthermore, these districts are also known to constitute gateways for migrants, female returnees, and sex workers (26). The detection of high HIV infection rates in these districts implies that HIV related knowledge and condom-promotion and distribution services are likely to be sub-optimal in these districts.

Therefore, this study could inform and strengthen current HIV control policy in areas where MARPs are concentrated.

The result of this study showed temporal patterns in HIV infection with a decline of infection from 2015 to 2017. The Ethiopian health data analytics platform also shows that HIV notification has decreased in the region (13). Scale-up of ART, expansion of HCT and integrated HIV care and support in the country likely contributed to this reduction (27, 28).

It was found that HIV infection is higher in districts with a higher proportion of individuals who have never attended school. Prior findings have also shown educational status to be associated with HIV prevalence, in that the risk of HIV infection was found to be higher in the less educated groups (29-31). Educated populations may be more likely to use condoms compared to those less educated, which may help lower HIV transmission. Less-educated populations often live in rural areas and commonly travel to engage in income-generating activities such as sex work (29). In contrast, a study done using individual EDHS data demonstrated that HIV prevalence was higher among educated groups compared to less-educated groups (32). The present study used data aggregated at the district level, which might not be generalizable for individuals. It would be valuable to examine the association of education and HIV using individual-level data.

Districts with a higher proportion of migrants were statistically at greater risk for HIV infection. This finding could be explained partly by risky sexual behaviours such as multiple sexual partners, or low and inconsistent condom use, likely to increase vulnerability to HIV infection (33, 34). Seasonal migration of labour in the study area, largely undertaken by younger individuals (mean age of 28.4), also contributes to HIV transmission.

There are several limitations of this study that need to be considered when interpreting the results. First, the findings are not representative of small administrative units (such as a Kebele or household) or even current administrative units as surveillance data from 2015 to 2017 aggregated all HIV cases at the district level. Second, notification data were used, i.e., HIV-infected individuals who did not access HCT remained unreported. Access to HCT may vary across districts, leading to variation in reporting of HIV, so that data might not reflect the actual HIV incidence of the districts. Third, sociodemographic data (2007 census) may not reflect changes due to the demographic transition over the last eleven years.

In conclusion, despite the HIV infection rate in the Amhara Region of Ethiopia exhibiting a small annual reduction between 2015 and 2017, residual district-level clustering still exists in the agricultural districts (Metema and Mirab Armacho) of the region border Eretria and Sudan in the north-west part of the country. The proportion of migrants and proportion with low educational status were factors associated with a high risk of HIV clustering. This finding calls for public health action

to focus on the districts highlighted in this study and increased investment to provide better access to HCT and to promote condom utilization to reduce future the future risk of HIV incidence in the region.

Acknowledgement

We thank the Amhara Regional Health Bureau, Amhara Bureau of Economic Development, and Ethiopian Central Statistics Authority for providing access to the data to carry out this study.

Conflict of Interest

There is no conflict of interest.

Funding

None

Ethical Approval

Ethical approval was obtained from the School of Public Health Ethics Committee School of Public Health, University of Queensland and permission to the access data was obtained from the Amhara Regional Health Bureau.

Reference

- 1. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS. Miles to go: closing gaps, breaking barriers, righting injustices. Geneva: UNAIDS; 2018.
- 2. UNAIDS. Global HIV & AIDS statistics 2018a fact sheet. 2018.
- 3. World Health Organization. Data and statistics 2017 2017 [Available from: http://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/hiv-aids. [Accessed 15 November 2018]
- 4. UNAIDS. The Global HIV/AIDS Epidemic-2018b. HIV gov 2018.
- 5. Ghosn J, Taiwo B, Seedat S, Autran B, Katlama C. HIV. The Lancet. 2018;392(10148):685-97.
- 6. WHO Africa. HIV/AIDS. WHO; 2017.
- 7. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS. 90-90-90: an ambitious treatment target to help end the AIDS epidemic. Geneva: UNAIDS. 2014.
- Assefa Y, Gilks CF, Dean J, Tekle B, Lera M, Balcha TT, et al. Towards achieving the fast-track targets and ending the epidemic of HIV/AIDS in Ethiopia: successes and challenges. International Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2019;78:57-64.
- Girum T, Wasie A, Worku A. Trend of HIV/AIDS for the last 26 years and predicting achievement of the 90–90-90 HIV prevention targets by 2020 in Ethiopia: a time series analysis. BMC infectious diseases. 2018;18(1):320.
- 10. CSA. Ethiopia Demographic and Health Survey 2016: HIV Report [Ethiopia] and ICF. Addis Ababa, Ethiopia and Rockville, Maryland, USA: CSA and ICF; 2018.
- 11. Amahar Regional State BoFED. AmharaInfo. 2017.
- Deribew A. Distribution of Most-at-risk Population Groups and their perceptions towards HIV/AIDS: A Baseline Survey in Amhara Region for the Implementation of Mobile HIV Counselling and Testing. Bethesda, MD: Private Sector Program-Ethiopia, Abt Associates Inc. 2009.
- Ethiopian Ministry of Health. Annual Health Sector Performance Report 2016/17. Addis Ababa, Ethiopia: MoH; 2016/7.
- 14. Wilson D, Halperin DT. "Know your epidemic, know your response": a useful approach, if we get it right. The Lancet. 2008;372(9637):423-6.
- 15. Coburn BJ, Blower S. Mapping HIV epidemics in sub-Saharan Africa with use of GPS data. The lancet global health. 2013;1(5):e251-e3.
- 16. Amhara Regional State Finance and Economic Development. AmharaInfo Bahir Dar2018 [
- 17. Code for Africa. Shapefiles for Ethiopia's Administrative boundaries: Regions, Zones and Woredas: openAFRICA; [updated 29 January 2016. Available from: <u>https://africaopendata.org/dataset/ethiopia-shapefiles</u>.

- 18. Population Census Commission. The 2007 population and housing census of Ethiopia. 2010.
- 19. Frehiwot N, Mizan K, Seble M, Fethia K, Tekalign M, Zelalem T. National guidelines for comprehensive HIV prevention, care and treatment. Addis Ababa: Ministry of Health. 2014.
- 20. World Health Organization. Service delivery approaches to HIV testing and conselling (HTC): a strategic HTC programme framework. 2012
- 21. Lai P-C, So F-M, Chan K-W. Spatial epidemiological approaches in disease mapping and analysis: CRC press; 2008.
- 22. Odland J. Spatial autocorrelation: Sage Publications Newbury Park, CA; 1988.
- Anselin L. Local indicators of spatial association—LISA. Geographical analysis. 1995;27(2):93-115.
- 24. Alemayehu M, Wubshet M, Mesfin N, Gebayehu A. Prevalence of Human Immunodeficiency Virus and associated factors among Visceral Leishmaniasis infected patients in Northwest Ethiopia: a facility based cross-sectional study. BMC infectious diseases. 2017 Dec;17(1):152
- 25. Alene KA, Viney K, McBryde ES, Clements AC. Spatial patterns of multidrug resistant tuberculosis and relationships to socio-economic, demographic and household factors in northwest Ethiopia. PloS one. 2017;12(2):e0171800.
- 26. Gezie LD, Taye BW, Ayele TA. Time to unsafe sexual practice among cross-border female sex workers in Metemma Yohannes, North West Ethiopia. BMC public health. 2015;15(1):710.
- 27. Assefa Y, Alebachew A, Lera M, Lynen L, Wouters E, Van Damme W. Scaling up antiretroviral treatment and improving patient retention in care: lessons from Ethiopia, 2005-2013. Globalization and health. 2014;10(1):43.
- World Health Organization. Epidemiology of HIV/AIDS in Ethiopia. In: WHO Country Office, editor. Addis Abeba, ETHIOPIA: WHO; 2015.
- 29. Bradley H, Bedada A, Brahmbhatt H, Kidanu A, Gillespie D, Tsui A. Educational attainment and HIV status among Ethiopian voluntary counseling and testing clients. AIDS and Behavior. 2007;11(5):736-42.
- 30. Glynn JR, Carael M, Buve A, Anagonou S, Zekeng L, Kahindo M, et al. Does increased general schooling protect against HIV infection? A study in four African cities. Tropical medicine & international health. 2004;9(1):4-14.
- 31. Fontanet AL, Woldemichael T, Sahlu T, Van Dam G, Messele T, Rinke de Wit T, et al. Epidemiology of HIV and Schistosoma mansoni infections among sugar-estate residents in Ethiopia. Annals of Tropical Medicine & Parasitology. 2000;94(2):145-55.

- 32. Lakew Y, Benedict S, Haile D. Social determinants of HIV infection, hotspot areas and subpopulation groups in Ethiopia: evidence from the National Demographic and Health Survey in 2011. BMJ open. 2015;5(11):e008669.
- 33. Federal HIV Prevention and Control Office (FHAPCO). Report on progress towards implementation of the UN Declaration of Commitment on HIV/AIDS 2010. 2007.
- 34. Tiruneh K, Wasie B, Gonzalez H. Sexual behavior and vulnerability to HIV infection among seasonal migrant laborers in Metema district, northwest Ethiopia: a cross-sectional study. BMC public health. 2015;15(1):122.

Chapter 8 Epidemiology of Tuberculosis and HIV Coinfection and its Collaborative Services towards Ending the TB Epidemic in Ethiopia

Context and objectives

As outlined previously in Chapter 5, the burden of TB and HIV co-infection is high in countries where collaborative TB and HIV activities are not fully integrated and implemented. Monitoring and evaluating the collaborative TB and HIV activities and its combined management using robust data could help to improve progress to end TB epidemic strategies. Thus, this study describes the epidemiology of TB and HIV co-infection and its collaborative activities in order to assess progress towards integration and its impact on the national TB control program as well as the End TB epidemic strategies.

The idea of the manuscript was conceptualized by me, with advice from my supervisor Dr Yibeltal Assefa and Professor Gail Williams. I drafted the paper, with editorial feedbacks from Associate Professor Ricardo J Soares Magalhães, Dr Yibeltal Assefa and Professor Gail Williams. This Chapter is under review in the International Health Journal

Abstract

Background: Surveillance of tuberculosis (TB) and HIV co-infection is essential for monitoring the progress of implementation towards expanding collaboration with HIV programs, integrating TB and HIV services, and the co-management of TB and comorbidities to achieve the targets set in End-TB strategies. This study aimed to describe and quantify the epidemiology of TB and HIV co-infection and its collaborative services using sentinel surveillance data in Ethiopia.

Methods: The Ethiopian Public Health Institute collected data by a quarter between 2010 and 2015 from 79 health facilities in nine regional states and two city administrations.

Results: Between 2010 and 2015, 57,596 people enrolled in HIV care were screened for TB; of these, 13.2% were provided with isoniazid preventive therapy, and 7.4% of HIV-positive people were known to be TB positive. Of the 53,133 TB patients screened for HIV, 18% were found to be HIV-positive, 78% were provided with Cotrimoxazole preventive therapy, and 53% were started antiretroviral therapy. TB and HIV co-infection prevalence and collaborative services implementation were not uniformly integrated in Ethiopia between 2010 and 2015.

Conclusion: Implementation of collaborative services and combined responses were not universal across the sentinel sites. Understanding the challenges that hinder the implementations of integrated services is essential for generating effective solutions for an effective response to HIV and TB co-infection, especially in high-burden and resource-limited countries like Ethiopia.

Keywords: Epidemiology, Tuberculosis (TB), HIV, Co-infection, Ethiopia

Introduction

Tuberculosis (TB) and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) remain significant public health challenges, particularly in eastern and southern Africa. In 2017, it was estimated that approximately 45% of the world's new HIV infections and 53% of people living with HIV lived in these regions (1).

Ethiopia is among the highest burden of TB and TB/HIV co-infection in the world, with an estimated 164 per 100,000 incidence rates of TB, of which there were 12 per 100,000 incidences of HIV-positives in 2017 (2). In 2017, the Federal HIV/AIDS Prevention and Control Office (HAPCO) estimates that 613,000 of the adult population were living with HIV infection in Ethiopia. However, the distribution of HIV was heterogeneous with a prevalence range of 0.1% in Somali and 4.8% in the Gambela region. Approximately, three-quarters of people living with HIV were from the Amhara (30%), Oromia (26%), and Addis Ababa (18%) regions (3). Literature in Ethiopia suggests that TB incidence is high in areas where HIV is prevalent (4, 5).

The intervention collaborative TB and HIV packages recommended by the World Health Organisation (WHO) were implemented in Ethiopia in 2004 to address the overlap of the TB and HIV epidemics (6). To monitor and evaluate collaborative TB and HIV activities using robust data, the Ethiopian Ministry of Health has used facility-based sentinel surveillance through health management and information system (HMIS) since 2010. However, little is known about the progress of implementing collaborative services and combined interventions towards the control strategies for reducing TB and HIV epidemic at the national and sub-national level. This chapter aimed to describe and quantify the epidemiology of TB and HIV co-infection and its collaborative activities in Ethiopia, using sentinel surveillance data collected at health facilities level between 2010 and 2015.

Methods

Context of the study

Ethiopia has nine regions and two city administrative areas (8). In 2017, the total population of the country was estimated to be around 105 million (9), and there are 266 hospitals, 3,622 health centres and 16,660 health posts (the lowest level-health system facility) functionally provide health service delivery. TB and HIV prevention and control program such as focused health education, TB diagnosis and treatment, HIV counselling and testing (HCT), chronic care, follow-up and response, and treatment adherence were integrated with other healthcare services in most primary health care units (10).

Design and data source

This epidemiological study is based on sentinel TB and HIV co-infection surveillance data collected at the health facilities level and collated by the Ethiopian public health institute (EPHI). A total of 79 sentinel sites were included to monitor TB and HIV integrated activities between 2010 and 2015 (Figure *19*).



Figure 19. Sentinel TB and HIV co-infection surveillance sites between 2010 and 2015 in Ethiopia The surveillance was at the health centre and hospital-level that provides both TB and HIV diagnosis and treatments services. In each regional state, at least one health facility was surveyed purposively in consultation with local health bureaus from 2010 to 2015, except for Afar regional states that were not included in the 2010 survey. The main criteria for the inclusion of health facilities were: (a) providing services for TB and HIV care; (b) representative of different geographical areas and population groups (for example urban and rural); (c) a high burden of TB cases; (d) covering high-

risk areas; and (e) accessible for supportive supervision. TB and HIV collaborative activities related data were extracted from routine patient records at the TB and HIV-chronic care follow-up clinics by a trained focal person. The database included the mechanisms for delivering integrated TB and HIV services of the WHO collaborative services on:

- Screening people living with HIV for TB
- Initiated TB prevention with isoniazid preventive therapy (IPT) and antiretroviral therapy in people living with HIV
- HIV testing and counselling of patients with TB
- Provided co-trimoxazole preventive therapy (CPT) for TB patients living with HIV

Data on TB infection in healthcare facilities and congregate settings were not included.

Management of Tuberculosis and HIV in Ethiopia

Figure 20 presents the national TB and HIV collaborative programme flowchart that has been implemented in Ethiopia. The number of health facilities that provide collaborative activities may vary from region to region. The primary healthcare units (health centres and district hospitals) of each district provide TB and HIV prevention and control activities in their routine health care services. Each district has at least one health post for each Kebele (lowest administration level) and a minimum of one health centre, ensuring access to health services at the community level.



Figure 20.Collaborative TB and HIV co-infection management flowchart in Ethiopia

TB and HIV prevention and control is also integrated with the Health Extension Programme, is the approach which provides essential health and medical care close to the community, to increase access to and coverage of essential health service under the Ethiopia health care system (11).

The reporting flow for TB and HIV co-infection data were from sentinel sites to the EPHI by a quarter (quarters 1 to 4) (15) through regional TB control programmes. However, the number and types of sentinel sites for each region were not constant throughout the survey period.

Measurement and Definitions

TB and HIV notification data were used to estimate the annual proportion of co-infection for each specific year and region. The indicators used to describe collaborative TB and HIV activities were operationally defined below:

TB and HIV co-infection (%)	The number of active TB cases in PLHIV who do not knows
	their TB status before of the region/city divided by the total new
	number of PLHIV tested for TB per year in each region/city and
	vice versa.
TB screening for HIV/HIV	The number of presumptive and active TB cases screened for
screening for TB (%)	HIV tests, prevention, and treatment divided by the total
	number of enrolled PLHIV per year in each region/city; the
	same calculation was used for the percentage of HIV screening
	for new and all TB cases.
CPT uptake (%)	The number of CPT treatment received TB and HIV co-infected
	divided by the total number of TB and HIV co-infected per year
	in each region/city.
ART coverage (%)	The number of ART started TB and HIV co-infected divided by
	the total new number of PLHIV per year in each region/city.
IPT (%)	The number of IPT treatments received by PLHIV with
	unknown or no active TB divided by the total number of
	reported TB negative PLHIV per year in each region/city.

TB and HIV clinics regularly screened PLHIV for TB using clinical symptom-based algorithms in the absence of the bacteriological diagnosis test. HIV testing and counselling involves voluntary HIV testing and counselling (VCT), and provider-initiated HIV testing and counselling (PITC) approaches (12). HIV blood tests were conducted using KHB, STAT-PAK, and Uni-Gold ASSAY (13).

Geographic coordinates of each sentinel site were obtained from the humanitarian data exchange (14). Polygons of each region were geo-referenced and linked to TB and HIV notification rates to visualise the co-infection at the surveillance sites and regional levels, respectively using the GIS tools from the ArcGIS software version 10.3.1 (ESRI Inc. Redlands, CA, USA).

Results

The performance of collaborative activities

The data on collaborative TB and HIV activities lack complete recording and timely reporting. Of the eleven regions of the country, consistent information was collected only in four regions – B. Gumuz, Dire Dawa, Gambella, and Somalia – indicating that the surveillance registers were incomplete.

Screening of individuals with presumptive and active TB for HIV testing has increased from 81% in 2010 to 96% in 2015. The proportion of screening PLHIV and diagnosing for TB have consistently sustained testing levels of \geq 85%. The provisions of the CPT and ART for PLHIV with presumptive and active TB were uniformly stable in all regions (Table *15*).

		Collaborative TB and HIV Service Indicators						
Region	Year	Screening of people living with HIV for TB N (%)	Screening of TB patients for HIV N (%)	HIV in patients diagnosed TB (%)	Active TB in people living with HIV (%)	HIV- positive TB patients on CPT (%)	HIV- positive TB patients on ART (%)	Provision of IPT for HIV-positive people without active TB (%)
Addis Ababa	2010	433 (77.5)	288 (66.4)	21.5	11.8	74.2	22.6	19.5
	2011	1655(86.7)	1458 (78.5)	27.5	6.4	75.1	33.4	17.3
	2012	1799 (99.4)	1139 (81.2)	30.6	8.4	87.8	44.3	15.7
	2013	1542 (92.6)	1030 (90.5)	31.8	11.4	90.2	56.3	10.6
	2014	921 (96.7)	729 (90.2)	39.0	14.9	97.2	57.7	5.0
	2015	648 (98.5)	506 (79.1)	34.2	10.3	98.2	69.9	29.6
Afar	2010	No data	No data	No data	No data	No data	No data	No data
	2011	217 (82.5)	235 (66.4)	19.6	7.4	88.9	58.7	24.2
	2012	556 (79.5)	601 (55.7)	27.5	12.4	75.8	52.7	13.9
	2013	359 (74.2)	885 (93.3)	12.8	14.8	80.4	50.9	6.7
	2014	311 (88.1)	579 (95.4)	12.1	11.2	72.9	88.6	8.3
	2015	279 (94.3)	583 (100.0)	31.0	5.0	86.2	57.8	21.5

Table 15. Tuberculosis and HIV collaborative activities by region in Ethiopia, 2010–2015

Amhara	2010	732 (78.8)	541 (93.6)	24.8	6.8	77.4	30.8	2.5
	2011	2808 (81.1)	1757 (90.7)	26.9	5.5	79.1	32.2	6.9
	2012	4607 (90.0)	3290 (96.4)	26.5	4.9	66.5	40.2	8.9
	2013	2592 (96)	2036 (98.4)	23.4	4.0	71.1	43.0	10.5
	2014	2303 (94.4)	1591 (97.8)	23.8	5.2	74.9	56.3	6.9
	2015	1881 (95.6)	1118 (99.6)	23.6	5.8	920	74.5	14.1
B. Gumuz	2010	41 (83.7)	22 (91.7)	36.4	19.5	42.9	28.6	41.5
	2011	241 (86.1)	128 (98.5)	34.9	17.8	58.9	40.0	16.7
	2012	444 (87.6)	404 (97.8)	16.5	8.8	72.8	58.7	26.1
	2013	316 (94.6)	207 (97.6)	21.2	7.6	83.7	59.2	13.5
	2014	422 (97.5)	261 (97.4)	15.6	6.6	59.6	42.3	14.7
	2015	317 (98.7)	249 (99.2)	12.8	6.3	100.0	65.6	13.8
Dire Dawa	2010	163 (71.8)	220 (97.0)	24.5	9.8	64.8	42.6	16.6
	2011	660 (88.5)	1228 (97.4)	13.9	9.1	79.8	44.0	23.2
	2012	1107 (95.4)	1081 (95.0)	20.4	9.8	69.4	70.6	22.0
	2013	352 (97.8)	372 (78.3)	19.9	8.0	69.0	69.4	11.8
	2014	367 (92.0)	518 (91.0)	17.4	8.7	85.2	73.9	22.7
	2015	381 (94.3)	767 (95.5)	15.5	11.5	82.9	69.2	27.0
Gambella	2010	100 (78.1)	140 (89.2)	10.7	7.0	73.3	33.3	37.2
	2011	474 (100).0	358 (88.4)	24.5	8.6	71.9	38.9	53.7
	2012	707 (96.4)	527 (91.5)	27.6	6.3	79.2	53.6	38.4

	2013	797 (97.8)	614 (91.1)	25.9	4.8	51.3	48.0	15.0
	2014	627 (99.4)	503 (84.4)	25.3	6.2	73.5	41.9	25.0
	2015	645 (99.7)	507 (89.4)	24.6	12.9	79.2	50.4	25.1
Harari	2010	109 (100.0)	348 (100.0)	5.5	8.3	47.4	36.8	14.0
	2011	284 (100.0)	1110 (100.0)	3.7	7.7	57.6	24.2	16.9
	2012	252 (99.6)	1145 (100.0)	4.8	17.6	77.1	14.7	31.7
	2013	251 (100.0)	1236 (100.0)	4.1	6.4	98.0	68.0	4.1
	2014	771 (100.0)	1391 (100.0)	4.4	3.7	100.0	55.7	2.0
	2015	288 (100.0)	1138 (99.5)	5.2	14.2	100.0	100.0	55.9
Oromia	2010	191 (98)	181 (93.8)	12.3	14.1	94.4	50.0	50.9
	2011	854 (99.4)	625 (96.4)	22.0	7.9	86.6	58.0	27.1
	2012	2324 (98.1	1868 (80.5)	14.3	10.1	97.4	59.7	17.4
	2013	1458 (97.2)	1439 (96.8)	14.4	9.7	93.3	66.0	9.8
	2014	1543 (97.8)	1034 (98.4)	17.2	8.9	92.3	71.4	7.5
	2015	1233 (95.0)	1137 (98.3)	15.8	14.2	94.6	89.8	16.3
SNNPR	2010	310 (75.98)	556 (98.0)	12.4	17.8	84.1	71.6	16.5
	2011	1065 (79.8)	1722 (86.7)	15.4	33.7	78.6	46.3	30.8
	2012	638 (71.1)	1468 (89.5)	14.1	25.1	86.7	66.8	42.9
	2013	7414 (99.8)	597 (88.0)	19.2	0.8	73.7	51.4	1.3

	2014	479 (96.8)	837 (98.4)	7.9	6.8	69.2	60.0	15.5
	2015	596 (90.8)	761 (96.7)	10.2	7.5	48.1	42.2	5.6
Somali	2010	97 (98.0)	240 (91.3)	4.6	9.3	90.9	81.8	16.7
	2011	333 (99.1)	673 (98.5)	3.6	10.5	37.5	37.5	84.4
	2012	344 (97.4)	1149 (87.4)	5.7	12.0	66.7	72.7	66.3
	2013	223 (96.5)	502 (96.7)	0.6	8.9	18.2	20.0	15.0
	2014	99 (100.0)	222 (99.1)	8.6	9.1	63.2	75.0	0.0
	2015	44 (88.0)	234 (96.0)	2.6	9.1	16.7	83.3	45.0
Tigray	2010	849 (100.0)	184 (99.0)	10.7	3.6	95.0	70.0	0.0
	2011	58 (100.0)	125 (97.7)	9.4	10.3	100.0	41.7	0.0
	2012	891 (99.7)	1016 (69.0)	27.4	1.8	61.5	41.9	11.5
	2013	1812 (95.7)	1574 (84.7)	19.1	4.6	83.6	57.6	0.4
	2014	946 (92.7)	934 (67.5)	17.2	3.6	55.6	52.0	0.6
	2015	801 (97.1)	1215 (73.4)	16.4	7.9	81.1	72.2	8.5
National	2010	2260 (81.1)	2720 (91.3)	15.2	10.4	77.9	47.2	15.8
	2011	8649 (86.4)	9419 (89.7)	17.9	10.3	76.9	39.5	20.8
	2012	13669 (92.4)	13688 (86.0)	20.0	8.2	75.9	50.5	18.1
	2013	17116 (97.0)	10492 (93.0)	17.9	4.3	77.2	53.9	5.5
	2014	8789 (96.0)	8599 (91.7)	17.1	7.2	78.4	58.6	8.4
	2015	7113 (96.0)	8215 (91.7)	17.6	9.4	86.2	70.0	18.2

Data from UNAIDS have shown that the collective, collaborative TB and HIV services increased but not uniform or comprehensive. However, the gradual increment has observed after WHO updated the guideline for national collaborative TB and HIV programmes in 2012 (Figure 21).



Figure 21.Collaborative TB and HIV services in Ethiopia, 2010–2015

Epidemiology of TB in people living with HIV

Between 2010 and 2015, the percentage of TB in PLHIV was 7.4 per cent. Overall, it had steadily decreased from 10.44 in 2010 to 4.28 in 2013 and then increased to 9.36 in 2015. The coverage of HIV-positive initiated IPT has been reduced to 5.5 in 2013 from 15.8 in 2010 and raised to 18.21 in 2015. The national average coverage of IPT provision for HIV-positive people during the survey period was 13.2% (Figure 22).



Figure 22. Percentage of active TB in PLHIV and provision of IPT for TB negative PLHIV in Ethiopia, 2010–2015.

The proportion of active TB among PLHIV was particularly high (33.7%) in the SNNP region in 2011, but this decreased to 0.76% in 2013. The lowest percentage of HIV-positive people who were started on with isoniazid preventive therapy (IPT) was 0.39% in 2013 in the Tigray region (Table 8.1).

Epidemiology of HIV in patients with diagnosed TB, 2010 - 2015

The percentage of TB patients found to be HIV-positive was 18%, ranging from 4.3% in the Somalia region to 31% in the Addis Ababa city administration. The percentage of HIV/TB patients on ART had been increased from 47.2% in 2010 to 70.0% in 2015. Coverage of CPT among co-infected patients increased to 86.3% in 2015 from 77.8% in 2010 (Figure 8.5, Table 8.1).



Figure 23. Percentage of HIV-positive TB patients enrolled on co-trimoxazole preventive therapy (CPT) and antiretroviral therapy (ART) in Ethiopia, 2010–2015.

The geographical distribution of co-infection by region and sentinel sites for each year are presented as choropleth maps in the supplementary materials.

Discussion

This study assessed the epidemiology of TB and HIV co-infection and its collaborative service in Ethiopia using six years of national sentinel surveillance data. Overall, in Ethiopia, collaborative TB and HIV services have made considerable progress in implementing the recommended intervention packages, particularly after the WHO's policy on the updated collaborative TB and HIV activity guidance was launched in 2012 (as documented in Figure 3). Between 2010 and 2015, there was an increase in the coverage of screening TB patients for HIV. However, there is a decrease in service uptake. The percentage of active TB patients tested for HIV was 9.36% in 2015, and only one-in-eight HIV-positive people were provided with IPT. Among the HIV patients with diagnosed TB, 18% were found to be HIV-positive, 78% were provided with CPT, and 53% were started on ART. Similarly, data sourced from Global AIDS monitoring and the WHO's TB estimate has documented the collective progress of the integration of collaborative TB and HIV activities, which were neither uniform nor comprehensive (16).

Although there was an increase in the intensity of TB case-findings in people living with HIV, and HIV testing and counselling to patients with presumptive and diagnosed TB in Ethiopia between 2010 and 2015, not all screened TB patients were tested for HIV or vice versa. This suggests that further monitoring and scale-up of collaborative TB and HIV activities would help to ensure all HIV-positive people were tested for TB and all presumptive and diagnosed TB patients were tested for HIV to achieve the target of 100%.

Consistent with the national health sector's annual performance and successive WHO reports (10, 17, 18), the proportion of TB in people living with HIV in this study has decreased from 2010 to 2013 and increased from 2013 to 2015. This could be due to the updated WHO recommendation in 2012, which promoted the setting up and strengthening of collaborative activities, the coverage of health-seeking behaviours, and intensified case findings (19).

The proportion of people diagnosed with TB who are living with HIV was found to be high in the SNNPR region, which was the third-lowest region for the provision coverage of IPT for HIV-positive people. Despite the fact that the information on the provision of IPT is not complete and consistently reported in all regions during the surveillance period, the integration of TB and HIV activities, including HIV chronic care activities, are not uniform nationally and are targeted in high HIV-burdened regions (10, 20). The result of this study showed considerable heterogeneity; the percentage of HIV in patients with diagnosed TB ranged from 31% in Addis Ababa and 4.3% in the Somali region with an 18% national percentage between 2010 and 2015. The coverage of CPT and ART among HIV-positive TB patients increased during the six-year surveillance period; however, there is a variation between regions, and considerably more progress is needed to provide for those who require services uniformly. Further action required for providing CPT and ART for all eligible HIV/TB patients (19).

The strength of this study is that it is the first of its kind to use nationally representative surveillance data to describe and assess the epidemiology of TB and HIV co-infection and the integration of services in relation to progress towards achieving the end-TB epidemic initiatives of the WHO. There are, however, some limitations should be considered when interpreting the results. First, the data collected from the surveillance system lacks completeness, timely reporting, reliability, and validity (21, 22). For example, there were no data for one year (2010) in the Afar region. Second, notification data were used, i.e. HIV and TB co-infected individuals who did not access HCT or TB diagnosis during the survey period might be unreported. Access to TB diagnosis and HCT may vary across sentinel sites leading to variation in the notification reporting of TB and HIV co-infection. Finally, estimating the prevalence of co-infection and monitoring the service integration using this data may not show the real burden of co-infection and progress of services integration.

In conclusion, implementing collaborative TB and HIV services is essential to achieve the end-TB epidemic strategies even though these are not uniform or consistently applied across the country. Some form of an effort to scale-up the integration of collaborative TB and HIV activities is required to reduce the burden of co-infections. Furthermore, strengthening the surveillance system and conducting epidemiological studies on a small scale could be influential in identifying a high-risk population and thus areas for targeted prevention, and control programs to reduce the dual burden of TB and HIV in Ethiopia.

Acknowledgement

The authors would like to thank the Ethiopian Public Health Institute (EPHI) for providing access to data required to conduct this study.

Authors' Contribution

YAG, YA, RSM, and GW contributed to the study design and implementation.

YAG designed the study, data analysis, interpretation, and write-up of the manuscript. MD and WT participated in tool development and design.

PWD contributed to data extraction and analysis. All the authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Conflict of Interest Statement

The authors declared that they have no competing interests.

Ethical Approval

Ethical approval was obtained from the School of Public Health, University of Queensland and permission to access the data was obtained from the Ethiopian Public Health Institute (EPHI).

References

- Tiemersma EW, van der Werf MJ, Borgdorff MW, et al.; Natural History of Tuberculosis: Duration and Fatality of Untreated Pulmonary Tuberculosis in HIV-Negative patients: A Systematic Review. 2011; 6(4): e17601.
- 2. UNAIDS; UNAIDS Data 2018. 2018.
- World Health Organization; Global Tuberculosis Report 2018. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2018.
- 4. Federal HIV/AIDS Prevention and Control Office; HIV Prevention in Ethiopia National Road Map 2018–2020. 2018.
- Gelaw YA, Williams G, Assefa Y, et al.; Sociodemographic Profiling of Tuberculosis Hotspots in Ethiopia, 2014–2017. *Transactions of The Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 2019; **113**(7): 379–391.
- Datiko DG, Yassin MA, Chekol LT, et al.; The Rate of TB-HIV Co-infection Depends on the Prevalence of HIV infection in a Community. *BMC Public Health* 2008; 8(1): 266.
- World Health Organization; Recommendations of the Interim Policy on Collaborative TB/HIV Activities. Weekly Epidemiological Record= Relevé épidémiologique hebdomadaire 2004; 79(01–02): 6–11.
- 8. CSA-Ethiopia I; International: Ethiopia Demographic and Health Survey 2011. 2012. Maryland, USA: Central Statistical Agency of Ethiopia and ICF International Addis Ababa, Ethiopia and Calverton.
- 9. World Bank; Population, Total. *Health: Population: Structure*: World Bank Group, 2017.
- Ethiopia Ministry of Health; Health Sector Transformation Plan i annual performance report. In: Health EMos (ed). Addis Ababa: Ethiopia Ministry of Health, 2016/17.
- Wang H, Tesfaye R, NV Ramana G, et al. *Ethiopia Health Extension Programme: An Institutionalized Community Approach for Universal Health Coverage*: The World Bank, 2016.
- 12. Frehiwot N, Mizan K, Seble M, et al. National Guidelines for Comprehensive HIV Prevention, Care and Treatment. *Addis Ababa: Ministry of Health*, 2014.
- 13. World Health Organization. Service Delivery Approaches to HIV Testing and Counselling (HTC): A Strategic HTC Programme Framework, 2012.
- 14. Humanitarian Data Exchange. Ethiopia: Location of Health Facilities
- 15. https://data.humdata.org/dataset/ethiopia-health (Date Accessed 2012 Accessed, date last accessed)
- 16. Ethiopian Public Health Institute (EPHI). Report on National TB/HIV Sentinel Surveillance. In: EPHIs (ed). *Five Year Report*. Addis Ababa, 2015.
- 17. World Health Organization. *Data and Statistics*. http://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/hiv-aids (Date Accessed 2017 Accessed, date last accessed)
- Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia. Country Progress Report on the HIV Response, 2014. Addis Ababa 2014.
- 19. World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2018, 2018.
- 20. World Health Organization. *Guide to Monitoring and Evaluation for Collaborative TB/HIV Activities – 2015 Update*: World Health Organization, 2015.
- Federal HIV/AIDS Prevention and Control Office (FHAPCO). Strategic Plan II for Intensifying Multisectoral HIV and AIDS Response in Ethiopia (2010/11–2014/15). Addis Ababa: HAPCO, Federal Ministry of Health, 2010, 92.
- World Health Organization. Tuberculosis. Saudi Medical Journal 2013; 34(11): 1205–1207.
- Marieke J. van der Werf, Giovanni Sotgiu, Dara M. Closing the Gap in Surveillance of Tuberculosis and HIV Co-infection: A European perspective on the need for clinician– public health alliances. *Eur Respir J* 2017; **50**: 1701758.

Chapter 9: Discussion

The research outlined in this Thesis has covered TB epidemiology at District level in Amhara region and the national TB/HIV epidemiology and collaborative activities at regional level in Ethiopia. The Thesis is based on two systematic reviews and three original articles that build on each other to provide knowledge of TB disease burdens and sustain TB control program in Ethiopia. TB is a vast public health problem in settings which are characterised by high-HIV prevalence, low sociodemographic development, a weak health care system, and poor living and working conditions (32, 36, 123). In 2017, two-thirds of new TB cases were reported from densely populated countries with a high level of poverty (32). Characterising the role of HIV and sociodemographic determinants will, therefore, create a platform from which to scale-up targeted interventions. This Thesis identifies geographical areas in Ethiopia where TB and HIV are more highly prevalent and highlights the impact of HIV infection management and integrated TB and HIV control to enhance the national TB control program of Ethiopia.

Understanding the geographic distribution of TB and identifying TB high-risk areas has been recommended in order to sustain national TB control programs and intensify End-TB strategies (94, 124). In Ethiopia, more than one in three (36 per cent) of estimated TB cases were not notified to the national TB surveillance program in 2017, due to incomplete spatial information (32, 71, 125). In addition, knowledge is limited at the district level of high-TB risk areas. Little is known about spatial heterogeneity of TB and its relationship to the level of HIV infection and its sociodemographic and environmental determinants. To achieve an end to the TB and HIV epidemics, detecting and understanding the geographical co-distribution of TB and HIV is vital. Furthermore, evaluating the progress of collaborative TB and HIV services and their contribution towards achieving the End TB and HIV epidemic targets, will assist in sustaining the TB-control strategy in the country (16, 37).

This Thesis work included original researches present the spatial epidemiology of TB, geographical co-clustering of TB and HIV, and the progress of collaborative TB and HIV activities towards the End TB strategies in Ethiopia. A better understanding of the spatial epidemiology of TB and associated ecological drivers will have a substantial impact on the effectiveness and sustainability of local and national TB control efforts.

This discussion Chapter presents the main findings, the public health implications, strengths and limitations, future research priorities and overall conclusions of the Thesis.

Main findings

Hot spots areas for tuberculosis in Ethiopia

The study detailed in Chapter 6 showed significant nationwide geographical variability of TB. The TB high-risk areas (i.e. hot spots) were detected in the Ethiopia-Eritrea and Ethiopia-Sudan border settings, characterised by intense agricultural activities and a prominent proportion of seasonal migrants. The results of this investigation do not indicate a seasonality pattern. Earlier studies in the country on the spatial distribution of TB and MDR-TB have reported consistent findings. On settings located in the border regions of the country (113), border districts of Northwest Ethiopia (46, 47), remote Kebeles' of the Sheka Zone (72) and Kebeles' near road networks of the Gurage zone in Southern Ethiopia (112), TB was high. As this study and earlier work reports (46, 87, 113), TB control efforts are most likely to be marginal in remote agricultural and border settings of the country.

Spatial mapping of TB cases, based on reported notifications over time, can give inconsistent spatial patterns depending on the health-seeking behaviour of the population and health care accessibility (72, 125-127). In this study, an exploratory spatial analysis between 2014 and 2017 identified consistent clustering of TB in four districts, namely Mirab Armacho, Tach Armacho, Metema and Tsegede districts. Furthermore, Bahir Dar district (in 2014) and Quara district (in 2015and 2017) were also identified as hotspot districts for TB. Delnta, Dewa Harewa, Jawi, Sayint and Legambo showed high-low patterns, while Quara (in 2016), Alefa and Chilga showed low-high patterns, as documented in Chapter 6, Figure 14. TB infection or transmission can be disseminated from high-incidence locations to low-incidence locations. Thus, considering outliers, i.e. districts with high or low notified TB cases, is essential in the TB prevention and control perspectives.

The role of HIV in TB burden distribution in sub-Saharan Africa and Ethiopia

The association between TB and HIV infection has been widely established. Both individuallevel and ecological-level studies have previously shown that TB notifications tend to be concentrated in geographic areas where HIV is highly prevalent (32, 128, 129). In this Thesis, Chapter 5 presents a systematic review and meta-analysis of prevalence estimates of HIV and TB co-infection in sub-Saharan Africa, to assess the role of collaborative TB and HIV services in the End TB epidemic strategies in high-HIV prevalent regions. This chapter shows that Eastern and Southern sub-Saharan African regions had a higher prevalence of HIV in patients with TB (34.4 per cent) compared to Western and Central sub-Saharan Africa (27.3 per cent). The findings in this review showed that the prevalence estimate of co-infection was high in HIV- prevalent regions, although there was a decreasing trend between 2000 and 2010 (Chapter 5, Figure 2). This decreasing trend is primarily because of the response to the HIV epidemic and integration of HIV/TB services being expanded into high-HIV epidemic countries, i.e. Eastern and Southern sub-Saharan Africa regions (32, 39, 59, 101, 130, 131). Consequently, it is argued that implementation of control activities is not uniform across countries and much more needs to be done to achieve universal access to TB prevention, treatment and care services in high-TB settings.

Following this finding detailed in Chapter 5, profiling analyses of TB clusters with the proportion of PLHIV mentioned in Chapter 6, demonstrates spatial hotspot clustering of TB in districts where the percentage of PLHIV is high. Based on the findings outlined above, in Chapter 7 a spatial analysis of HIV was built to provide epidemiological evidence for high-risk geographical areas where both HIV and TB were prevalent. Chapter 7 presents the spatial heterogeneity of HIV infection, with the highest notification rates occurring in the Northwest and Eastern border districts of the Amhara region.

In separate TB and HIV cluster detection analyses in Chapter 6 and 7, TB and HIV were spatially co-clustered in Northwest districts, which are gateways for migrants. These areas are characterised by a large number of socially vulnerable high-risk populations such as seasonal migrants, day labourers, commercial sex workers and truckers (132). This finding supports previous evidence, which has documented the risk of infectious diseases linked to living in remote and border areas in South Africa (133) and Ethiopia (134, 135). The geographical co-existence of HIV and TB suggests that living in cross-border areas is the most likely common risk factor for both diseases.

The findings of Chapters 6 and 7 imply that scaling-up and integrating the management of TB and HIV services is important to (a) allocate resources efficiently and (b) reduce the burden caused by both diseases (137). However, access to health care, TB detection and treatment and other collaborative TB/HIV services are likely to be sub-optimal due to remote areas. Expanding collaborative activities to areas where populations are at risk for both TB and HIV will support strategies towards ending the TB and HIV epidemic.

The analyses detailed in Chapter 8 were based on findings of an earlier study reported in this Thesis which aimed to interpret the epidemiology of TB and HIV co-infection and assess progress in implementation of collaborative TB and HIV activities and the resulting impact on the national TB control program. At a regional level, HIV and TB co-infection was still a public health challenge in regions with poor implementation of collaborative TB and HIV services (Chapter 8, Table 15). The study revealed low (13.2 per cent) provision of isoniazid preventive therapy (IPT) to PLHIV who are TB negative, which indicates poor integrations of IPT services in TB and HIV clinics (Chapter 2, Figure 22). Collaborative TB and HIV services were not consistent across the country over the survey period. This implies they were not comprehensive at a national level. The recent routine performance report of the country stated that more than half TB and HIV co-infected patients did not attend collaborative services (55). Thus, Chapters 5-8 suggest that further monitoring and scaling-up of collaborative TB and HIV services were needed to achieve three objectives: firstly, the sustainability of the implementation of collaborative services and combined management to strengthen the joint initiatives of WHO, the Stop TB Partnership, and the Global Fund to Fight AIDS (32); secondly, scaling up the End TB response towards universal access to TB prevention and treatment and; thirdly, caring for and protecting high-risk population groups in border areas from the social and economic impacts of TB infection and disease.

The role of sociodemographic factors on the distribution of TB and TB and HIV co-clustering in Ethiopia

In addition to HIV, area of residence, ecological and sociodemographic characteristics may still contribute to TB spatial heterogeneity. Classification and regression tree analysis and the Bayesian conditional autoregressive model found a high proportion of seasonal migrants predictive of high-risk TB and HIV districts. This illustrates the importance of monitoring population movement in relation to HIV and TB infection and transmission. Epidemiological studies undertaken on the health risks of migration found that migration pathways posed risks for the convergence of HIV and TB in areas where a large proportion of seasonal cross-border workers live (138). These could also affect drug-resistant TB prevention and control due to delayed diagnosis or poor-quality treatment (46, 50, 138). Most cross-border labour migrants have poor TB and HIV-related knowledge, poor access to health care, and low educational status, and those at risk are female traders and male farmers (139-141). For example, the proportion of males in the population and the proportion of the population with low educational status predicted a high risk of TB (Chapter 6) and HIV disease (Chapter 7), respectively. Rural-to-urban and rural-to-rural movements have become common migratory patterns in the studied

region, given that the rural-to-rural pattern predominantly involves men during harvesting and cultivating seasons (142).

Studies assessing the risk of urbanisation on TB epidemiology and the proportion of the population living in urban areas have consistently found that immigration was associated with a high risk of TB. Rapid urbanisation creates ideal conditions for TB epidemics to flourish, due to crowded and poorly ventilated living and working environments (123, 143, 144). Interestingly, the result of the spatial profiling analysis (Chapter 6) showed that high-TB risk areas were characterised by household crowding. This was consistent with previous studies (145, 146). It is suggested that living in slum areas, being homeless or having poor housing and poor general health knowledge, act as mediating factors for the association between poverty and TB risk (93, 145). Therefore, from the perspective of accelerating a TB control program addressing social determinants such as the social, financial, and health situation of migrants, promoting healthy lifestyles, and improving living and working environments in high-TB risk areas and other settings will benefit the achievement of End TB targets.

It was also found that good access to health facilities was associated with high TB notification rates. This may be because of better health-seeking behaviour or better access to health care, leading to high TB case detection rates. Therefore, prioritising resource allocation for health care using notification data without considering access to health care could mask the true incidence in areas with poor access (72).

The role of the physical environment on TB

Epidemiological studies have rarely considered the effects of the physical environment on TB transmissions, such as temperature and altitude. The biological mechanisms underlining such effects are unclear. The systematic review, detailed in Chapter 4, revealed that few studies had analysed the role of altitude and temperature on TB in Africa, with only one study included, conducted in Kenya. In a pooled correlation analysis of three studies, reported TB cases decreased at higher altitudes (Chapter 4, Figure 2). Low air pressure causes oxygen deprivation which inhibits the ability of *M.TB* to survive and multiply in high altitudes; thus, living at-high altitudes was historically recommended for treatment (147-151). Spatially modelling of the effects of altitude on, TB clusters (Chapter 6) showed that low TB risk was observed in those living at high altitudes. However, this correlation could be confounded by social factors, such as poverty, or the biological characteristics of the *M.TB*. Another reason for the observed association may be that, at high altitudes, the population density is low, which could inhibit the

transmission of TB. At higher altitudes, the intimate atmosphere filters out less UV-B radiation, which kills *M.TB* and blocks transmission (152). Those living at high altitudes have higher levels of Vitamin D, which might enhance immune response and decrease subsequent reactivation of TB (153).

The importance of atmospheric temperature for TB was also highlighted in Chapter 6, which examined seasonality of TB. Despite substantial heterogeneity in measurement and effect estimates, qualitative synthesis of evidence showed that rates of TB were high in high-temperature areas. In contrast, studies are documenting a high number of TB cases notified in cold atmospheric temperature areas (87, 88). This infers the effect of temperature on TB has a seasonal pattern and is most likely to have been influenced by other environmental factors, such as humidity, precipitation and sunlight which can affect the transmission of *M. tuberculosis* (154). Although the review did not provide strong evidence for an effect of altitude and temperature on TB, this chapter proposes that TB control programs might benefit if interventions take account of altitude variations/seasonality. Further work will need to add more information to the biological plausibility of the association between the physical environment and TB.

In addition, findings documented in Chapter 6 noted that households using charcoal for cooking characterised TB hot spots, whereas using dung was preventive. Although further high-quality studies are needed to understand the association between indoor air pollution and TB, the high oxidative nature of using charcoal could increase TB transmission in the area. In Ethiopia, more than 80 per cent of the total population live in rural areas, commonly using wood and charcoal for cooking or heating. Thus, efforts are needed to sustain the integration of national TB control strategies with the implementation of health extension packages to reduce risks related to poor living environments.

Limitations of the research presented

The specific limitations of each study have been discussed in detail in each research paper in this Thesis. The common limitations of the studies are presented below.

The studies comprising this Thesis (Chapters 5-8) were based on clinical notification report from the Health Bureau surveillance registry and census data in Ethiopia, which may not reliably reflect the actual disease burden or location or timing of exposure and does not reflect the local social and demographic context. Notification data may miss undiagnosed cases in populations that lack good access to services, which may be limited due to resource constraints or sub-optimal allocation strategies. Despite these limitations, the findings of this study suggest that a spatially targeted approach to deploying interventions and developing and optimising effective prevention and control strategies is important for the End TB program.

The use of aggregated data collected in different geographic spatial scales for different purposes is another limitation of this Thesis. As a result of the area-level analysis, these studies are subject to the ecological fallacy, where results aggregated to higher administrative scales limit their generalisability to smaller-scale study areas. District catchment areas and population sizes may also change. However, due to the lack of good quality data at small spatial scales such as households or individuals, mapping of TB is often limited in spatial resolution. The findings of the research studies used patient registry at the health facility level and collated by catchment districts. The Ethiopian government aggregates routine surveillance data at the district level by a quarter call for monitoring the national TB control program.

Census data collected in 2007 were used in analyses characterising the ecological sociodemographic, environmental, health system and TB and HIV response features of each district. It was assumed that data, including TB notification and risk factors, were consistent and complete across the districts. However, population and other sociodemographic changes between census counts will add to the uncertainty. As data were collected mainly for census purposes, it did not include some important variables relevant to the epidemiology of TB, such as those in previous studies to examine the impact of poverty in more detail. Therefore, the underlying process driving the sociodemographic and environmental effects on TB transmission could not be explored.

The systematic review and meta-analysis studies presented in Chapters 4 and 5 were limited, owing to the heterogeneity of exposure measurement, statistical approaches and reported effect estimates of the included studies. These limited the generalisability of the findings to countries not included in these reviews.

Implications for TB control actions

This research has practical public health implications for achieving sustainable TB control, as follows:

 It has identified districts with a high burden of TB and the associated factors, namely HIV; sociodemographic and environmental factors; health system and TB and HIV collaborative services. Exploration of the co-clustering of TB and HIV will allow interventions to be targeted to geographical areas where they co-exist and also helps identify common environmental risk factors for both diseases. As HIV infection is the strongest risk factor for TB, this synergetic process has significant implications for TB control.

- Living or working in cross-border or remote agricultural areas was identified as a common risk factor for the observed co-clustering of TB and HIV. This suggests that initiating TB/HIV screening and testing, tracing TB treatment defaulters, and providing preventive therapy for asymptomatic immunosuppressed seasonal migrants is required in cross-border and/or remote agricultural.
- It is important to monitor the surveillance of TB and HIV co-infection and the implementation of collaborative TB and HIV services towards achieving the targeted set in the ending TB and HIV initiatives. This will provide practical insights into the role of social determinants of TB and HIV transmission at the ecological level. It will underline the need for increased multisectoral approaches and political commitment to ensure universal health coverage in all settings, including cross-border and remote areas.

Priorities for future research

The research results, presented in this Thesis, address some of the gaps in the knowledge of district-level ecological spatial epidemiology of TB to move towards ending the TB epidemic and sustaining the TB control program in Ethiopia. However, there are potential areas for future studies, including:

- Population-level poverty and behavioural factors such as smoking, alcohol and drug use have been as the proximal determinants of TB in previous research. However, due to the lack of data on these determinants at the district level, their effect on TB and HIV clustering could not be assessed in this Thesis. Therefore, all-inclusive future research is needed to evaluate the features of socio-demographic, socio-economic, environmental and health care systems, as well as the impact of response factors on TB notifications, including heterogeneity at the ecological level.
- In separate analyses, TB and HIV spatial co-clustering (Chapter 6 and 7), cross-border and remote agricultural areas were identified as high-risk areas for both diseases. Future individual-level Spatio-temporal analyses, which examines the contributions of population movement and other social factors (education) in the spatial heterogeneity of TB and HIV are required.

- WHO advocates identifying high-risk areas to optimise hotspot targeted TB control and prevention strategies (32). Future research evaluating the role of high-risk geographic areas to the epidemiology TB would help in supporting and scaling up the existing TB control program in Ethiopia.
- For guidance and planning of collaborative TB and HIV services and their combined management, future research using robust (i.e. complete, timely, reliable and valid) data is required.

Conclusion

This Thesis has described and characterised the spatial epidemiology of TB in Ethiopia. The findings also provide an evaluation of TB control strategies towards achieving the goal of ending the TB epidemic in Ethiopia. The studies included in this thesis showed considerable variation in the distribution of TB in the Amhara region, Ethiopia. HIV and seasonal migration were found to be important challenges for TB control program in this region. Mapping the distribution of HIV infection in consort with TB notifications has allowed the identifications of high-risk populations in Ethiopia, where HIV and TB collaborative services need to be improved for an effective response. These findings also suggest that addressing the health situation of migrants will support the implementations of the "bold policy and supportive system" pillars towards enhanced social protection, alleviation of poverty, and amelioration of the effects of other determinants of TB.

Important pillars of the End TB program are the implementation of national strategies towards TB prevention, diagnosis, and treatment for all who need them, as well as, management of comorbidities by integrating collaborative TB and HIV activities. This Thesis has shown that collaborative services have not been uniform and comprehensive in Ethiopia. A positive development is that HIV testing for TB patients and TB diagnosis for HIV-infected individuals has increased recently.

Overall, a sustainable TB control program towards ending the epidemic requires interventions that include strengthening TB and HIV control and addressing the social determinants of their transmission. The effectiveness and sustainability of these approaches will be enhanced if TB and HIV control programs can be targeted to hot spot areas identified in this Thesis. Monitoring and evaluation must adopt a spatial-temporal approach so that hot-spot areas and populations at-risk are identified, and appropriate resources deployed.

Reference

- Rieder HL. Epidemiologic basis of tuberculosis control. Paris, France: International Union Against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease (IUATLD); 1999.
- Cambau E, Drancourt M. Steps towards the discovery of Mycobacterium tuberculosis by Robert Koch, 1882. Clinical Microbiology and Infection. 2014;20(3):196-201.
- Lalvani A, Pathan AA, Durkan H, et al. Enhanced contact tracing and spatial tracking of Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection by enumeration of antigen-specific T cells. The Lancet. 2001;357(9273):2017-21.
- Kiazyk S, Ball T. Tuberculosis (TB): Latent tuberculosis infection: An overview. Canada Communicable Disease Report. 2017;43(3-4):62.
- Comstock GW. Epidemiology of Tuberculosis 1–3. American Review of Respiratory Disease. 1982;125(3P2):8-15.
- World Health Organization. Global tuberculosis report 2013: World Health Organization; 2013.
- World Health Organization, Initiative ST. Treatment of tuberculosis: guidelines: World Health Organization; 2010.
- Davis CP. Tuberculosis (TB). Access date: 6/2/2016. [Available from: <u>http://www.medicinenet.com/tuberculosis_tb_facts/page2.htm</u>.
- 9. Ai J-W, Ruan Q-L, Liu Q-H, Zhang W-HJEm, infections. Updates on the risk factors for latent tuberculosis reactivation and their managements. 2016;5(1):1-8.
- 10. Talha N. Jilani AZG, Abdul H. Siddiqui. Active Tuberculosis. 2019 Jan-. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls [Internet]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK513246/.
- Bates MN, Khalakdina A, Pai M, Chang L, Lessa F, Smith KR. Risk of tuberculosis from exposure to tobacco smoke: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Archives of internal medicine. 2007;167(4):335-42.
- Jeon CY, Murray MB. Correction: Diabetes Mellitus Increases the Risk of Active Tuberculosis: A Systematic Review of 13 Observational Studies. PLoS medicine. 2008;5(8):e181.
- Lönnroth K, Williams BG, Cegielski P, Dye C. A consistent log-linear relationship between tuberculosis incidence and body mass index. International journal of epidemiology. 2009;39(1):149-55.

- 14. Selwyn PA, Hartel D, Lewis VA, et al. A prospective study of the risk of tuberculosis among intravenous drug users with human immunodeficiency virus infection. New England journal of medicine. 1989;320(9):545-50.
- Mack U, Migliori G, Sester M, et al. LTBI: latent tuberculosis infection or lasting immune responses to M. tuberculosis? A TBNET consensus statement. European Respiratory Journal. 2009;33(5):956-73.
- TB facts.org. TB & HIV Co-infection, statistics, diagnosis & treatment: Information about tuberculosis. [Available from: <u>http://www.tbfacts.org/tb-hiv/#sthash.ed7z8zfD.dpuf</u>.
- 17. World Health Organization. Global tuberculosis report 2016. 2016.
- Havlir DV, Getahun H, Sanne I, Nunn P. Opportunities and challenges for HIV care in overlapping HIV and TB epidemics. Jama. 2008;300(4):423-30.
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention(CDC). TB Elimination: the Difference Between Latent TB Infection and TB Disease. [Available from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/tb/publications/factsheets/general/ltbiandactivetb.htm</u>.
- 20. Center for Disease Control and Prevention(CDC). Recommendations for Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) Screening in Tuberculosis (TB) Clinics: CDC; September 12, 2016. [Available from:

https://www.cdc.gov/tb/publications/factsheets/testing/hivscreening.htm.

- 21. Center for Disease Control and Prevention(CDC). Tuberculosis: General Information [Available from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/tb/publications/factsheets/general/tb.htm</u>.
- 22. World Health Organization. Global tuberculosis report 2016. WHO; 2016. Report No.: 924156539X.
- 23. Bloom BR, Fine PE. The BCG experience: implications for future vaccines against tuberculosis. Tuberculosis: American Society of Microbiology; 1994. p. 531-57.
- 24. Kaplan JE, Benson C, Holmes KK, et al. Guidelines for prevention and treatment of opportunistic infections in HIV-infected adults and adolescents. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2009;58(RR-4):1-207.
- 25. Volmink J, Garner P. Directly observed therapy for treating tuberculosis. The Cochrane Library. 2007.
- 26. World Health Organization Stop TB Initiative. Treatment of tuberculosis: guidelines: World Health Organization; 2010.
- 27. World Health Organization. What is DOTS?: A guide to understanding the WHO-recommended TB Control Strategy Known as DOTS. 1999.

- Centers for Disease Control, Prevention. Treatment of tuberculosis, American thoracic society, CDC, and infectious diseases society of america. MMWR. 2003;52(RR-11):1-72.
- 29. Centers for Disease Control Prevention. Plan to combat extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis: recommendations of the Federal Tuberculosis Task Force. MMWR Recommendations and reports: Morbidity and mortality weekly report Recommendations and reports/Centers for Disease Control. 2009;58(RR-3):1.
- 30. World Health Organization. Multidrug-resistant tuberculosis (MDR-TB) 2016
- 31. World Health Assembly. Forty-fourth World Health Assembly. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1991.
- 32. World Health Organization. Global tuberculosis report 2018. 2018.
- 33. Jacobson LM, de Lourdes Garcia-Garcia M, Hernandez-Avila JE, et al. Changes in the geographical distribution of tuberculosis patients in Veracruz, Mexico, after reinforcement of a tuberculosis control programme. Trop Med Int Health. 2005;10(4):305-11.
- 34. World Health Organization. Tuberculosis(TB) [Available from: http://www.who.int/ith/diseases/tb/en/.
- 35. Jeon CY, Murray MB. Diabetes mellitus increases the risk of active tuberculosis: a systematic review of 13 observational studies. PLoS med. 2008;5(7):e152.
- 36. Nava-Aguilera E, Andersson N, Harris E, et al. Risk factors associated with recent transmission of tuberculosis: systematic review and meta-analysis. The IJTLD 2009;13(1):17-26.
- World Health Organization. WHO policy on collaborative TB/HIV activities: guidelines for national programmes and other stakeholders: Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012.
- 38. Kendall EA, Azman AS, Cobelens FG, Dowdy DW. MDR-TB treatment as prevention: The projected population-level impact of expanded treatment for multidrug-resistant tuberculosis. PloS one. 2017;12(3):e0172748.
- 39. World Health Organization. HIV/AIDS. WHO Ethiopia Country Office; 2015.
- 40. World Health Organization. Report of the ad hoc committee on the tuberculosis epidemic.London, 17 19 March 1998. Geneva: World Health Organization. 1998.
- 41. Misganaw A, Haregu TN, Deribe K, et al. National mortality burden due to communicable, non-communicable, and other diseases in Ethiopia, 1990–2015: findings from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. Population health metrics. 2017;15(1):29.

- 42. Kebede A, Alebachew Z, Tsegaye F, et al. The first population-based national tuberculosis prevalence survey in Ethiopia, 2010-2011. The IJTLD. 2014;18(6):635-9.
- 43. Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia Ministry of Health. Health and Health Related indicators Addis Ababa: Ministry of Health; 2015.
- 44. Fekadu L, Hanson C, Osberg M, Makayova J, Mingkwan P, Chin D. Increasing Access to Tuberculosis Services in Ethiopia: Findings From a Patient-Pathway Analysis. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2017;216(suppl_7):S696-S701.
- 45. Gele AA, Bjune G, Abebe F. Pastoralism and delay in diagnosis of TB in Ethiopia. BMC public health. 2009;9(1):5.
- 46. Alene KA, Viney K, McBryde ES, Clements AC. Spatial patterns of multidrug resistant tuberculosis and relationships to socio-economic, demographic and household factors in northwest Ethiopia. PloS one. 2017;12(2):e0171800.
- 47. Alene KA, Viney K, McBryde ES, Clements AC. Spatiotemporal transmission and socioclimatic factors related to paediatric tuberculosis in north-western Ethiopia. Geospatial health. 2017.
- 48. World Health Organization. Ethiopia Factsheet of Health Statistic 2018. Regional Office for Africa: World Health Organization; 2018.
- 49. Kebede A. Second Round National Anti Tuberculosis Drug Resistance Surveillance Ethiopia. African Society for Laboratory Medicine (ASLM) Conference; Capetown, South AfricaApril 2015.
- 50. Alene KA, Viney K, McBryde ES, Tsegaye AT, Clements AC. Treatment outcomes in patients with multidrug-resistant tuberculosis in north-west Ethiopia. Tropical Medicine & International Health. 2017;22(3):351-62.
- 51. Federal Ministry of Health of Ethiopia. Guideline for clinical and programmatic management of TB, leprosy and TB/HIV in Ethiopia. FMOH Addis Ababa, Ethiopia; 2015.
- 52. Federal Democratic Republic of Ethipia Ministry of Health. Tuberculosis, Leprosyand TB/HIV Prevention and Control Programme. Manual. 4 ed. Addis Ababa: Federal Ministry of Health; 2008.
- 53. Datiko DG, Yassin MA, Theobald SJ, et al. Health extension workers improve tuberculosis case finding and treatment outcome in Ethiopia: a large-scale implementation study. BMJ global health. 2017;2(4):e000390.

- 54. Wang H, Tesfaye R, NV Ramana G, Chekagn CT. Ethiopia health extension program: an institutionalized community approach for universal health coverage: The World Bank; 2016.
- Federal Democratic Republic of Ethipia Ministry of Health. Health Sector Transformation Plan (HSTP) 2015/16 - 2019/20. Addis Ababa, Ethiopia2015.
- 56. Daley CL, Small PM, Schecter GF, et al. An Outbreak of Tuberculosis with Accelerated Progression among Persons Infected with the Human Immunodeficiency Virus: An Analysis Using Restriction-Fragment—Length Polymorphisms. New England journal of medicine. 1992;326(4):231-5.
- 57. Havlir DV, Barnes PF. Tuberculosis in patients with human immunodeficiency virus infection. New England journal of medicine. 1999;340(5):367-73.
- Umla A, Malon P, Henderson J, Grange JM. Impact of HIV infection on tuberculosis. Postgraduate medical journal. 2000;76(895):259-68.
- 59. UNAIDS. Ending tuberculosis and AIDS: a joint response in the era of the Sustainable Development Goals - country submissions. In: Board UPC, editor. Geneva, Switzerland 2018.
- 60. Uplekar M, Weil D, Lonnroth K, et al. WHO's new end TB strategy. The Lancet. 2015;385(9979):1799-801.
- 61. World Health Organization. HIV-associated tuberculosis. factsheet2018.
- 62. Getahun H. Medical and social consequences of tuberculosis in rural Ethiopia. Ethiopian medical journal. 1999;37(3):147-53.
- 63. Getahun H, Aragaw D. Tuberculosis in rural northwest Ethiopia: community perspective. Ethiopian medical journal. 2001;39(4):283-91.
- 64. Couceiro L, Santana P, Nunes C. Pulmonary tuberculosis and risk factors in Portugal: a spatial analysis. The IJTLD. 2011;15(11):1445-55.
- 65. Kistemann T, Munzinger A, Dangendorf F. Spatial patterns of tuberculosis incidence in Cologne (Germany). Social science & medicine. 2002;55(1):7-19.
- 66. Chan-Yeung M, Yeh A, Tam C, et al. Socio-demographic and geographic indicators and distribution of tuberculosis in Hong Kong: a spatial analysis. The IJTLD. 2005;9(12):1320-6.
- 67. Kakchapati S, Choonpradub C, Lim A. Spatial and temporal variations in tuberculosis incidence, Nepal. Southeast Asian Journal of Tropical Medicine and Public Health. 2014;45(1):95.

- 68. Tipayamongkholgul M, Podang J, Siri S. Spatial analysis of social determinants for tuberculosis in Thailand. Journal of the Medical Association of Thailand Chotmaihet thangphaet. 2013;96:S116-21.
- 69. de Abreu ESM, Di Lorenzo Oliveira C, Teixeira Neto RG, Camargos PA. Spatial distribution of tuberculosis from 2002 to 2012 in a midsize city in Brazil. BMC Public Health. 2016;16:912.
- 70. Harling G, Castro MC. A spatial analysis of social and economic determinants of tuberculosis in Brazil. Health & place. 2014;25:56-67.
- 71. Tadesse S, Enqueselassie F, Gebreyesus SH. Estimating the spatial risk of tuberculosis distribution in Gurage zone, southern Ethiopia: a geostatistical kriging approach. BMC public health. 2018;18(1):783.
- 72. Shaweno D, Shaweno T, Trauer J, Denholm J, McBryde E. Heterogeneity of distribution of tuberculosis in Sheka Zone, Ethiopia: drivers and temporal trends. The IJTLD. 2017;21(1):79-85.
- 73. Xu X. Air pollution and its health effects in urban China. 1998.
- 74. Lin H-H, Ezzati M, Murray M. Tobacco smoke, indoor air pollution and tuberculosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS Med. 2007;4(1):e20.
- 75. Rajaei E, Hadadi M, Madadi M, et al. Outdoor air pollution affects tuberculosis development based on geographical information system modeling. Biomedical and Biotechnology Research Journal (BBRJ). 2018;2(1):39.
- 76. Lai T-C, Chiang C-Y, Wu C-F, et al. Ambient air pollution and risk of tuberculosis: a cohort study. Occup Environ Med. 2016;73(1):56-61.
- 77. Sumpter C, Chandramohan D. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the associations between indoor air pollution and tuberculosis. Tropical medicine & international health. 2013;18(1):101-8.
- 78. Wang H, Tian C, Wang W, Luo X. Temporal Cross-Correlations between Ambient Air Pollutants and Seasonality of Tuberculosis: A Time-Series Analysis. International journal of environmental research and public health. 2019;16(9):1585.
- Pridge N. Climate for tuberculosis. Journal of the American Medical Association. 1900;XXXV(16):993-4.
- 80. Howson CR. Climate in pulmonary tuberculosis. California and western medicine. 1924;22(10):496-500.

- 81. Miller JA. Climate in the Treatment of Pulmonary Tuberculosis. Transactions of the American Climatological and Clinical Association American Climatological and Clinical Association. 1928;44:7-38.
- 82. Brown WL. Climate in Treatment of Tuberculosis. Journal of the American Medical Association. 1905;XLIV(23):1867-8.
- Knopf SA. Climate in tuberculosis and the prevention of relapses. Journal of the American Medical Association. 1931;96(24):2023-7.
- Biello D. Deadly by the Dozen: 12 Diseases Climate Change May Worsen. Scientific American, October. 2008;8.
- 85. Wingfield T, Schumacher SG, Sandhu G, Tovar MA, Zevallos K, Baldwin MR, et al. The seasonality of tuberculosis, sunlight, vitamin D, and household crowding. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2014;210(5):774-83.
- 86. Bridge N. Climate for tuberculosis. Journal of the American Medical Association. 1900;35(16):993-4.
- 87. Naranbat N, Nymadawa P, Schopfer K, Rieder HL. Seasonality of tuberculosis in an Eastern-Asian country with an extreme continental climate. Eur Respir J. 2009;34(4):921-5.
- 88. Fares A. Seasonality of tuberculosis. J Glob Infect Dis. 2011;3(1):46-55.
- 89. Alene KA, Viney K, Gray DJ, McBryde ES, Wagnew M, Clements AC. Mapping tuberculosis treatment outcomes in Ethiopia. BMC infectious diseases. 2019;19(1):474.
- 90. Saito M, Pan WK, Gilman RH, et al. Comparison of altitude effect on Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection between rural and urban communities in Peru. The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene. 2006;75(1):49-54.
- 91. Fourie PB. The prevalence and annual rate of tuberculous infection in South Africa. Tubercle. 1983;64(3):181-92.
- 92. Victora CG, Huttly SR, Fuchs SC, Olinto M. The role of conceptual frameworks in epidemiological analysis: a hierarchical approach. International journal of epidemiology. 1997;26(1):224-7.
- 93. Hargreaves JR, Boccia D, Evans CA, Adato M, Petticrew M, Porter JD. The social determinants of tuberculosis: from evidence to action. American journal of public health. 2011;101(4):654-62.
- 94. World Health Organization. Implementing the end TB strategy: the essentials. World Health Organization; 2015. Report No.: 9241509937.

- 95. Baker MG, Venugopal K, Howden-Chapman P. Household crowding and tuberculosis. Environmental burden of disease associated with inadequate housing: a method guide to the quantification of health effects of selected housing risks in the WHO European Region. 2011:57-79.
- McBride D. From TB to AIDS: Epidemics among urban Blacks since 1900: SUNY Press; 1991.
- 97. Houben RM, Dodd PJ. The global burden of latent tuberculosis infection: a re-estimation using mathematical modelling. PLoS medicine. 2016;13(10):e1002152.
- Raviglione MC, Uplekar MW. WHO's new Stop TB Strategy. Lancet. 2006;367(9514):952-5.
- 99. Raviglione MC, Dye C, Schmidt S, Kochi A, Surveillance WG. Assessment of worldwide tuberculosis control. The Lancet. 1997;350(9078):624-9.
- 100. World Health Organization. An expanded DOTS framework for effective tuberculosis control. World Health Organization Geneva; 2002.
- Martinson NA, Hoffmann CJ, Chaisson RE. Epidemiology of Tuberculosis and HIV: Recent Advances in Understanding and Responses. Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society. 2011;8(3):288.
- 102. Woldeyohannes S, Abera S. Worldwide Spatial and Temporal Distribution of Tuberculosis (TB). J AIDS Clin Res. 2015;6(452):2.
- 103. Dangisso MH, Datiko DG, Lindtjorn B. Spatio-temporal analysis of smear-positive tuberculosis in the Sidama Zone, southern Ethiopia. PLoS One. 2015;10(6):e0126369.
- 104. Randremanana RV, Richard V, Rakotomanana F, Sabatier P, Bicout DJ. Bayesian mapping of pulmonary tuberculosis in Antananarivo, Madagascar. BMC Infect Dis. 2010;10:21.
- 105. Shaweno D, Shaweno T, Trauer JM, Denholm JT, McBryde ES. Heterogeneity of distribution of tuberculosis in Sheka Zone, Ethiopia: drivers and temporal trends. The IJTBD. 2017;21(1):79-85.
- 106. World Health Organization. Recommendations of the Interim Policy on Collaborative TB/HIV activities. Weekly Epidemiological Record= Relevé épidémiologique hebdomadaire. 2004;79(01-02):6-11.
- 107. Assefa Y, Gilks CF, Lynen L, et al. Performance of the Antiretroviral Treatment Program in Ethiopia, 2005-2015: strengths and weaknesses toward ending AIDS. International Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2017;60:70-6.

- Reves R, Angelo S. As Ethiopia moves toward tuberculosis elimination, success requires higher investment. Washington DC: Center for Strategic and International Studies. 2016.
- 109. Datiko DG, Yassin MA, Theobald SJ, et al. Health extension workers improve tuberculosis case finding and treatment outcome in Ethiopia: a large-scale implementation study. 2017;2(4):e000390.
- Cromley EK, McLafferty SL. GIS and Public Health. Second ed. New York The Guilford press. 2012
- 111. Tanser FC, Le Sueur D. The application of geographical information systems to important public health problems in Africa. International journal of health geographics. 2002;1(1):4.
- 112. Dangisso MH, Datiko DG, Lindtjørn B. Spatio-temporal analysis of smear-positive tuberculosis in the Sidama Zone, southern Ethiopia. PloS one. 2015;10(6):e0126369.
- Alene KA, Clements AC. Spatial Clustering of Notified Tuberculosis in Ethiopia: A Nationwide Study. Available at SSRN 3386282. 2019.
- 114. Ahmed Yassin M, Takele L, et al. HIV and tuberculosis coinfection in the southern region of Ethiopia: a prospective epidemiological study. J Scandinavian journal of infectious diseases. 2004;36(9):670-3.
- 115. Tesfaye B, Alebel A, Gebrie A, Zegeye A, Tesema C, Kassie B. The twin epidemics: Prevalence of TB/HIV co-infection and its associated factors in Ethiopia; A systematic review and meta-analysis. PloS one. 2018;13(10):e0203986.
- 116. Teweldemedhin M, Asres N, Gebreyesus H, Asgedom SW. Tuberculosis-Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) co-infection in Ethiopia: a systematic review and metaanalysis. BMC infectious diseases. 2018;18(1):676.
- 117. Wondimeneh Y, Muluye D, Belyhun Y. Prevalence of pulmonary tuberculosis and immunological profile of HIV co-infected patients in Northwest Ethiopia. BMC research notes. 2012;5(1):331.
- CSA-Ethiopia ICF. International: Ethiopia Demographic and Health Survey 2011.
 2012. Maryland, USA: Central Statistical Agency of Ethiopia and ICF International Addis Ababa, Ethiopia and Calverton.
- 119. World Bank. Population, total. Health: Population: Structure: World Bank Group; 2017.

- 120. Population Census Commission. The 2007 population and housing census of Ethiopia.2010.
- 121. Land Processes Distributed Active Archive Center (LP DAAC). Routine ASTER Global Digital Elevation Model 2018 [Available from: https://lpdaac.usgs.gov/.
- 122. OpenAFRICA. Ethiopia's Administrative Woredas: CKAN; January 29, 2016 [Available from: <u>https://africaopendata.org/dataset/ethiopia-</u> <u>shapefiles/resource/7c04c1b9-1e4b-407a-998f-61276fe721a3?inner_span=True</u>.
- 123. Lönnroth K, Jaramillo E, Williams BG, Dye C, Raviglione M. Drivers of tuberculosis epidemics: the role of risk factors and social determinants. Social science & medicine. 2009;68(12):2240-6.
- 124. Theron G, Jenkins HE, Cobelens F, et al. Data for action: collection and use of local data to end tuberculosis. The Lancet. 2015;386(10010):2324-33.
- 125. Teklegiorgis K, Tadesse K, Terefe W, Mirutse G. Level of data quality from Health Management Information Systems in a resources limited setting and its associated factors, eastern Ethiopia. South African Journal of Information Management. 2016;18(1):1-8.
- 126. Dangisso MH, Datiko DG, Lindtjørn B. Accessibility to tuberculosis control services and tuberculosis programme performance in southern Ethiopia. Global health action. 2015;8(1):29443.
- 127. Sasson C, Cudnik MT, Nassel A, et al. Identifying high-risk geographic areas for cardiac arrest using three methods for cluster analysis. Academic Emergency Medicine. 2012;19(2):139-46.
- 128. Ahmed A, Mekonnen D, Shiferaw AM, Belayneh F, Yenit MK. Incidence and determinants of tuberculosis infection among adult patients with HIV attending HIV care in north-east Ethiopia: a retrospective cohort study. BMJ open. 2018;8(2):e016961.
- 129. Yende-Zuma N, Naidoo K. The effect of timing of initiation of ART on loss to follow up in HIV-TB co infected patients in South Africa: An open label randomized controlled trial. Journal of acquired immune deficiency syndromes (1999). 2016;72(4):430.
- 130. United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS. UNAIDS data 2017. 2018.
- 131. Medecines Sans Frontires. How millions of people in west and central Africa are being left out of the global HIV response. 2016.
- 132. Gezie LD, Taye BW, Ayele TA. Time to unsafe sexual practice among cross-border female sex workers in Metemma Yohannes, North West Ethiopia. BMC public health. 2015;15(1):710.

- 133. Gurjav U, Burneebaatar B, Narmandakh E, Tumenbayar O, Ochirbat B, Hill-Cawthorne G, et al. Spatiotemporal evidence for cross-border spread of MDR-TB along the Trans-Siberian Railway line. The IJTLD. 2015;19(11):1376-82.
- 134. Alemayehu M, Wubshet M, Mesfin N, Gebayehu A. Prevalence of Human Immunodeficiency Virus and associated factors among Visceral Leishmaniasis infected patients in Northwest Ethiopia: a facility based cross-sectional study. BMC infectious diseases. 2017;17(1):152.
- 135. Deribew A. Distribution of Most-at-risk Population Groups and their perceptions towards HIV/AIDS: A Baseline Survey in Amhara Region for the Implementation of Mobile HIV Counselling and Testing. Bethesda, MD: Private Sector Program-Ethiopia, Abt Associates Inc. 2009.
- 136. Belani H, Chorba T, Fletcher F, et al. Integrated prevention services for HIV infection, viral hepatitis, sexually transmitted diseases, and tuberculosis for persons who use drugs illicitly: summary guidance from CDC and the US Department of Health and Human Services. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report: Recommendations and Reports. 2012;61(5):1-43.
- 137. Gushulak BD, MacPherson DW. The basic principles of migration health: population mobility and gaps in disease prevalence. Emerging themes in epidemiology. 2006;3(1):3.
- 138. Cain KP, Marano N, Kamene M, et al. The movement of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis across borders in East Africa needs a regional and global solution. PLoS medicine. 2015;12(2):e1001791.
- Figueroa-Munoz JI, Ramon-Pardo P. Tuberculosis control in vulnerable groups. Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 2008;86:733-5.
- 140. Hammett TM, Kling R, Johnston P, et al. Patterns of HIV prevalence and HIV risk behaviors among injection drug users prior to and 24 months following implementation of cross-border HIV prevention interventions in northern Vietnam and southern China. AIDS Education & Prevention. 2006;18(2):97-115.
- 141. Adepoju A. Migration in West Africa. Development. 2003;46(3):37-41.
- 142. Asfaw W, Tolossa D, Zeleke G. Causes and impacts of seasonal migration on rural livelihoods: Case studies from Amhara Region in Ethiopia. Norsk Geografisk Tidsskrift– Norwegian Journal of Geography. 2010;64(1):58-70.
- 143. Kjellstrom T, Friel S, Mercado S, Havemann K, Sattherthwaite D. Our cities our health our future. Acting on social determinants for health equity in urban settings. Report to the

WHO Commission on Social Determinants of Health from the Knowledge Network on Urban Settings. 2008.

- 144. Lönnroth K, Castro KG, Chakaya JM, et al. Tuberculosis control and elimination 2010– 50: cure, care, and social development. The lancet. 2010;375(9728):1814-29.
- 145. Pelissari DM, Diaz-Quijano FA. Household crowding as a potential mediator of socioeconomic determinants of tuberculosis incidence in Brazil. PLoS One. 2017;12(4):e0176116.
- 146. Marais B, Hesseling A, Cotton M. Poverty and tuberculosis: is it truly a simple inverse linear correlation? European Respiratory Journal. 2009;33(4):943-4.
- Kempner W. Oxygen tension and the tubercle bacillus. American Review of Tuberculosis. 1939;40(2):157-68.
- 148. Rich AR, Follis Jr RH. The effect of low oxygen tension upon the development of experimental tuberculosis. Bull Johns Hopkins Hosp. 1942;71:345-63.
- Rogers FB. The rise and decline of the altitude therapy of tuberculosis. Bulletin of the History of Medicine. 1969;43(1):1-16.
- 150. Amrein O. The high altitude treatment of pulmonary tuberculosis. British medical journal. 1929;2(3599):1188.
- 151. Murray JF. Tuberculosis and high altitude. Worth a try in extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis? American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2014;189(4):390-3.
- 152. Escombe AR, Moore DA, Gilman RH, et al. Upper-room ultraviolet light and negative air ionization to prevent tuberculosis transmission. PLoS medicine. 2009;6(3):e1000043.
- 153. Boere TM, Visser DH, Van Furth AM, Lips P, Cobelens FG. Solar ultraviolet B exposure and global variation in tuberculosis incidence: an ecological analysis. European Respiratory Journal. 2017;49(6):1601979.
- 154. Sun W, Gong J, Zhou J, et al. A spatial, social and environmental study of tuberculosis in China using statistical and GIS technology. J International journal of environmental research and public health. 2015;12(2):1425-48.

APPENDICES

Appendix A: Supplementary information for Chapter 4

Supplementary information 1: Search strategy on systematic review of impact of climatic and altitude variability and TB Transmission

PubMed search (n=956)

- 1. "Tuberculosis"
- 2. "Altitude"
- 3. "Temperature"

Search strings (all inclusive)

"(1) AND (2)" OR "(1) AND (3)" OR "(1) AND (4)" OR "(1) AND (5)" OR "(1) AND (6)"

EMBASE (n= 2866)

- 1. Tuberculosis, as major focus
- 2. "Altitude"
- 3. "Temperature"

Scopus (n= 1344)

- 1. "Tuberculosis"
- 2. "Altitude"
- 3. "Temperature"

Search strings (all inclusive)

- 1. 1 AND 2
- 2. 1 AND 3
- 3. 1 OR 2

Supplementary information 2: Newcastle-Ottawa Scale adapted for cross-sectional studies/registry data source

Selection: (Maximum 6 stars)

1) Representativeness of the sample:

a) Truly representative of the average in the target population. * (all subjects or random sampling)

b) Somewhat representative of the average in the target population. * (non-random sampling)

c) Selected group of enrolled/registered patients.

d) No description of the sampling strategy.

2) Sample size:

a) Justified and reported. *

b) Not reported.

3) Data source

a) The data was obtained from valid TB registry book/ and the study period of the study was clearly defined *

b) The data was obtained from valid TB registry book and the study period of the study was not clearly defined *

c) No description of the data source and study period

4) Ascertainment of the exposure (risk factor):

a) Climatic and altitude measurement were obtained from valid data source. **

b) Unit of measurement is available or described. *

c) No description of the measurement tool.

Comparability: (Maximum 2 stars)

1) The subjects in different outcome groups are comparable, based on the study design or analysis. Confounding factors are controlled.

a) The study control for confounder factor. *

b) The study considers latent variable. *

Outcome: (Maximum 3 stars)

1) Assessment of the outcome:

a) Assessment of the outcome was described clinical factors in combination with diagnostic test.

b) Assessment of the outcome was described by clinical factors/symptoms **

c) Record linkage. **

d) No description.

2) Statistical test:

a) The statistical test used to analyze the data is clearly described and appropriate, and the measurement of the association is presented, including confidence intervals and the probability level (p value). *

b) The statistical test is not appropriate, not described or incomplete.

This scale has been adapted from the Newcastle-Ottawa Quality Assessment Scale for observational studies to perform a quality assessment of cross-sectional studies for the systematic review, "Effect of Temperature and Altitude Difference on Tuberculosis Notification"

Because of most studies consider latent variables, we have selected as a confounder variable for comparability. Thus, there is no principal factor for each study.

In our scale, we have adopted the outcome assessment elements based on the acceptable measure of TB. Self-reported outcomes and independent blind assessment is excluded, because infection of TB didn't report without clinical or tuberculin skin test/acid-fast bacilli/culture/radiological/histological diagnosis. Two stars are given to the studies that assess the outcome with clinical symptoms, because clinicians could diagnose by considering previous history and family history of TB in the absence of diagnostic methods.

Supplementary information 3: Quality assessment of the impact of climate and altitude variability on TB transmission using Newcastle Ottawa for cross sectional studies.

Studies [REF]	Selection Comparability		Outcome
	(Max 6 star)	(Max 2 star)	(max 3 star)
Onozuka D et al.	* * * *	* *	* *
Tanrokulu AC et al.	* * *		•
Cao K et al.	* * *		•
Yanagawa H et al.	* *	* *	* *
Rao H-X et al.	* * * *	* *	* *
Vargas MH et al.	**	* *	* * *
Mansoer J et al.	* *	* *	* * *
Sun W et al.	* *	* *	•
Li X-X et al.	* * * *	•	•

Appendix B: Supplementary information for Chapter 5

Supplementary information I: Search strategy

Title: HIV Prevalence among Tuberculosis Patients in sub-Saharan Africa: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis

PICO concept:

Patient/Problem: Presumptive and diagnosed Tuberculosis patients in Sub-Saharan Africa Intervention/Exposure: Tuberculosis

Comparison? Time frame i.e. before 2000, 2000 to 2010 and after 2010

Outcome: HIV prevalence in tuberculosis patient

Main concepts and alternative terms from the research question that we used to search:

Morbidity	HIV/TB OR TB/HIV	Co-infection	Sub-Saharan Africa
Prevalence	Human Immunodeficiency Virus, HIV	Co-infection	Sub-Saharan Africa
	AIDS, "Acquired Immunodeficiency	Coinfection	Subsaharan Africa
	Syndrome"	Mixed	Africa, Sub-Saharan
	Tuberculosis, TB	infection	Africa south of the
	HIV-TB		Sahara
	HIV and TB		Africa, Central
	HIV/TB		Africa, Southern
			Africa, Eastern
			Africa, Southern
			Africa, Western

Search terms

PubMed

(((((("Prevalence"[Mesh])) AND (((((((TB HIV) OR (HIV and TB)) OR (TB and HIV)) OR TB-HIV) OR HIV-TB) OR HIV/TB) OR TB/HIV)) OR (((("Tuberculosis"[Mesh]) OR TB)) AND (((("HIV"[Mesh]) OR "Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome"[Mesh])) OR (((AIDS) OR Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome) OR Human Immunodeficiency Virus))))) AND (("Africa South of the Sahara"[Mesh]) OR (Cameroon OR "Central African Republic" OR Chad OR Congo OR "Democratic Republic of the Congo" OR "Equatorial Guinea" OR Gabon OR Burundi OR Djibouti OR Eritrea OR Ethiopia OR Kenya OR Rwanda OR Somalia OR "South Sudan" OR Sudan OR Tanzania OR Uganda OR Angola OR Botswana OR Lesotho OR Malawi OR Mozambique OR Namibia OR "South Africa" OR Swaziland OR Zambia OR Zimbabwe OR Benin OR "Burkina Faso" OR "Cape Verde" OR "Cote d'Ivoire" OR Gambia OR Ghana OR Guinea OR "Guinea-Bissau" OR Liberia OR Mali OR Mauritania OR Niger OR Nigeria OR Senegal OR "Sierra Leone" OR Togo)))))

EMBASE

('prevalence'/exp OR prevalence) AND (('tuberculosis'/exp OR 'tuberculosis' OR 'tb'/exp OR 'tb') AND ('human immunodeficiency virus infection'/exp OR 'human immunodeficiency virus infection' OR 'human immunodeficiency virus'/exp OR 'human immunodeficiency virus' OR 'aids'/exp OR 'aids' OR 'acquired immunodeficiency syndrome'/exp OR 'acquired immunodeficiency syndrome') OR 'tb/hiv' OR 'hiv/tb' OR 'tb and hiv' OR 'hiv tb' OR 'tb-hiv' OR 'hiv-tb') AND ('mixed infection'/exp OR 'mixed infection') AND ('africa south of the sahara'/exp OR 'africa south of the sahara' OR 'cameroon'/exp OR cameroon OR 'central african republic'/exp OR 'central african republic' OR 'chad'/exp OR chad OR 'congo'/exp OR congo OR 'democratic republic of the congo'/exp OR 'democratic republic of the congo' OR 'equatorial guinea'/exp OR 'equatorial guinea' OR 'gabon'/exp OR gabon OR 'burundi'/exp OR burundi OR 'djibouti'/exp OR djibouti OR 'eritrea'/exp OR eritrea OR 'ethiopia'/exp OR ethiopia OR 'kenya'/exp OR kenya OR 'rwanda'/exp OR rwanda OR 'somalia'/exp OR somalia OR 'south sudan'/exp OR 'south sudan' OR 'sudan'/exp OR sudan OR 'tanzania'/exp OR tanzania OR 'uganda'/exp OR uganda OR 'angola'/exp OR angola OR 'botswana'/exp OR botswana OR 'lesotho'/exp OR lesotho OR 'malawi'/exp OR malawi OR 'mozambique'/exp OR mozambique OR 'namibia'/exp OR namibia OR 'south africa'/exp OR 'south africa' OR 'swaziland'/exp OR swaziland OR 'zambia'/exp OR zambia OR 'zimbabwe'/exp OR zimbabwe

OR 'benin'/exp OR benin OR 'burkina faso'/exp OR 'burkina faso' OR 'cape verde'/exp OR 'cape verde' OR 'cote d`ivoire'/exp OR 'cote d`ivoire' OR 'gambia'/exp OR gambia)

Web of Science

((prevalence) AND (((HIV OR Human Immunodeficiency Virus OR AIDS OR Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome) AND (tuberculosis OR TB)) OR ((TB?HIV OR HIV?TB OR TB and HIV))) AND ((Co?infection) OR (coinfection)) AND (("Africa South of the Sahara") OR (Cameroon OR "Central African Republic" OR Chad OR Congo OR "Democratic Republic of the Congo" OR "Equatorial Guinea" OR Gabon OR Burundi OR Djibouti OR Eritrea OR Ethiopia OR Kenya OR Rwanda OR Somalia OR "South Sudan" OR Sudan OR Tanzania OR Uganda OR Angola OR Botswana OR Lesotho OR Malawi OR Mozambique OR Namibia OR "South Africa" OR Swaziland OR Zambia OR Zimbabwe OR Benin OR "Burkina Faso" OR "Cape Verde" OR "Cote d'Ivoire" OR Gambia OR Ghana OR Guinea OR "Guinea-Bissau" OR Liberia OR Mali OR Mauritania OR Niger OR Nigeria OR Senegal OR "Sierra Leone" OR Togo)))

CINAHL

"Prevalence AND human immunodeficiency virus OR hiv/aids AND tuberculosis OR th AND co-infection AND (sub-Saharan africa or sub Saharan africa) OR Cameroon OR Central African Republic OR Chad OR Congo OR Democratic Republic of the Congo OR Equatorial Guinea OR Gabon OR Burundi OR Djibouti OR Eritrea OR Ethiopia OR Kenya OR Rwanda OR Somalia OR South Sudan OR Sudan OR Tanzania OR Uganda OR Angola OR Botswana OR Lesotho OR Malawi OR Mozambique OR Namibia OR South Africa OR Swaziland OR Zambia OR Zimbabwe OR Benin OR Burkina Faso OR Cape Verde OR Cote d'Ivoire OR Gambia OR Ghana OR Guinea OR Guinea-Bissau OR Liberia OR Mali OR Mauritania OR Niger OR Nigeria OR Senegal OR Sierra Leone OR Togo. **Supplementary table I:** Newcastle-Ottawa Scale adapted for cross-sectional studies/registry data source

Nev	wcastle-Ottawa Scale adapted for cross-sectional studies/registry data source
Sel	ection:
Rep	presentativeness of the sample
1	The sampling procedures of tuberculosis patients tested for HIV was included.1
2	Clear descriptions of the number of tuberculosis patients tested for HIV was included
	(e.g. for registry data source).1
3	Selected group of enrolled/registered patients only. 0
4	No description of the sampling strategy. 0
Asc	certainment of exposure (tuberculosis diagnosis)
5	Definitive diagnosis/assessment tools (e.g. bacteriological or clinical) was included and
	described. 1
6	No definitive diagnosis/assessment tools included. 0
7	Not described. 0
Sar	nple size (max 1 star)
8	Justified and reported. 1
9	Not reported. 0
Co	mparability
Not	assessed
Ou	tcome
Ass	sessment of the outcome (HIV testing)
10	Description on the objective measurement tools included (e.g. antibody test). 2
11	Record linkage e.g. to registry. 1
12	No description. 0
Sta	tistical test
13	The prevalence is presented or calculated from the data, including confidence intervals.1

	Selection			Outcome			
Author, year	Representativeness	Ascertainment	Sample size	HIV testing	Statistical test	Total score (max7)	Overall quality
Eastern, sub-Saharan Africa							
Hailu et al, 1990	1	1	1	2	1	6	high
Migliori et al, 1992	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Nunn et al, 1993	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Van den Broek et al, 1993	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Van Cleeff et al, 1995	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Chum et al, 1996	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Demisse et al, 2000	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Range et la, 2001	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Bruchfeld et al, 2002	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Yassin et al, 2004	1	1	1	2	1	6	high
Van der Werf et al, 2007	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Kassu et al, 2007	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Range et la, 2007	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Datiko et al, 2008	1	1	1	0	1	4	low
Odhiambo et al, 2008	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Chakaya et al, 2008	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Ayenew et al, 2010	1	1	1	2	1	6	high
Ligidi et al, 2011	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Van't Hoog et al, 2011	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Kamenju et al, 2011	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Nyamogoba et al, 2012	1	1	1	2	1	6	high
Teklu et al, 2013	1	1	1	0	1	4	low
Yadeta et al, 2013	1	1	1	0	1	4	low
kebede et al, 2014	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Keflie et al, 2014	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Mihret et al, 2014	1	1	1	1	1	5	high

Supplementary table II: Methodological quality assessment for cross sectional studies

Denegetu et al, 2014	1	1	1	0	1	4	low
Kishimba et al, 2014	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Belay et al, 2015	0	1	1	1	1	4	low
Gebrecherkos et al, 2016	0	1	1	1	1	4	low
Tarekegne et al, 2016	1	1	1	2	1	6	high
Gellete et al, 2017	1	1	1	2	1	6	high
Southern, sub-Saharan Africa							
Pozniak et al, 1992	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Chintu et al, 1993	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Luo et al, 1994	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Houston et al, 1994	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Colvin et al, 1998	1	0	1	0	1	3	low
Karstaedt et al, 1998	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Churchyard et al, 1999	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Madhi et al, 2000	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Kiwanuka et al, 2001	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Mwinga A, 2008	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Valadas et al, 2013	1	1	1	2	1	6	high
Chanda-Kapata et al, 2017	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Western, sub-Saharan Africa							
De Cock et al, 1991	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Sassan-Morokro et al, 1994	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Richards et al, 1995	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Malkin et al, 1997	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Onipede et al, 1999	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Moses et al, 2003	0	0	1	1	1	3	low
Daniel et al, 2004	1	0	1	0	1	3	low
Ige et al, 2005	1	1	1	0	1	4	low
Daniel et al, 2005	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Adjei et al, 2006	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Odaibo et al, 2006	1	1	1	1	1	5	high

Salami et al, 2006	1	1	1	0	1	4	low
Daniel et al, 2007	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Dagnra et al, 2009	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Erhabor et al, 2010	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Pennap et al, 2010	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Gomerep et al, 2015	0	0	1	0	1	2	low
Ojiezeh et al, 2015	1	1	1	0	1	4	low
Ranti et al, 2016	1	1	1	0	1	4	low
Osei et al, 2017	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Chinedu et al, 2017	1	1	1	2	1	6	high
Central, sub-Saharan Africa							
Sume et al, 2008	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Namme et al, 2013	1	1	1	1	1	5	high
Linguissi et al, 2014	1	1	1	2	1	6	high

Overall Quality	studies	Estimate HIV prevalence (95% CI)	Univariate meta-regression Prevalence ratio (95% CI)	P, R^2 (%)
High	54	34.02 (29.73, 38.60)	1	
Low	14	24.15 (16.43, 34.00)	-0.48 (-0.94, -0.02)	0.042, 5

Supplementary table III: Influence of the study quality on HIV prevalence

Appendix C: Supplementary material for Chapter 6

Supplementary Information I: higher – order spatial lags and Moran's I of TB notification in Amhara region, Ethiopia, 2014 - 2017

lags	1	2	3	4	5
Moran's I	0.313	0.071	0.015	0.007	-0.008

The higher – order spatial lag analysis illustrates that spatial autocorrelation was negative for higher order adjacencies. So, neighbouring or nearly-neighbouring districts (spatial lag of one had similar TB notification rates, whereas districts far away from the one of interest tend to have disparate notification rates.

Supplementary Information II

Districts categorised in two categories hotspot: 'Yes' and 'No' based on the Anselin Local Moran's I statistic. Five of 128 were hotspot.

Classification and Regression Tree (CART) was demonstrated to identify which socio-demographic factors are the most important in relationship to TB clustering using *rpart* packages of R.

Classification tree:

tree (formula = hotspot ~., data = da, method = "class")

Variables used in tree construction:

[1] "Immigrant5yr"

Number of terminal nodes: 2

Residual mean deviance: 0.08401 = 10.59 / 126

Misclassification error rate: 0.02344 = 3 / 128



Here, CART revels the most important factor associated with hotspot TB clustering is only proportion of mmigration. The districts without proportion of mmigrants had a 6% average hotspot TB clustering. The summary of the model shows a deviance of 0.084, or a root mean square of 0.29

(29%), suggesting that the nodes identified explain a good deal of the variation in TB hotspot clustering.

Appendix D: Supplementary material for Chapter 7

```
Supplementary information
#Unstructured and structured model
model {
for (i in 1:128) {
       r[i] \sim dbin(p[i],n[i])
   logit(p[i]) <- alpha + beta1*year2[i] + beta2*year3[i] + beta3*male[i] + beta4*Sch[i] +
beta5*Unemp[i] + beta6*Migra[i] + beta7*Hfco[i]+ u[Loc[i]] + v[Loc[i]]
             }
  for (i in 1: 128) {
  u[i]~ dnorm(0.0, tau.u)
   }
      #Priors
      v[1:128] ~ car.normal(adj[], weights[], num[], tau.v);
      for (j in 1:658) {
      weights[j] <- 1
      }
                     alpha ~ dflat()
              beta1 \sim dnorm(0, 0.000001)
                    beta2 \sim dnorm(0,0.000001)
                    beta3 \sim dnorm(0, 0.000001)
                    beta4 ~dnorm(0,0.000001)
                    beta5 ~dnorm(0.0.000001)
                    beta6 \sim dnorm(0, 0.000001)
                    beta7 ~dnorm(0,0.000001)
                 tau.v \sim dgamma(0.001, 0.001)
                 tau.u ~ dgamma(0.001, 0.001)
                    #OR
                    OR1 <- exp(beta1)
                    OR2 <- exp(beta2)
                    OR3 <- exp(beta3)
                    OR4 <-exp(beta4)
                    OR5 <-exp(beta5)
                    OR6 <- exp(beta6)
                    OR7 < -exp(beta7)
                    sigma.v <- sqrt(1/tau.v)
                           }
#Initial values
list( alpha = 0, beta1 = 0, beta2 = 0, beta3 = 0, beta4=0, beta5=0, beta6=0, beta7=0, tau.v
= 0.5, tau.u=0.5)
```



Appendix E: Supplementary material for Chapter 8

Supplementary information I: Active TB notification among HIV-positive people in Sentinel survey sites in Ethiopia between 2010 and 2015


Supplementary information II: HIV infection among all TB patients in Sentinel survey sites in Ethiopia between 2010 and 2015



Supplementary information III: HIV infection among new TB patients in Sentinel survey sites in Ethiopia between 2010 and 2015



Supplementary information IV: Proportion of HIV positives among all TB patients by region in Ethiopia, 2010 – 2015



Supplementary information V: Proportion of active TB among HIV positives by region in Ethiopia, 2010 - 2015